Social and behavioural questions associated with Automated Vehicles A Literature Review

Clemence Cavoli, Brian Phillips, Tom Cohen, Peter Jones

UCL TRANSPORT

January 2017

Table of Contents

I.	Introduction & Methods			
Π.	II. Results of the databases search			
III.	S	ummary of findings from literature review12		
a. Technological and market developments1				
	1.	Technological and market developments12		
	2.	Data and Security14		
	3.	Cost of Travel15		
	4.	Insurance16		
ii. Use of AVs		of AVs		
	1.	Ownership and Modal Share17		
	2.	Freight		
	3.	Driver's interaction with AVs		
	4.	AVs' interaction with other road users		
	5.	Market Uptake		
iii.	Con	Consequences/Wider impacts		
	1.	Traffic Flow		
	2.	Economy and Employment28		
	3.	Land Use		

	4.	Ethics	
	5.	Energy and Environment	
	6.	Road safety	
	7.	Physical Activity	
	8.	Accessibility and Equity	
iv.	Stak	eholders' awareness & attitudes	
v.	. Public Sector's Role		
IV.	С	onclusion and Recommendations 44	
Ann	ex A -	- Methods	
Annex B – Definition of Terms			
Annex C – In-depth literature review			
i.	Tech	nological and market developments55	
ii.	Use	of AVs	
iii.	Cons	sequences/Wider impacts	
iv.	Stak	eholders' awareness & attitudes	
v.	Publ	ic Sector's Role101	
Annex D – List Codes			
Annex E- References			
Annex F - Glossary			

Preferred Citation; Cavoli, C. et al., 2017. *Social and behavioural questions associated with Automated Vehicles. A Literature Review*, London: Department for Transport.

I. Introduction & Methods

This literature review is part of a wider scoping study commissioned by the UK Department for Transport that aims "to identify the key social and behavioural questions associated with AVs". This literature review has informed the formulation of the research questions and recommendations which can be found in the main report. This review summarises the various themes and topics that have been addressed or discussed in the academic and in the grey literature relating to the behavioural, social and societal aspects of automated vehicles (AVs). The study also highlights the gaps in the literature linked to these topics.

In order to identify written material potentially relevant to the topic of the study, a range of academic and non-academic databases has been surveyed, yielding over 50 000 results. This initial search was then narrowed down to identify material directly relevant to the topic and a total of 432 documents were finally selected for examination. These documents included a range of academic and grey literature (e.g. consultancy or think tank reports). All 432 items were analysed and screened on title and abstract and coded based on thematic codes; in total, circa 100 thematic codes were created. Following this, an in-depth analysis of the most relevant and thorough documents, over 60, was undertaken. The results of the initial screening and the in-depth analysis were then cross-referenced to produce a literature review based on key themes. A detailed explanation of the methods used in the context of this investigation can be found in <u>Annex A</u>.

It is important to note that the abbreviation AV(s) is used in a comprehensive and inclusive way in this literature review. It covers the full range of automation (e.g. full or partial) and encompasses both vehicles that are "automated" (i.e. operate independently of other vehicles) and those that are "controlled" (i.e. follow instructions set outside the vehicle, be that by a second vehicle or central system). This general term has been deliberately chosen to reflect the lack of precision found in the literature. Detailed definitions of the terms used in this report can be found in the main report and in <u>Annex B</u> of this report. The term "connected and automated vehicle" (CAV) refers specifically to AVs that are connected to each other (Vehicle to Vehicle) or to their environment (Vehicle to Infrastructure).

First, this report summarises the results of the database search, identifying recurrent topics and gaps in the literature. Second, a summary of the in-depth literature review is presented. This summary is divided into 18 key thematic categories based on the following diagram (Figure 1 below), further explained in the main report. The summary of the literature review in Part III corresponds to the full literature review which can be found in <u>Annex C</u>.



Figure 1 Conceptual Framework

II. Results of the databases search

The aim of the database search was to survey a range of databases - academic and non-academic - in order to find relevant written material related to behavioural, social and societal aspects of AVs. In total, five of the most relevant bibliographic databases were searched. In addition, relevant grey literature material was found in a range of non-academic databases and existing bibliographies. Selected keywords and their synonyms were used to undertake the search. The methods are described in detail in <u>Annex A</u>. Here the key findings of the database search are summarised.

Bibliographic Database: Initial Search Results

In total, the database searches using all keywords and synonyms related to AVs yielded 50,200 results. These search results were dominated by technical literature, as shown in Figure 2 below, the majority of the literature comprised engineering, computer science, and

mathematics documents, as categorised by the databases. An aggregation of the material found on Scopus (one of the most comprehensive databases) indicates that social science references linked to AVs represent less than 6% of the total¹. This clearly suggests that most AV related research, primarily academic, has focused on technical and technological aspects of AVs and not on the associated social, behavioural and societal issues. The pace at which AV technology is developing underscores the urgency of the need to better understand the social and behavioural implications of this tool.



Figure 2 Scopus Database search results by field of study

As would be expected, given that AVs were first tested in the 1990s, the search results are dominated by documents from the last 10-15 years. Figure 3 below shows the years of publication for the search results, indicating an upward trend, continuing to present year. A large number of earlier documents, particularly those making up the bump in the mid- to late-90s referred to driverless trains, and were screened out in subsequent stages of the literature review.

¹ Note that this figure has over 100% results as each bibliographic reference can be categorised in more than one category (e.g. a reference addressing social science issues linked to AVs can also appear in engineering if it covers this topic)



Figure 3 Scopus Database search results by year of publication

The two graphs below (figure 4 and 5) illustrate the country of origin of the documents in the search. The first shows unfiltered results, while the second shows only the search results for the social science discipline. While the USA dominates in both cases, in particular amongst the academic literature, the graphs show that the UK is one of the leaders in the production of social science knowledge relevant to AVs. However, as indicated in the second graph (figure 5), the number of references produced by UK authors in the field of social science, totals just above 40, which remains limited given the significance of the topic. Finally, these graphs need to be interpreted with caution as they may not represent a global sample, but rather focus on references written in English.



Figure 4 Scopus Database search results by country of publication



Figure 5 Scopus Database search results for social science, by country of publication

As described in the methods section (see <u>Annex A</u>), these results were narrowed down by excluding irrelevant subjects leaving 2296 results. These documents, combined with the items discovered informally, were screened for relevance and narrowed down to produce a body of literature of 432 documents. Table 1 below indicates the types of documents in the body of literature. Academic sources represent the majority of the documents examined. Given that the most relevant academic databases were thoroughly surveyed, the number of academic sources identified in the context of this study is likely to be representative of the total number of existing academic sources written in English.

Academic Sources Included:		Grey Literature Sources Included	
125	peer reviewed articles	20	Official Reports
7	academic books	40	Consultant/Industry Reports
	Other (reports, presentations,		
116	conference papers)	42	Serious Broadsheet or Magazine
248	All Academic Literature	5	Light Tabloids or Magazine
		5	Marketing Material
		9	Visual Presentation
		63	Other
		181	All Grey Literature

Table 1 No. of academic and grey literature sources, by type

Topic Coding

As further described in the detailed methods section (<u>Annex A</u>), a list of 44 relevant thematic codes were defined (see <u>Annex D</u> for list of codes) in order to code the 432 references selected. Each reference was then screened on title and abstract, and over a hundred references were screened based on further reading, including over 60 references which were read in-depth. If one of the 44 thematic codes was discussed, either briefly or in-depth, by a reference, it was recorded and the relevant code was assigned. The histogram below (figure 6) shows the frequency of the relevant topic codes for both the grey and academic literature.



Figure 6 Frequency of topic codes in grey and academic literature

Findings indicate that road safety, legal/regulatory issues, public perception, drivers' interaction with AVs and ownership models were amongst the most commonly discussed topics (as illustrated in Table 2 and Figure 7 below). Road safety is one of the main sellingpoint/argument in favour of the introduction of AVs, hence the fact that most references address this point. Legal and regulatory issues are a frequent object of debate, especially over the last five years as it has a significant influence on the development and adoption of the technology. Public perception is addressed by both academic studies and the grey literature as it can also have a significant impact on the development and adoption of the technology. Drivers' interaction with AVs is a topic frequently examined by the literature and there is a relatively large body of academic work focusing on this topic (see Table 2 below), in particular drivers' reengagement with the vehicle in cases of emergency. Furthermore, the different ownership models that are likely to emerge in parallel with the development of AVs are frequently discussed, in particular in the grey literature. This is likely to influence the different roll-out scenarios linked to AVs use and adoption. Each of the topics in Figure 6 above are grouped and summarised in the literature review (in section 'Summary of findings from literature review' and in Annex C).

Topics More Frequently Discussed in Grey Literature	Topics More Frequently Discussed in Academic Literature
Road Safety	Driver's Interaction with AV
Legal & Regulatory Issues	Road Safety
Ownership Models	Public Perception
Public Perception	Legal & Regulatory Issues
Pathway to automation	Network capacity

Table 2 Topics most frequently discussed in the academic and the grey literature



Figure 7 Most and least frequently mentioned topics linked to AVs (Combining both academic and grey literature)

However, a range of topics appear to be understudied in the literature. For instance, **health/well-being and physical activity linked to AVs was one of the least discussed topics, along with accessibility and personal security** (see <u>Annex D</u> for description of each code). The results of the coding clearly suggest that a range of social, behavioural and societal issues linked to AVs are under-researched.

Finally, it should be noted that while there were more academic documents in the body of literature, there were more total coding instances for grey literature, indicating that the grey literature documents tended to be more comprehensive and cover a wide range of topics. Conversely, many academic articles focused narrowly on one or a small number of topics.

III. Summary of findings from literature review

As mentioned in the previous section, findings of the screening, coding and in-depth review suggest that overall the social, behavioural and societal aspects of AVs are under-researched. This lack of research may be explained by the fact that AVs are still mostly in the conceptual development phase and pilot projects are limited. The grey literature has been more prolific in discussing AVs, but tends to lack evidence, rigour and in some cases impartiality.

In this section the in-depth review of a range of topics found in the grey and in the academic literature is summarised (further information regarding the methods can be found in <u>Annex A</u>). It follows five main thematic categories, as referred to in Figure 1 above, including:

- 1. Technological and market developments
- 2. Use of AVs
- **3.** Consequences/Wider impacts
- 4. Stakeholders' awareness and attitudes
- 5. Public Sector's role

Each of these categories contains sub-themes. The extended version of the literature review can be found in <u>Annex C</u>. Each theme summarised in this section is connected via hyperlink to the detailed literature review for ease of reading.

a. Technological and market developments

1. Technological and infrastructure developments

Introduction

In this section we describe what has been written in the literature (grey and academic) regarding technological and market developments of AVs as it will affect the adoption and the roll-out of AVs and ultimately wider social, behavioural and societal issues. This section also addresses infrastructure development issues linked to AVs (Detailed literature review is available in Annex C).

Potential pathways to automation observed in the literature:

- The 'evolutionary' pathway entails equipping cars with increasing levels of automated capability. This pathway is viewed as a four or five step process, with increasing automation and decreasing human involvement (Table 3 below)
- The '**revolutionary**' approach involves developing a fully automated vehicle immediately, without the intermediate steps

SAE Level	Name
0	No automation the full-time performance by the human driver of all aspects of the dynamic driving task, even when enhanced by warning or intervention systems
1	Driver assistance the driving mode-specific execution by a driver assistance system of either steering or acceleration/deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the human driver performs all remaining aspects of the dynamic driving task.
2	Partial automation the driving mode-specific execution by one or more driver assistance systems of both steering and acceleration/deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the human driver performs all remaining aspects of the dynamic driving task
3	Conditional automation the driving mode-specific performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task with the expectation that the human driver will respond appropriately to a request to intervene
4	High automation the driving mode-specific performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task, even if a human driver does not respond appropriately to a request to intervene
5	Full automation the full-time performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task under all roadway and environmental conditions that can be managed by a human driver

• A 'hybrid' model of both pathways happening in parallel

Table 3 SAE Standard - Adapted from OECD, 2015

AV infrastructure development

• The development of AVs will impact infrastructure: while it may reduce the need for certain types of infrastructure, it may also demand more technologically enhanced infrastructure to support Vehicle-to-Infrastructure (V2I) communication

Further research

Further research is needed to understand what infrastructure is required to support different type of AVs and roll-out scenarios (e.g. connected or non-connected AVs, urban or rural set up, type of vehicle, segregated lanes, etc.) Do AVs require large scale infrastructure to function safely and effectively and what are public attitudes/acceptability towards this?

Further investigation is also needed to understand the potential costs of road infrastructure, pricing and financing options (Who should pay for the new infrastructure? What type of infrastructure should be supported depending on the desired scenario...)?

2. Data and Security

Introduction

Security and data use linked to AVs are often mentioned as areas of concern by experts and by the public (see section on public perception). This literature review found limited written material covering these issues, however it focused on the behavioural and social aspects of AVs and not on the technical aspects. It is therefore possible that in databases dedicated to technological and engineering issues these topics are addressed more fully. In this section issues raised related to security and data in relation to AVs are summarised (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Cybersecurity issues

- Potential cybersecurity issues linked to CAVs are a concern for the public and for experts
- However other sectors (e.g. aviation) have demonstrated that it is possible to safely manage cybersecurity threats, via measures like industry standards or specialised security systems
- Potential privacy issues linked to AV data use and ownership need to be addressed through privacy standards and regulations for instance as they could impact public perception and market uptake



Figure 8 Cybersecurity and Privacy issues linked to CAVs

Data Use and Ownership

• The literature suggests that data collection and data sharing present opportunities to improve transport systems, in particular in the context of CAVs, and should be actively supported

Further research

Further research is needed regarding cybersecurity and data ownership if CAV systems are to be developed. Questions such as 'which safeguards (e.g. standards) should be established to prevent the misuse of data? who should own and control data generated by AVs? For what ends will the data be used? How will customer's data be protected? And how to ensure that data is shared by companies to enable connectivity? With whom should the data be shared?' seem to be under researched, yet they could have significant impact on the development of future CAV systems.

3. Cost of Travel

Introduction:

The cost of buying or using AVs is often mentioned in the literature, however the topic has not been comprehensively studied. This section summarises the discussions related to this topic in the literature (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

High initial cost

• Findings suggest that the initial cost of AVs is likely to be significant but could decrease once market penetration is high

Affordable shared AV travel

• Under shared mobility scenarios, the cost of using and operating AVs could become affordable

Public Opinion

• Even though the cost of owning or using an AV is likely to affect public opinion, it is unclear how much the public is prepared to pay to use AVs

The initial cost of AV is likely to be high

Shared mobility could make AV travel affordable

Further research:

Further research is needed to investigate the cost of travel linked to AVs under different 'use scenarios', in particular shared mobility scenarios.

4. Insurance

Introduction

The impact of AVs on the insurance industry has been widely mentioned in the literature. There is a wide consensus in the literature reviewed that AVs will disrupt the insurance market, as described in this section (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

AV disruption of the insurance market

- Most sources agree that auto insurance premiums will lower with the onset of AVs
- At the same time, liability will shift from users to manufacturers, as human error is replaced by technical failure as the leading cause of accidents
- However, this contraction of the insurance market will be disruptive for established players



Figure 9 AV expected disruption of the Insurance Market

Further research

Some insurance companies are currently investigating the issues associated with AVs' expected disruption. However, further investigation needs to be done to determine the effects of AVs on the insurance industry. Specifically, the literature review shows little research on the effect of shared mobility.

ii. Use of AVs

1. Ownership and Modal Share

Introduction:

The different 'roll-out' or 'use' scenarios of AVs and their potential impact has been widely discussed in the literature, and various authors highlight the importance of further understanding these possible scenarios. These different scenarios could influence public opinion and affect the short and long-term adoption of AVs. The potential social, societal and behavioural impact of AVs could vary greatly depending on the roll-out scenarios, and the impact on transport systems and societies could be profound.

Even though different authors have offered different visions regarding potential roll-out scenarios there is some broad consensus, as further described below in this section. Most authors agree that different ownership models are likely to result in different travel patterns and modal shares. The development of different scenarios will depend on different factors which could be greatly influenced by public authorities and other stakeholders (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Automated Vehicles 'roll out scenarios' will have a different impact on modal share & ownership patterns

- 1. The **'Business-as-usual' scenario** where AVs would replace existing modes of transport could lead to an increase in car use and a decrease in public transport use. This is a **'less desirable'** scenario
 - The mass uptake and popularity of AV cars might lead to the 'renaissance of the private car' and an increase in car use
 - partly caused by the fact that a large proportion of the population who cannot currently drive (e.g. elderly people, young persons, disabled) might want to start owning and using an AV
 - This change might end up hindering collective transport, such as rail

"Supporting 'business-as-usual', with road transport remaining an essentially private 'owner-user' set of practices, with more cars and traffic resulting from the removal of constraints on who can use vehicles and when. Few vehicles are electric as purchasers must still choose a single vehicle for all likely household journey needs, including occasional longrange trips. In this context congestion, energy consumption and emissions are likely to rise due to demand growth outstripping supply efficiency. Greater physical inactivity would be a potentially growing problem for public health (Clark et al, 2016a)."

- **2.** The **'Shared mobility' or 'Collective efficiency' scenario** where AVs complement public transport and where vehicles are shared. This is a 'more desirable' scenario.
 - AVs will be linked to new emerging mobility models
 - As a result, ownership models could shift and car ownership rates could decrease
 - Shared AVs integrated in the public transport system might provide a solution and AVs might optimise public transport
 - However, even in shared mobility scenarios car use could increase and public transport could become less popular

Different variables could influence these scenarios, in particular policy-making and customer preferences.



Figure 10 Different Scenarios linked to AV uptake

"Whether the AV locks us further in or out of the 'car based society' depends on the choices we make as a society, not solely on a specific technological development." Thomopoulos and Givoni (2015)

Further research:

The potential impact different uptake scenarios might have on modal share, in particular on the use of public transport and walking, needs to be further understood and researched. Furthermore, additional questions remain regarding the practicality of establishing shared AV systems, including forecasts of market penetration, system design, implementation and operation. Finally, it is important to further understand to what extent public authorities should invest/support automated mobility on demand systems.

2. Freight

Introduction

The impact of automation on road freight operations is reviewed in this section. It is a topic that does not appear to have been widely discussed in the literature (Detailed literature review is available in $\underline{\text{Annex } C}$).

Connected AVs have the potential to optimise goods delivery and the wider freight network

- The greatest efficiency gains are expected to be made through highly connected vehicles
- Connected AVs, potentially in combination with other modes of transport, could improve the delivery of goods
- Integrated, connected AV operation throughout the value chain would create opportunities to optimize complex logistics systems, including in urban freight, long haul trucking, and seaport operations



Figure 11 Potential to Optimise Road Freight Systems

Further research

Further research should be done in this field to understand the shape that a connected and integrated automated freight and delivery system could take. Automated factories, trucks, and aerial vehicles could all play a part in the supply chain of the future.

3. Driver's interaction with AVs

Introduction:

The literature discussing drivers' interaction with AVs, a topic often referred to as 'humanmachine cooperation' or 'human factors', describes the interaction between human and semiautomated vehicles (usually level 3 or 4 automation). In this section we present a summary of the literature discussing various aspects of human-machine interface, in particular driver reengagement issues in partially or highly automated AVs and in-car driving skills and experience (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Hand-over/Human driver reengagement issues

• Hand-over or human driver reengagement issues in partially or highly automated AVs have been relatively well studied in the academic literature.

- Hand-over issues could pose significant safety risks if the driver fails to regain control of the vehicle on time in cases of emergency. These risks might be judged as unacceptable by potential users.
- The general consensus is that the more a driver is engaged in non-driving tasks (e.g. reading a book), the less aware and ready to resume manual control of the vehicle the driver becomes. Yet being able to engage in non-driving tasks is likely to be one of the main selling points of AVs.
- There is a need to further understand and prevent safety risks linked to drivers' reengagement with the AV, for instance by designing solutions to maintain drivers' engagement and awareness and to inform AV drivers of their duty to resume control (through driver training for instance).



Figure 12 Potential safety risks in cases of partially or highly automated AVs

In-car driving skills and experience

- AVs are expected to improve the convenience and comfort of driving by allowing drivers to engage in non-driving tasks, such as working or being entertained, and by reducing the stress of driving.
- However certain studies and surveys suggest that drivers might not want to engage in non-driving tasks, in particular working, or might not be able to due to motion sickness issues. This puts into question the claims that AVs are likely to improve productivity levels.
- Even though AVs have the potential to reduce driving stress, certain studies indicate that platooning² might increase the driver's stress levels.

² In the context of this literature review platooning refers to AVs following one another closely on the road



Figure 12.2 Potential benefits and issues linked to AV in-car experience

Further research

Some of the key research questions related to drivers' reengagement issues are: Under what conditions to allow AV users to engage in non-driving tasks in partially or highly automated vehicles? What solutions, such as training, should be implemented to keep the driver engaged and maintain/adapt driving skills?

Further research is needed to better understand drivers' behaviour in different scenarios/contexts whilst in AVs. Questions such as to what extent will drivers be able to/want to work whilst in AVs? Could motion sickness issues prevent most drivers from engaging in non-driving tasks? To what extent will AVs reduce drivers' stress? Finally, additional research is needed to understand whether drivers' attachment to driving can affect AV adoption.

4. AVs' interaction with other road users

Introduction:

This section summarises the literature on interactions between AVs and other road users. It starts by describing issues related to interactions between AVs and conventional car drivers in the context of mixed-traffic. It then discusses interactions between AVs and other road users in urban areas, in particular with cyclists and pedestrians (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Interactions between AVs and other car drivers

Uncertainties remain about how AVs will interact with manually driven vehicles and vice-versa, in "mixed-traffic" situations.

• One of the safety issues most frequently mentioned is the fact that human drivers could be negatively influenced by AVs platooning and mirroring this practice (by decreasing the gap with the vehicle in front) could lead to road safety issues.



Figure 13 Potential behavioural impact caused by AV platooning

AVs' interaction with cyclists and pedestrians

A range of potential behavioural and technical problems related to AVs' interaction with pedestrians and cyclists have been identified and necessitate further investigation.

- AVs have the potential to boost pedestrians' and cyclists' confidence and to further encourage people to walk or cycle, providing AVs are adequately programmed.
- Traffic flow in urban areas could be negatively affected by pedestrians and cyclists' behaviour change linked to the introduction of AVs (e.g. pedestrians deliberately jumping in front of an AV expecting it to stop); Consequently, AVs might need to be programmed to prevent these issues.



Figure 14 Potential behavioural changes linked to AVs' interactions with pedestrians and cyclists

Further research

Further research, in particular modelling work, is needed to examine how AVs will interact with other road users, in particular car drivers, pedestrians and cyclists, under different 'use scenarios', including in urban areas. Could these interactions lead to unsafe situations? Could it negatively affect traffic flow? A long list of detailed research questions has been developed by Parkin et al (2016) in the context of the UK project Venturer.

5. Market Uptake

Introduction:

Even though in the majority of the references reviewed authors were confident that AVs will be developed and adopted, a number of authors have warned that there are still barriers to AV market uptake. This section focuses on the opportunities and challenges related to market uptake & penetration in high-income³ and in low-income countries (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

AVs market uptake & potential market failure in Western countries

³ In this literature review high-income countries refer to the list of countries established by the World Bank. Reference available on this link http://data.worldbank.org/income-level/high-income

- The overwhelming majority of references reviewed have no doubt that the technology will be developed and introduced in Western countries
- However, several authors have highlighted that a number of obstacles could prevent AVs market uptake, in particular the high cost of the vehicle, liability issues, lack of business plan, and (lack of) consumer demand.
- Some assert that shared AVs and the support from public authorities and key stakeholders have the potential to generate wide market penetration of AVs



Figure 15 Potential barriers and solutions to AV market uptake

Mass market penetration and socioeconomic impact

• It is unclear whether mass AV market penetration will automatically lead to desirable socioeconomic impacts. Some state that mass AV market penetration, even though desirable for the industry, might lead to undesirable socioeconomic outcomes, such as unemployment, congestion or increased car use. Others argue that mass market uptake could generate positive outcomes such as reduced travel costs. The role of public authorities in achieving the right balance was mentioned.

Market uptake in non-Western countries

• The development of AVs in the Global South could present an opportunity for these countries to accelerate intelligent transport developments. However, doubts remain regarding the affordability and suitability of the technology in numerous contexts outside of Western countries.



Figure 16 This street in Kampala, Uganda's capital, might not be suitable for AV use. Source: Flickr, Creative Commons, link included <u>here</u>

Further research

Further research is necessary to examine whether mass AV market penetration will lead to desirable socioeconomic outcomes or not. Similarly, it is important to understand to what extent negative externalities linked to the use of AVs could lead to a market failure. Further understanding the opportunities and challenges of introducing AVs in non-Western countries is needed.

iii. Consequences/Wider impacts

1. Traffic Flow

Introduction

The potential impact AVs might have on congestion has been frequently discussed in the literature. A number of references, particularly consultancy reports, stress AVs' potential in reducing congestion as one of the main advantages of AVs' uptake. However, this assumption is partially refuted by a number of authors and institutions. The potential impact AVs might have on traffic flow is not straightforward and depends on a number of variables. Further understanding the potential impact AVs might have on congestion is key, as it is one of the

main selling points for the uptake of AVs and could determine consumer and public acceptance (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Potential increase in Travel Demand and in VKT

- Understanding the potential impact of automated vehicles on congestion is key as it is one of the main selling points for the uptake of AVs and could determine consumer and public acceptance.
- The potential impact of the introduction and use of AVs on traffic flow and congestion is uncertain and the literature diverges on this issue.
- The majority of academic references state that Vehicle Kilometre Travelled (VKT) are likely to increase as a result of AV uptake because of increased travel demand, and that this could lead to increased congestion.
 - Increased travel demand could be caused by 'non-drivers' wanting to use AVs for their travel and/or because AVs could become extremely popular and convenient



Figure 17 Potential AV deployment scenario

Potential to increase Highway Capacity

• However, under certain scenarios, AVs could potentially optimise highway capacity; primarily if AVs are used in the context of shared mobility, Vehicle to Vehicle communication (V2V) and Vehicle to roadside infrastructure communication (V2I), and if penetration rate is high.

Further research

Further research is needed to ascertain the net impact AVs could have on traffic depending on different scenarios. Furthermore, limited research has been undertaken to assess the potential impact AVs could have in cities, where the roads will be shared with a range of other users. Could it improve traffic flow or could it slow it down?

2. Economy and Employment

Introduction

The use of automated vehicles has the potential to impact the economy and employment levels. In this section we review the written material which has discussed these topics and highlight the need for further research in this field (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Impact of AVs on the economy and employment

• According to some authors, CAVs are likely to have a positive impact on the economy and under some scenarios could create new employment opportunities, but insufficient data and research are provided to support these hypotheses.

Potential Positive Economic Impact generated by AVs	
Crash savings (e.g. savings in public resources needed to attend road accidents, such as emergency or health services)	
Jobs in the automotive, technology, telecommunication and freight transport industry	
Electronics manufacturers	

• On the other hand, numerous authors caution that a range of economic sectors might be negatively impacted by the uptake of AVs, from private to public. The most concerning aspect of which is employment levels and consequently public perception.



Figure 18 Economic sectors likely to be negatively affected by AVs

• Therefore, anticipating and adapting to potential changes in employment is critical to understand who will be the winners and losers and to plan accordingly.

Further research

Further research is necessary to assess the potential impact vehicle automation could have on the economy, and in particular on employment, since it could be a public concern. Questions such as "How many jobs directly and indirectly related to AVs, across sectors, could be at risk?

Comprehensive and thorough cost-benefit analysis, including all potential side-effects and impact, is also urgently needed.

3. Land Use

Introduction

Authors writing on AVs see two major shifts in land use patterns arising from AVs. First, most authors predict a drastic reduction in land used for parking, particularly under a scenario where the use of shared vehicles is high. This would come about as vehicles would serve many customers, and would not need to park for a large amount of the day. Second, most authors expect that AVs will result in an increase in urban sprawl. As road systems become more efficient, and travel time becomes more comfortable and less demanding, people might be encouraged to travel further distances on a regular basis (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Impact AVs could have on land use

- Under shared mobility scenarios, cities could see a drastic reduction in land used for parking. However, some question to what extent the freed land would be used to create more liveable cities⁴ rather than to accommodate more vehicles
- As AV travel becomes more efficient and more comfortable, willingness to travel longer distances could encourage urban sprawl, leading to a range of undesirable effects (such as increased car dependency)
- Public authorities have a responsibility to curtail the negative effects of AVs on land use patterns and maximise any positive benefits.

"Just as the rise of the automobile led to the emergence of suburbs and exurbs, so the introduction of AVs could lead to more dispersed and lowdensity patterns of land use surrounding metropolitan regions." Automated vehicle technology: How to best realize its social benefits (Anderson et al., 2014b)

⁴ In the context of this literature review the term 'liveable city' refers to the liveability index developed by the Economist. Reference can be found following this link:

http://www.eiu.com/public/thankyou_download.aspx?activity=download&campaignid=Liveability2016



Figure 19 Aerial picture illustrating urban sprawl is North America. Source: Flickr, Creative Commons, link included <u>here</u>

"My conclusion is that automated vehicles have great potential. But we must not allow them to shape our cities in the way the internal combustion engine was allowed to in the last century. In the 19th century, rail led to a concentration of population in city areas. In the 20th, the effect of the internal combustion engine was the opposite: high car ownership led to dispersal, seen at its most extreme in US cities. It will not be good for the economy or the environment if automated vehicles lead to lower density cities or higher car use." A 2050 vision for London: what are the implications of driverless transport? (Begg, 2014)

Further research

To what extent could shared mobility scenarios save parking spaces in cities? How will the freed space be used? To what extent could AV use increase urban sprawl? How might one prevent this development?

4. Ethics

Introduction:

Results of this literature review suggest that ethical issues related to AVs have not been thoroughly addressed in the literature, yet AVs are being programmed to make ethical choices which could soon have real consequences. Ethical implications linked to AV use could have a significant impact on the way those vehicles are perceived by the public. This section

summarises some of the key ethical debates mentioned in the literature (Detailed literature review is available in $\underline{\text{Annex } C}$).

Ethical considerations with AV programming

• Most authors acknowledge that programming AVs to make ethical choices in case of unavoidable accidents is complex, yet inevitable.

"Defining the algorithms that will help AVs make these moral decisions is a formidable challenge." (Bonnefon et al, 2016).

Protecting the drivers at all costs?

- One of the most frequently discussed dilemma is to what extent should/could AVs prioritise the safety of their occupants at the cost of other individual's safety and should AV owners be permitted to choose?
- Research suggests that even though in theory the public support utilitarian AVs '(that sacrifice their passengers for the greater good)' potential buyers would prefer to buy a vehicle that protects them 'at all costs'



Figure 20 Ethical dilemma: should AVs be programmed to protect their occupants at all costs?

Call for an ethical debate

• The potential ethical implications of AVs programming could have an impact on public perception

• Several authors have called for an ethical debate to be held to discuss these complex ethical programming decisions before highly automated AVs are allowed on the roads.

Further research

Further research and debate is necessary to identify and discuss the various ethical dilemmas arising with AV programming and to establish moral codes or guidance to programme these vehicles.

Two of the most important research questions are summarised by Fagnant and colleagues: "to what degree should AVs prioritize minimizing injuries to their occupants, versus other crash-involved parties? And should owners be allowed to adjust such settings?" (Fagnant et al, 2015).

5. Energy and Environment

Introduction:

This section discusses the potential energy and environmental impact AVs could have under different scenarios. This topic has been relatively well addressed in the literature but, as described below, findings differ (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Potential impact on energy consumption and pollution

• Several authors mentioned the potential AVs have to decrease road transport energy consumption and pollution, in particular if AVs are connected and AV penetration rates are high.

Potential energy and emission saving improvements through CAVs & high AV penetration rates	Potential outputs
Energy-saving driving practices (i.e. eco- driving)	Energy efficient driving
Changes in the design of vehicles, such as lighter vehicles	Energy efficient vehicles
Optimisation of the transportation system, in particular platooning, synchronised driving and optimised routing	Smoother traffic flow
Reduced need to search for parking space	Reduced energy consumption
Reduced need for street lighting at night	Energy efficient infrastructures

Table 4 CAVs potential energy and emission saving improvements

- However, several authors highlight that potential energy and environmental improvements are likely to depend on AV adoption and use 'scenarios'.
 - Under the 'Business as usual scenario', potential increased travel demand, car use, VKT and reduced use of rail and mass transit might outweigh the potential environmental and energy benefits of AVs (For further details see section on ownership and modal share)
 - On the other hand, a number of authors noted that under 'shared mobility scenarios' through car sharing or ride sharing energy-efficient CAVs could generate energy and environmental benefits.
- But some authors warn that that even in the best scenario there is a risk that energy consumption and emissions could increase as a result of increased travel demand and VKT, possibly leading to a decrease in mass transit and rail use and call for an 'environmentally beneficial transition toward vehicle automation'.
- Uncertainties in the literature remain regarding the source of energy AVs will use. Some argue that in the context of shared mobility the use of electric AVs is likely to occur. On the other hand, under business as usual scenarios, some argue that AV owners are likely to choose fuel types that are more reliable for long-distance driving. Thus, it isn't clear whether AVs will automatically run on sustainable energy.



Figure 21 AV use scenarios: Energy and Environment

Further research

The impact AV use is likely to have on energy and emission consumption is unclear. Further research is needed to ascertain – and better quantify - the various assumptions and hypotheses mentioned in this section, in particular:

- To what extent could AVs contribute to energy and emission reduction under which use scenario?
- Similarly, under which scenario could AV use lead to an increase in vehicle emission and energy consumption?
- To what extent AVs have the potential to be low emission vehicles?

6. Road safety

Introduction

Road safety was the topic most mentioned in the literature examined. The vast majority of the authors discussing road safety highlight AVs' potential to decrease greatly the number of accidents, and consider improved road safety to be among the chief benefits of AVs. The main controversy stems not from AVs' ability to improve road safety, but the extent of the improvement. While many studies predict a near-complete reduction of road accidents, other studies take a more moderate view. Understanding AVs' effect on road safety is a key issue; it is one of the major predicted benefits of automation, and is also an important factor in the public acceptability of AVs (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Reducing human error

- Most references agree that AVs will have a positive and significant impact on road safety by reducing or eliminating human error.
- There is disagreement on the extent and the timing of these impacts
 - Many authors believe that AVs will have little impact until the widespread deployment of completely automated vehicles
 - Many authors point out that due to the nature of technological systems, some amount of failure is to be expected
- However, as described in various sections of this literature review, new road safety risks might emerge linked to AVs' interaction with other road users, in particular conventional car drivers, pedestrians and cyclists (see sections in Annex C on <u>Driver's interaction with AVs</u> and <u>AVs' interaction with other road users</u>).

Public acceptability and road safety

• Reducing the risk of crashes through automation is a key component to the public's acceptance of AVs; but the public's expectations that AVs will be entirely safe will have to be managed.

"Therefore we believe that a thorough assessment of safety implications of automated systems – including pilot tests and implementations – should be conducted in order to estimate their likely effects on traffic accidents' frequency and severity, and identify potential risks from improper human behaviour." (Frisoni et al., 2016)
Further research

In relation to safety, the most pressing need is to ensure that there is enough research undertaken in relation to the driver's reengagement with the vehicle and interaction with other road users, as this is likely to be the most problematic issue related to safety. To what extent are manufacturers addressing this issue? To what extent should the government further support research and development in this field?

7. Physical Activity

Introduction

The potential effect of AVs on physical activity, and, by extension public health, is not widely addressed in the literature, and not sufficiently understood (Detailed literature review is available in Annex C).

Potential impact of AVs on physical activity and health

- A number of authors warned of the potential impact AV use could have on the population's health.
- The popularity of AVs could lead to increased physical inactivity which could have detrimental health effects, such as an increase in obesity rates.

Further research

Changes in physical activity due to AVs is an under-researched area with wide-ranging public health impacts. Further research on this issue is related to AVs' effect on mode share: will the mass use of AVs shift travel patterns and reduce the share of walking, cycling, and public transportation use?

8. Accessibility and equity

Introduction

Accessibility and equity issues linked to AVs have not been widely addressed in the literature. Yet it is likely that the introduction of AVs could have an impact on both of these aspects. This section summarises the discussions found in the literature regarding these topics (Detailed literature review is available in Annex C).

Accessibility

- CAVs have the potential to improve accessibility for a range of people, in particular elder persons, the disabled, non-drivers and people who live in areas that are not well connected to collective transport networks.
 - The use of CAVs could increase flexibility and independence for a range of users
- However, these assumptions should be examined with caution as limited research has studied the level of social acceptance, desire and capability to use AVs amongst these potential users.
- Furthermore, these potential users might be the last to benefit from AVs as the safety standards required for fully automated vehicles will not be available in the short term.

Equity

- Some question the extent to which those with accessibility restrictions will be able to afford the use of AVs and whether the introduction of AVs could affect equity negatively.
- On the one hand some argue that the initial high price of AVs could limit the technology to the wealthy. Others argue that in the context of shared mobility a broad range of users could benefit from the technology.

Potential impact of AVs on Accessibility and Equity				
Opportunities	Limitations			
Improved access for the elderly, disabled, children and those with limited access to collective transport	Concerns with social acceptance, capability or desire to use AVs			
	Safety requirements may preclude the use of fully automated AVs in the short term			
Affordability of shared mobility options	High cost of AVs could cause disparity of socio-economic access			

 Table 5 Potential impact of AVs on Accessibility and Equity

Further research

Further research is needed to investigate the likely interactions between certain groups of the population, such as older people, and AVs. Similarly, possible social acceptance issues amongst these potential users need to be further studied. Will elder persons, disabled and non-drivers, such as underage children, have the capacity to use these vehicles? Will they want to/feel comfortable in using a vehicle without a driver? To what extent do AVs have the potential to improve the life of non-drivers, in particular the elderly and the disabled? Begg (2014) asks: "If autonomous cars come to supplement bus services, should public transport authorities get into the business of operating them?"

Further research is also needed to better understand the potential social inequity issues the uptake of AVs might generate. Will the uptake of AVs widen inequity? Or, on the contrary, will it improve accessibility for all through shared mobility?

iv. Stakeholders' awareness & attitudes

Introduction

Public acceptability and public opinion has been widely discussed in the literature on AVs. It is clear that it has the potential to impact the technological development and the roll-out of AVs. Therefore, it is crucial to assess public perceptions regarding this new technological development. A number of institutions have undertaken surveys to assess public opinion. This section summarises the main findings and highlights gaps in the literature and limitations of the methods used (Detailed literature review is available in <u>Annex C</u>).

Cross-referenced results from a number of surveys indicate that:

- It is unclear to what extent the public is interested in using or buying AVs
- Men living in urban areas are more likely to be interested in AVs compared to women, in particular technology enthusiasts
- Older persons are less likely to be interested in AVs compared to younger persons
- Public perception of AVs varies from one geographical area to another (e.g. Californians are more likely to be interested in AVs compared to citizens who live in other US states).
- People who enjoy driving are less likely to be interested in AVs

Participants' interest in using/buying AVs	Participants more likely to be interested in AVs
Gender	Men
Age	Young people
Inhabitat	Urban dwellers
Geographical location	California
Attachment to driving	People who enjoy driving
Personality	Technology enthusiast

Table 5 Participants' interest in using/buying AVs; summary results across various surveys referred to in this literature review

Several key factors seem to have a strong impact on public opinion:

- Even though safety is one the main 'selling points' and benefits of using or buying an AV, it is also what concerns potential users most, in particular fear of software malfunction. Cybersecurity also ranks high on the list of concerns about AVs.
- Perceived usefulness and perceived benefits of AVs (e.g. travel time or congestion reduction) are likely to impact public opinion and acceptability of AVs
- The majority of the participants surveyed would be reluctant to pay more (than a conventional car) to buy or to use an AV.



Table 6 Participants' main concerns related to AVs

The assessment of the methods used across surveys suggests that:

- The sample of the population surveyed is not fully representative
 - The majority of the surveys were undertaken in the USA
 - Many surveys have only interviewed drivers. Non-drivers have not been sufficiently targeted

Authors	Kyriakidis and colleagues	Schoettle and Sivak	Cyganski and colleagues	Ipsos Mori
Institution	Delft University of Technology	Michigan University	German Aerospace Center, Humboldt -University Berlin	Ipsos Mori
Date	2015	2014	2014	2014
Country	109 different countries	USA, UK and Australia	Germany	UK
Туре	Crowd-sourcing online survey via Crowdflower	Crowd-sourcing online survey via Survey Monkey	Crowd-sourcing online survey	
Respondents	5000	1533	1000	1001

Table 7 Relevant surveys targeting large samples

- Most surveys rely on the public's imagination to assess their views on AVs. Only limited surveys have been undertaken in live scenarios
- Rigour and impartiality of the methods used in the context of a number of surveys is questionable. Only a handful have used robust methods.

Further research

Further research should be undertaken to determine under what conditions and scenarios the public would be most likely to use and accept AVs. Public opinion on AVs should be assessed specifying conditions of use (Clarck et al, 2016; Cyganski et al., 2014). In other words, specific scenarios should be presented when surveying participants' opinion. As stated by ScienceWise: "Further study on the specific situations in which the public would or wouldn't find vehicles acceptable and whether they would be willing to drive alongside automated or driverless cars would add to understanding of public attitudes" (ScienceWise, 2014).

As AV technology develops, public opinion needs to be regularly assessed and monitored. As stated by ScienceWise: ""it would be valuable to track public attitudes to the technology as it becomes more of a reality, to see how this affects positive or negative perceptions of the technology" (ScienceWise, 2014). Clark and colleagues from the University of the West of England stress the key role social science should play in examining the population's expectations and reaction to the development of AVs (Clark et al, 2016).

Finally, further research is needed to assess non-drivers' perception and expectations of AVs. Likewise, it is necessary to further understand older people's perception of AVs and their potential reluctance to use the technology. It is also important to further understand why a large percentage of females seem less interested in AVs compared to men.

v. Public Sector's Role

Introduction:

In this section we review the literature that has discussed the role, influence and responsibility of public authorities in relation to AVs. The first part discusses regulatory and legal issues related to AVs deployment and adoption, in particular at the national level. The second part raises issues regarding urban planning in relation to AVs (Detailed literature review is available in Annex C).

Regulatory and legal issues related to AVs

- Many authors have stressed the important role public authorities play in regulating and legislating for AVs and in shaping the adoption and use of AVs. Public authorities are expected to:
 - Legislate to support testing and adoption of the technology
 - Intervene to shape the 'adoption path' or 'use scenario' of the technology

- The need to further understand the potential impact AVs could have on transportation systems and the society before legislating was also highlighted
- Legal responsibility in case of an accident is a concern that needs to be further addressed by the relevant authorities

In relation to urban planning

- Few authors have discussed AVs in the context of urban planning, and there is a general lack of conversation and planning regarding AVs in urban areas
- Local authorities need to be involved in conversations and policy-making processes regarding AVs and should consider integrating AVs into their planning processes
- AVs have the potential to improve urban transport systems, but their development and use in urban areas need to be carefully managed by public authorities.

Public sector's

role:

At the national level

- Further understand the potential impact AVs could have on transportation systems and the society
- Legislate to support testing and adoption of the technology
- Intervene to shape the 'adoption path' of the technology

Public authorities should

At the local level

- Local authorities need to be involved in conversations and policy-making processes regarding AVs and should consider integrating AVs into their planning processes
- Carefully manage the development of AVs in urban areas

Legislators

Legal issues to be addressed

• Legal responsibility in case of a collision is a concern that needs to be further addressed

Figure 22 Public sector and legislators' role

Further research

Further research is needed to investigate the role of AVs in urban areas, from an urban planning perspective. Potential research questions include: What role should AVs play in cities? To what extent can AVs contribute to urban areas and improve urban mobility systems?

IV. Conclusion and Recommendations

To conclude, the findings of this study suggest that the social, behavioural and societal matters linked to AVs have not been sufficiently addressed, in particular by the academic literature. Out of the 44 different topics identified, only a handful have been thoroughly addressed. Others, such as health and well-being issues, in particular physical activity, are significantly under-researched. To date the focus has been primarily on the technological and technical aspects of AVs. This is probably because AVs are still at an experimental stage, however, with the technology rapidly developing, key social, behavioural and societal issues linked to AVs need to be given urgent consideration.

The majority of authors who have written on AVs have highlighted their potential benefits, in particular road safety, and have mentioned that it is likely to be a disruptive technology. A significant number of authors, in particular academics, have also highlighted their potential side-effects and have called for caution. One of the key messages is that depending on the adoption/use scenario implemented, or chosen, the social and behavioural impact of AVs uptake could be very different and could lead to completely different outcomes, some less desirable than others (see section on ownership and modal share). As summarised by Smith (2012): "Maximizing the net benefit of automated driving will require researching, modelling, planning, and regulating—cooperatively, not automatedly".

It is clear that in order to fully comprehend the potential, positive or less positive, changes this disruptive technology could generate, a range of multidisciplinary and comprehensive studies need to be undertaken. Understanding the potential impact of AVs should be looked at through the lens of a range of disciplines from sociology, medicine, psychology, economics to urban planning etc.

This report serves to provide an overview of the various discussions and studies that have been undertaken related to this topic. It has informed a series of research questions which can be found in the main report of this project.

Annex A – Methods

The literature review process began with two parallel strands: a search of academic and grey literature sources to develop a body of materials, and the development of a coding framework to analyse that literature. The objective was to identify prevalent themes in social and behavioural research and theory regarding AVs. The framework was applied to the literature discovered, with each piece of work coded for major themes.

The literature review process is outlined in the flowchart below, with each step described in the subsections below.



Figure 24 Literature Review Process

Literature Search

The objective of the literature search was to identify a body of information from the academic and grey literature that is indicative of the diversity of social and behavioural research on AVs.

First, formal search terms were developed using the results from the pilot searches, and terms used in the initial sample literature. A thesaurus and Google's Ngram Viewer was used to identify the most common words and phrases used to refer to AVs. Ngram viewer is a search product that identifies the prevalence of the searched word or phrase over time in Google's database of printed works. The synonyms found to be the most common were used for further searches. The relevant search terms are shown in the table below.

Keywords	Additional Synonyms
"Driverless car*" OR "Driverless vehicle*" OR "driverless"	"Advanced Driver Assistance System*"
"self-driv* car*" OR "self-driv* vehicle*" OR "self driv* car*" OR "self driv* vehicle*"	"Auto-pilot vehicle*"
"automated car*" OR "automated vehicle*" OR "automated car*" OR "automated vehicle*"	"Driverless automobile*"
	"self-driv* automobile*"
	"automated automobile*"
	"automated automobile*"
	robot* car*, robot* vehicle*
	self-piloted car*, self-piloted vehicle*
	Automated Road Transport
	"Automatic vehicle*" OR "Automatic car*"
	"Cybercar*"
	"auto* driving"
	"Google car"

Table 8 AV keywords and additional synonyms

These synonyms were used to search five bibliographic databases: Scopus, Transport Research International Documentation (TRID), International Bibliography of Social Sciences (IBSS), ProQuest Social Sciences and PsycINFO. These databases provide wide coverage of peerreviewed literature in the fields of transport, social science, and psychology, as well as additional academic references (including conference papers and other reports) and some grey literature (such as official documents). Searches undertaken in the context of this investigation focused on material written in English. All years, all subject areas, and all document type were searched.

Databases	Content
SCOPUS	Largest abstract and citation interdisciplinary database of peer- reviewed literature
TRID	<i>Transport Research International Documentation (TRID)</i> is the largest online bibliographic <i>database</i> of transportation research, includes technical reports and conference proceedings
IBSS	<i>International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS)</i> is an essential online resource for social science and interdisciplinary research
ProQuest SOCIAL SCIENCE	<i>ProQuest's Social Sciences</i> collections provide comprehensive, global indexing coverage of the scholarly literature in the social sciences
PsycINFO	Bibliographic records centered on psychology and the behavioral and social sciences

Table 9 Bibliographic Databases used

The searches yielded over 50,000 results. In order to narrow the search down to a manageable number, and to weed out irrelevant works, the search results were separated into subject areas. 10 random entries within each subject area, for each search, were screened on title and abstract. If none of these entries were relevant to social and behavioural issues related to AVs, the subject area was excluded. These results were narrowed down by excluding irrelevant subjects leaving 2296 results. These documents, combined with the items discovered informally, were screened on title, and in some cases on abstract, for relevance and narrowed down to less than 300 references (see table below).

Screening	Hits	
Across Databases and Categories	50200	
Pre-selection based on Category	2236	
Final selection from bibliographic databases	248	
Final selection from Grey Literature	181	

Table 10 Results from Bibliographic Databases search

While the database searches above yielded literature from academic and grey sources, the results were biased towards academic literature. In order to balance this bias, informal web searches (mainly using the Google search engine) were undertaken using key words previously identified. For instance, the terms 'automated vehicles' combined with 'PDF' produced a long list of consultancy and government reports. Furthermore, a search through 30 relevant bibliographies was undertaken to identify additional grey literature. Eventually a sample of close to 200 references were selected to represent the grey literature.

In total the combination of the selected academic sources and the sample of grey literature produced 432 documents. The table below indicates the types of documents found in the body of literature. Academic sources represent the majority of the documents examined. Given that the most relevant academic databases were thoroughly surveyed, the number of academic sources identified in the context of this study is likely to be representative of the total number of existing academic sources written in English.

Academi	c Sources Included:	Grey L	iterature Sources Included
125	peer reviewed articles	20	Official Reports
7	academic books	40	Consultant/Industry Reports
	Other (reports, presentations,		
116	conference papers)	42	Serious Broadsheet or Magazine
248	All Academic Literature	5	Light Tabloids or Magazine
		5	Marketing Material
		9	Visual Presentation
		63	Other
		181	All Grey Literature

Table 11 No of Academic and Grey Literature references found

Systematic review software

In order to analyse the 432 selected references, licences to use a systematic review software were purchased. A web-based software program, EPPI-Reviewer 4, was chosen to manage and analyse data in the literature review⁵. All 432 references, including dozens of PDFs, were uploaded to the software and all analytic work on the results of the database search was using this software. EPPI-Reviewer allows the references to be organised and coded methodically.

⁵ Reference: http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/cms/Default.aspx?tabid=2967

🕐 EF	PI-Re	viewer4 (V.4.6.0.3)	× +						-	٥	×
(🗧 🖿	\rangle	eppi.ioe.ac.uk/epp	pireviewer4/ C* Q Search		1			ŧ.	â 9	6	≡
Most	visited	I 🥑 Getting Started	M Inbox (2,664) - clemca 💞 Tasks by main √ Tood								
Docume	nts	Search Diagrams	Frequencies Crosstabs Reports Meta-analysis Collaborate My info		Co	des					-
432 doc	umen	ts loaded.			1.			1.20			
Showin	g: inc	lude				40		94			
						- 🔏 🗹	Screenin	g			
	E	DI 9999	2 🗿 🔯 🔚 😳 👝 📥 🧐 📰 🛛 🥵 🛟 Filter:			- exc	lude				
		Authors 🟹	Title	Vear V		ind	lude				
Go		I McKinsey ;	10 ways in which Autonomous Vehicles could reshape our lives	2015		- 🖁 🖊	Mapping	Tool			
Go		I Adams John ;	Self Driving Cars and the Child - Ball Problem : Why Autonomous Vehicles Are Not The Answer	2015	l Þ	- 🖁 🖊	Coding /	Assign	ment		
Go		I Alessandrini A ;	Advanced transport systems showcased in La Rochelle	2011	l Þ	<u> </u>	Reports	codes			
Go		I Alessandrini Adri	Users' preferences towards automated road public transport: Results from european surveys	2014	Þ	- 🔏 🗹	Extreme	y relev	vant codir	ng	
Go		I Alessandrini A ;	Automated vehicles and the rethinking of mobility and cities	2015	Þ	<u> </u>	Brian edi	t man	ually imp	orted ref	rence
Go		I Alheeti K M.A; G	On the detection of grey hole and rushing attacks in self-driving vehicular networks	2015							
Go		I Alheeti K M.A; G	Prediction of DoS attacks in external communication for self-driving vehicles using a fuzzy petri net model	2016							
Go		I RAND ;	Autonomous vehicle technology: How to best realize its social benefits	2014							
Go		I Ang M H;	Achieving mobility on demand using autonomous vehicles	2015							
Go		I Aoki K ;	The development of intelligent multimode transit system based on automated buses	2004							
Go		I Applin S A; Rien	Extending Driver-Vehicle Interface Research into the Mobile Device Commons: Transitioning to (nondriving) passengers and their vehi	cles. 2015							
Go		I Arason N ; Nade	No accident: Eliminating injury and death on Canadian roads	2014							
Go		I ARADHANA ARA	Driverless buses , platoons of trucks to shape Singapore 's transport future	2015							
Go		I Atkins Global ;	VENTURER consortium - autonomous vehicles	2015							
Go		I International Tra	Automated and Autonomous Driving Regulation under uncertainty	2015							
Go		I Science Wise ;	Automated vehicles: what the public thinks	2014							
Go		I PHILIPPA OLDHA	Autonomous and driverless cars	2016							
Go		I Houses of Parliar	Autonomous Road Vehicles	2013							
Go		I Paula-Marie Brow	Autonomous Vehicles : A thought leadership review of how the UK can achieve a fully autonomous future	2016							
Go		I Chen Wen-hua ;	Autonomous Vehicles Research	2016	4						•
Go		I Grover Colin ;	Autonomous Vehicles : Research Needs for Insurers Vehicle Evolution - Automated Braking	2016							-
Go		I Baertsch R ; Swe	Solar-powered Personal Rapid Transit (PRT): Electric vehicles without batteries or congestion	2008							
H 4	1	5 BL		Page 1 of 1							•
<u>ن</u>				1.190		odes So	urces R	eview	statistics		

Figure 25 Screen shot EPPI-Reviewer 4

Development of Coding Mechanisms

A coding structure was developed to identify the characteristics of each reference, plus the key themes presented in it. This methodical approach was essential for identifying common areas of research and interest across a large number of documents, which would lead to an understanding of the state of the field and any gaps in the existing literature. A coding process was used whereby documents would be reviewed based on their title and abstract, their outline or their full text. As certain characteristics of the document were identified, or certain key themes expressed, the document was flagged, or coded, to reflect that. The result was a set of codes that described the relevant information for each document, which could be used to develop statistics for the body of literature, or identify documents for further investigation. For a list of these topics, see Annex D.

The **characteristic codes** were developed to identify the document's characteristics, such as its source, its status as grey or academic literature, whether it was peer reviewed, and its use of evidence. These codes would help to identify the type of document, which could be related to the key themes expressed (List in Annex D).

The **key themes codes** were developed to identify the major themes and questions in AV literature. By coding for common themes across many sources, the researchers could identify the prevalence of these themes. These codes were developed based on the initial sample of literature, which consisted of literature collected and supplied by the Department for Transport,

and literature collected from informal database and web searches. The literature was read, and the major topics of interest were identified (List in Annex D).

Once the key themes were identified, a comparison coding exercise was undertaken. Two researchers reviewed and coded the same sample of documents, and their results were compared. This process had two benefits: first, by comparing the coding decisions made by each researcher, differences in understanding could be made evident, and a more uniform coding process developed. Second, ambiguities and gaps in the coding structure were identified, leading to the creation of new codes to capture specific themes.

Screening and Coding of Documents

The coding framework was then applied to the body of literature, bringing the two strands of inquiry together. Each of the 2296 pre-selected documents was screened by its title and abstract. Irrelevant documents were screened out at this stage, while 432 relevant documents were coded based on mechanisms described in the previous subsection. For documents without an abstract, typically grey literature such as industry reports and news publications, the screening process was applied to the executive summary, introduction and conclusion, or a full reading of the document in the case of shorter news articles. This screening and coding exercise provides the basis for the statistical analysis of the body of literature presented later in this document.

During this screening and coding process, 62 particularly useful documents were tagged as 'extremely relevant' for a more complete reading. Extremely relevant documents aligned with the aims of this study and met one or more of the following criteria:

- being particularly comprehensive
- effectively using evidence to reach robust conclusions
- identifying gaps in the literature
- having a focus on public acceptability or expectations based on survey data

These documents were reviewed in their entirety to achieve a more in-depth understanding of the best and most relevant documents in the body of literature. Additionally, the bibliographies of some of these extremely relevant documents were reviewed to identify additional works to add to the main body of literature. Relevant new documents were screened and coded on title and abstract using the process described above. Many of the documents discovered in the bibliographies were already included in the identified body of literature; this provides confidence that our literature search, while not exhaustive, is indicative of the literature on AVs. Nonetheless, some new works were discovered, and added to the body of literature.

Throughout the screening, coding, and in-depth review processes, any new ideas, themes, or questions encountered were recorded. Specific passages that were particularly indicative of a major theme, or that were unique and insightful were also recorded. Particular attention was paid to passages stating the current gaps in the literature.

Finally, results of the initial screening, coding and in-depth analysis were combined into an electronic spreadsheet for further analysis. The 44 listed topics were joined into 18 different

thematic categories listed in the core literature review (see <u>Annex D</u>). Content analysis and cross-referencing was applied to the data collected to produce a summary of the literature.

Limitations

Even though a range of themes/topics were identified and analysed in the context of this literature review, none of the topics was specifically targeted and this literature review remains broad. For instance, this literature review did not search 'AVs' combined with 'land use' in the databases; it is possible that additional references could have been found by further narrowing search terms. Thus targeted literature reviews should be undertaken for each of the themes identified.

Annex B – Definition of Terms

Because the technology is developing quickly and, with it, the terms used to describe it, this section is intended to reduce the scope for misinterpretation of what follows.

In this report, the term *automation* is used to describe the extent to which a vehicle is equipped to carry out the driving task, and *full automation* implies that the vehicle can carry out all aspects of the driving task (thus being equivalent to SAE's Level Five) (SAE International 2014).

Autonomy describes the extent to which a vehicle "makes decisions" on its own. A *fully automated* vehicle assesses its environment and selects a course of action in accordance with what it finds. In principle, an autonomous vehicle could carry out the driving task in its entirety without communicating with other vehicles or roadside infrastructure. Autonomy is here contrasted with *control:* a *fully controlled* vehicle in effect acts out instructions set outside it. One example of this is a following lorry in a convoy. The term *control* has been preferred to *connectedness* because of the use of the latter word also to describe the extent of communication between the vehicle and its environment (notably other vehicles and road-side infrastructure). A highly connected vehicle may actually have no automation: it may simply have extensive data-sharing arrangements such as those that enable a human driver to remain very well informed about traffic conditions ahead, for example.



Figure 26 - Automation, autonomy, control

As Figure is intended to show, automation and autonomy/control are distinct axes and vehicles will occupy quite different points on the graph. For example, the following lorry in a convoy would probably lie in the bottom-right quadrant, whilst cars in the fleet today that offer "advanced driver assistance" will lie in the top-left.

Automated vehicle is the general term used in this literature review, abbreviated to AV. Unless the level of automation is specified (e.g. full or partial), the range from partial to full is to be assumed. Equally, unless a point or range on the autonomy-control spectrum is specified, the full range is to be assumed.

Though these clarifications will hopefully be useful, it must be pointed out that they alone cannot capture adequately the *experience* of travelling in an AV. There is a very great difference, for example, between travelling in a fully automated "pod" which will not exceed 15mph, say, and in a partially automated conventional car at motorway speeds. Where appropriate, therefore, additional information about the nature of the travel experience will be specified. Where it is not, it should be assumed that the speed and comfort of an AV journey are at least *comparable* with those of journeys made currently using motorised transport.

Annex C – In-depth literature review

i. Technological and market developments

1. Technological and infrastructure developments

Introduction

In this section we describe what has been written in the literature regarding technological and market developments as it will affect the roll-out of automated vehicles (AVs) and ultimately wider social, behavioural and societal issues. This section also addresses infrastructure development issues linked to AVs

Different type of AVs

References reviewed in the context of this literature confirm that a variety of types of AVs is likely to emerge which will make regulation, standards and connectivity of AVs more challenging (Anderson et al., 2014a). A number of authors have highlighted the fact that car manufacturers have adopted an 'evolutionary approach', essentially modelling AVs to current cars models, following a 'driver-centric' approach. In addition to traditional car makers, some companies are focusing on retrofitting existing vehicles with driving assistance options. As highlighted by Le Vine and Polak from Imperial College: "such systems require installation of dedicated hardware to retrofit existing vehicles with driving-assistance systems, whilst others do so by leveraging smartphone sensing and computing capabilities." (LeVine and Polak, 2014). On the other hand, technology companies, such as start-ups or larger companies such as Google, have embarked on a 'revolutionary' path, changing mobility paradigms including vehicle shape and function (Frisoni et al., 2016). Many authors have mentioned the fact that driverless vehicles could lead to new vehicle design which would no longer focus on driving functions or 'crash survival' (KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012).

Automation Pathways and Definitions

There is a general agreement in the literature that there will be **four or five stages** of automation starting with advance driver assistance systems and finishing fully automated vehicles or driverless vehicles. The table below illustrates the different stages of automation as described by the Society of Automotive Engineers $(SAE)^6$. It is important to note that these stages of automation describe one AV development scenario or pathway, often called the 'evolutionary pathway', as described in the section on Ownership models, automation pathways will depend on the roll-out scenarios.

In this report, we frequently refer to automated vehicles (AVs) in a broad and comprehensive sense as described by the State of Nevada, USA: "Vehicle installed with automated technology

⁶ "**SAE** International, initially established as the Society of Automotive Engineers, is a U.S.-based, globally active professional association and **standards** developing organization for engineering professionals in various industries." Wikipedia

which has the capability to drive the motor vehicle without the active control or monitoring of a human operator." (Definition based on the Statutes of Nevada, 2013). The UK Department for Transport (DfT) makes the difference between 'high automation' defined as: "This means a vehicle in which a driver is required to be present and may need to take manual control for some parts of the journey." And 'full automation': "This means a vehicle in which a driver is not necessary" (Department for Transport, 2015).

SAE Level	Name
0	No automation the full-time performance by the human driver of all aspects of the dynamic driving task, even when enhanced by warning or intervention systems
1	Driver assistance the driving mode-specific execution by a driver assistance system of either steering or acceleration/deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the human driver perform all remaining aspects of the dynamic driving task.
2	Partial automation the driving mode-specific execution by one or more driver assistance systems of both steering and acceleration/deceleration using information about the driving environment and with the expectation that the human driver perform all remaining aspects of the dynamic driving task
3	Conditional automation the driving mode-specific performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task with the expectation that the human driver will respond appropriately to a request to intervene
4	High automation the driving mode-specific performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task, even if a human driver does not respond appropriately to a request to intervene
5	Full automation the full-time performance by an automated driving system of all aspects of the dynamic driving task under all roadway and environmental conditions that can be managed by a human driver

Table Annex 1 SAE Standard - Adapted from International Transport Forum, 2015

Software updates

The need for AVs' software to be regularly updated to maintain safety and security standards was highlighted by several authors (Anderson et al., 2014a). As stated by the Internal Transport Forum: "Designing vehicles for future system upgrades like the addition of sensors may also help reduce legacy risks" (International Transport Forum, 2015). Le Vine and Polak from

Imperial College hint that regular 'software maintenance' might become mandatory just like a regular maintenance schedule (Le Vine & Polak, 2014).

Connectivity and infrastructure

The majority of the references support **connectivity** between vehicles and between vehicles and infrastructure. Vehicle to Vehicle communication (V2V) and Vehicle to Infrastructure (V2I) have the potential to optimise the road network, thus improving traffic, reduce fuel consumption and improve road safety (Guériau et al, 2016).

Most authors highlight the fact **that significant infrastructure investments** are likely to be needed to accommodate AVs, in particular V2I infrastructure (International Transport Forum, 2015; Anderson et al., 2014a; KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012). The need for specialised AV infrastructure (e.g. recharging stations, special communication networks) was stressed by a number of authors; some even state that AVs might need segregated highway lanes until manually driven vehicles are phased out of the market (Bierstedt et al, 2014). A team from Carnegie Mellon University go as far as saying that: "The conversion to a fully automated road infrastructure will be one of the most momentous challenges that humanity will face in the 21st century." (DiClemente et al., 2014). In their research, Wagner and colleagues, from the university of Texas, highlight the fact that one of the barriers preventing the implementation of V2I infrastructure is likely to be public budget restrictions (Wagner et al, 2014). However, the uncertainty surrounding the adoption of AVs, and potential uptake scenarios, means that it is unclear what specific infrastructures are needed (Ibid).

On the other hand, the wide scale adoption of CAVs could **make existing road infrastructure redundant and could lead to new traffic management laws**. A number of authors mentioned that road infrastructure signs might no longer be needed, and that as a result the design of highways might change significantly (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Professor Begg for instance, argues that traffic controls such as speed humps or speed cameras might become a "thing of the past" (Begg, 2014) as AVs will be programmed to follow specific rules. In one of its reports, consultancy company KPMG state that new traffic management laws will have to be implemented to accommodate CAVs and "This could very well revolutionize traffic management" (KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012).

Further research

Further research is needed to understand what infrastructure is required to support different type of AVs and roll-out scenarios (e.g. connected or non-connected AVs, urban or rural set up, type of vehicle, segregated lanes, etc.) Do AVs require large scale infrastructure to function safely and effectively? Further investigation is also needed to further understand the potential costs of road infrastructure and pricing and financing options (Who should pay for the new infrastructure? What type of infrastructure should be supported depending on the desired scenario...)?

2. Data and Security

Introduction

Security and data use linked to AVs are often mentioned as areas of concern by experts and by the public (see section on public perception). This literature review found limited written material covering these issues, however it focused on the behavioural and social aspects of AVs and not on the technical aspects. It is therefore possible that in databases dedicated to technological and engineering issues these topics are addressed more fully. In this section issues raised related to security and data in relation to AVs are summarised.

Cybersecurity

Security issues linked to AVs, in particular **software hacking and misuse**, are often listed as one of the main public **concerns** (Kyriakidis et al, 2015) which could hinder AV market uptake if not addressed (Fagnant et al, 2015). The importance of **cybersecurity**⁷ issues linked to AVs was mentioned by several authors (Colwell, 2015; KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012; KPMG, 2015; Felix et al., 2015; Feng et al., 2014). DiClemente and colleagues, from Carnegie Mellon University, acknowledge that "the automated system is considered to create much larger security and privacy related issues than the on-board computers currently used in cars" (DiClemente et al., 2014). The biggest cybersecurity risk is the "potential risk of a malicious attacker taking control of the car while in operation and provoking intentional accidents" (Ibid), including potential terrorist threats (KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012). Connected AVs through 'wireless networks' may be 'particularly vulnerable' to attacks (Feng et al., 2014). Thus, cybersecurity is a potentially extremely serious and concerning issue which needs to be addressed.

Suggestions to **address cybersecurity concerns** were made by several authors. Fagnant and colleagues, from University of Texas, mentioned the aviation sector as an example of how to safely manage large scale cybersecurity issues linked to AVs (Fagnant et al., 2015). DiClemente and colleagues stress the importance of research and development in this field and the need for AV manufacturers to "invest a large portion of their R&D in researching methods for protecting the information and blocking any unauthorized access"(DiClemente et al., 2014). The International Transport Forum calls for the establishment of "encrypted security standards" (International Transport Forum, 2015). Similarly, Wagner and colleagues, from University of Texas, stress the need for public authorities to "play a leading role in the development and management of a security certificate system that ensured all messages sent and received were genuine and secure." (Wagner et al., 2014). Therefore, a range of solutions, in particular security standards or security certificates, could be implemented to prevent potential cybersecurity issues linked to AVs.

Data Use and Ownership

⁷ Cybersecurity is defined as: "measures taken to protect a computer or computer system (as on the Internet) against unauthorized access or attack", Merriam Webster dictionary

The large amount of informatics data which could be generated by AVs also raises potential privacy issues linked to data use and ownership (KPMG, 2015; KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012; Brown, 2016). Questions such as 'who owns the data', 'how is the data stored' and 'who has access to the data' are frequently raised (Bierstedt et al, 2014;McCarthy et al., 2015). These questions will be particularly important as data generated by AVs are likely to be privately owned in many countries and this could present a growing concern for users (Ticoll, 2015). Think tank RAND stress the importance of clarifying 'who should own the data obtained through AVs' and highlight the potential risks linked to the lack of data protection, including negative impact on AV market uptake (Anderson et al., 2014a). Similarly, Fagnant and colleagues highlight the risks of data misuse if proper safeguards are not established and call for new privacy standards to protect AV users' privacy (Fagnant et al, 2015). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies calls for further protection of AV's users' data and states that "ethics will play a key role in the definition of the legislative framework regulating the use and management of such data" (Frisoni et al., 2016). Therefore, addressing the potential impact AVs might have on information privacy, whilst the technology is under development, is needed.

However, several authors also highlight that the quantity of **data** AVs could generate **could also present opportunities to improve transport systems**. Atkins, a consultancy company, highlights the potential in gathering data from CAVs which could be used by city authorities for "optimising transport networks, enhancing the operation of transport systems and improving the planning process" (McCarthy et al., 2015). Fagnant and colleagues, also mention the potential benefits in using AV data to manage congestion charging for instance, and to improve the efficiency of the transport system (Fagnant et al, 2015). KPMG & Center for Automotive Research (2012) highlights the same possibilities where AV data collection can help better analyse road use patterns to improve the network.

Furthermore, a number of authors stress the importance of **data sharing in the context of connected automated vehicle systems**, in particular V2V and V2I (DiClemente et al., 2014; International Transport Forum, 2015). The International Transport Forum mention the fact that for AV systems to be connected "available data transmission frequencies, low-latency, trusted, secure and fail-safe data transmission protocols and harmonised data syntax that ensures safe interoperability" are needed (International Transport Forum, 2015). Several authors stress that competition between AV developers and manufacturers might hinder data sharing. Thus, sharing AV data is a requisite for V2V and V2I communication and the establishment of a connected AV system, it should be supported by all AV stakeholders.

Further Research:

Further research is needed regarding cybersecurity and data ownership if CAV systems are to be developed. Questions such as 'which safeguards (i.e. standards) should be established to prevent the misuse of data? who should own and control data generated by AVs? For what ends will the data be used? How will customer's data be protected? And how to ensure that data is shared by companies to enable connectivity? With whom should the data be shared?' seem to

be under researched, yet they could have significant impact on the development of future CAV systems.

3. Cost of Travel

Introduction:

The cost of buying or using AVs is often mentioned in the literature, however the topic has not been comprehensively studied. This section summarises the discussions related to this topic in the literature.

High initial cost

References often refer to the cost of future AV vehicles, in particular privately owned vehicles. They highlight that the price is likely to be initially high and will go down following a market penetration. There were a variety of price differentials predicted between AVs and manuallydriven vehicles. KPMG (2015) had the lowest predicted price difference, expecting a fully automated car to eventually cost US\$1000 more than a comparable manual vehicle. While automation is expected to come at a higher purchase price, the additional cost of automation technology is expected to be offset by operating cost savings, though many authors are vague as to the source of these savings (DiClemente et al., 2014; Alessandrini et al., 2015). A report by consultancy company Fehr and Peers estimates that it may take up to 20 years for AVs to become affordable (Bierstedt et al, 2014). Therefore, findings suggest that the initial cost of AVs is likely to be significant but could decrease once market penetration is high.

Affordable shared AV travel

Several authors discussed the cost of using and operating AVs in the context of shared mobility. Many authors, such as Clark and colleagues (2016b) noted that the cost of traveling with an AV might be reduced in shared mobility scenarios. By breaking up the cost of car use into a pay-per-usage model, a shared AV scenario would make car travel accessible to people who cannot afford the fixed costs of vehicle ownership. Indeed, the International Transport Forum observes that "Residents who cannot afford to buy and maintain a private car or who are unable to drive may be some of the earliest adopters of these shared systems." (International Transport Forum, 2015). Fagnant and colleagues provide a more in-depth analysis of the potential cost of operating AVs from the point of view of an automated taxi service. Their simulation suggests that "a private fleet operator paying [US]\$70,000 per new SAV could earn a 19% annual (long-term) return on investment while offering SAV services at \$1.00 per mile of a non-shared trip (which is less than a third of Austin's average taxi cab fares)" (Fagnant et al., 2015). The savings in this estimate is based on reduction in costs to insurance, fuel savings, and parking. The timeline for realizing this type of savings is uncertain, however. Furthermore, think tank

RAND (2014a) noted that users of paratransit⁸, or community transport, would be likely to see cost savings by taking advantage of new automated services. Thus, under shared mobility scenarios, the cost of using and operating AVs could become affordable.

Public Opinion

In a series of interviews that took place in the USA, consultancy company KPMG (2013) found that cost was a major concern to potential consumers, making the potential for cost savings over manually driven vehicles a major factor affecting market uptake of AVs. Regarding the cost of AV purchase, the evidence is more mixed. Kyriakidis and colleagues (2015) undertook an online survey that was sent to 5000 respondents across 109 countries. Asking respondents how much extra they would pay for a vehicle with automated systems, they found that: "22% of the respondents did not want to pay more than \$0 [extra] for a fully automated driving system, whereas 5% indicated they would be willing to pay more than \$30,000" (Kyriakidis et al, 2015). Thus, even though the cost of owning or using an AV is likely to affect public opinion, it is unclear how much the public is prepared to pay to use AVs.

Further research:

Further research is needed to investigate the cost of travel linked to AVs under different use scenarios, in particular shared mobility scenarios.

4. Insurance

Introduction

The impact the introduction of AVs is likely to have on the Insurance industry have been widely mentioned in the literature. There is a wide consensus across references that AVs will disrupt the insurance market, as described in this section.

AV disruption of the insurance market

Most authors agree that auto insurance **premiums will decrease as AVs proliferate**. Based on the assumption of reduced crash rates, the literature reviewed predicts a **decrease in drivers' liability**. Ticoll (2015), a research fellow, supports this prediction of lowered costs for drivers. Consultancy company McKinsey (Bertoncello and Wee, 2015) predicts that as human involvement in driving diminishes, the amount of accidents attributable to human error will decrease, with the remaining accidents being considered "technical failure". This is predicted

⁸ Term often used in the USA to describe "a specialized, door-to-door transport service for people with disabilities who are not able to ride fixed-route public transportation" Reference: http://www.amputee-coalition.org/fact_sheets/paratransit.html

to cause a **shift in liability from drivers to manufacturers** (Anderson et al., 2014a). KPMG (2015) highlighted that this development represents a "historic" change in the auto insurance industry. It calls on insurers to adapt a flexible approach to change, diversify their activities, and form strategic partnerships within the industry to survive the simultaneous contraction and reconfiguration of the industry.

Further research

Insurance companies are currently investigating the issues associated with AVs' expected disruption of the insurance market. Further investigation needs to be done to determine the effects of AVs on the insurance industry. Specifically, the literature review shows little research on the effect of shared mobility.

ii. Use of AVs

1. Ownership and Modal Share

Introduction:

The different roll-out scenarios of AVs and their potential impact has been widely discussed in the literature, and various authors highlight the importance of further understanding these possible scenarios. These different scenarios could influence public opinion and affect the short and long-term adoption of AVs, and further eventually they may have a profound impact on our transport systems and on our society. The potential social, societal and behavioural impact of AVs could vary greatly depending on the roll-out scenarios.

Even though different authors might offer different visions regarding potential roll-out scenarios there is some broad consensus, as further described below in this section. Most authors agree that different ownership models are likely to result in different travel patterns and modal shares. The development of different scenarios will depend on different factors which could be greatly influenced by public authorities and other stakeholders.

Roll-out scenarios

The **first scenario**, referred by some authors as the '**business as usual**' scenario or the 'evolution' scenario primarily describes the continuation of current ownership patterns where AVs would replace manually driven vehicles. This scenario is largely supported by conventional Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs). Several authors highlight that in this scenario car use could increase. Consequently other modes of transport, such as collective or active transport, would decrease. This scenario would also lead to unwanted consequences, such as an increase in congestion, environmental pollution or obesity levels. Clark and his colleagues from the University of the West of England, describe this first scenario as:

"Supporting 'business-as-usual', with road transport remaining an essentially private 'owner-user' set of practices, with more cars and traffic resulting from the removal of constraints on who can use vehicles and when. Few vehicles are electric as purchasers must still choose a single vehicle for all likely household journey needs, including occasional longrange trips. In this context congestion, energy consumption and emissions are likely to rise due to demand growth outstripping supply efficiency. Greater physical inactivity would be a potentially growing problem for public health" (Clark et al., 2016a).

Similarly, Fraedrich and colleagues, from Humboldt University of Berlin, stress that this 'evolution' scenario would be led by traditional car makers. They would be in direct competition with players such as Google, who would introduce full automation embedded into an 'all digital' era, where the automobile becomes a moving computer and the focus is less on the hardware but more on the software (Fraedrich et al, 2015). Likewise, in a report written for the city of Toronto, Research Fellow Ticoll⁹, describes this first scenario as primarily 'Ownership Leads' adding: "while various shared and public AV mobility services gain market share, privately owned AVs retains a large presence." (Ticoll, 2015).

As highlighted by a number of authors, this first scenario is undesirable because it could lead to an **increase in car use**. In their paper, Thomopoulos and Givoni (2015), from LSE and Tel Aviv University, highlight the threat posed by what the authors call the 'renaissance of the private car' linked to AVs, which could lead to a new rise of car ownership and car use with and could threaten public transport and alternative modes of transport. As stressed by Fagnant and colleagues from Texas University most scenarios linked to AV use are heading towards: "more vehicle-miles traveled (VMT) and automobile-oriented development" (Fagnant et al., 2015). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies also highlights the risk in private vehicle increase leading to "unfavourable scenarios [...] where the diffusion of automated vehicles would end in spurring private transport demand and the negative externalities related thereto" (Frisoni et al., 2016). As described by some authors, this change might reflect the resilience of the automobile sector and the fact that the attraction and attachment to owning a car, in particular in Western societies, might be enhanced by this technological change (Wells et al., 2015; Fraedrich et al., 2015). As described by Schwanen (2016), from Oxford University:

"The continuing dominance of the privately owned internal combustion engine, the neutralising absorption of car sharing by the car industry and the current enthusiasm over automated cars are reinterpreted as manifestations of automobility's capacity to endure through adaptation and influence over its environment. The socio-spatial inequalities and injustices associated with automobility are likely to persist through change as well."

⁹ from the University of Toronto

As described by many authors, the rise in car use **could lead to a modal shift away from collective transport** (Wadud et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2016a; Wolmar, 2016; Ticoll, 2015). In his study, Guerra, from the University of Pennsylvania, reports on modelling work undertaken by various local authorities in the USA and concludes that as a result of AV uptake, the modal share for public transport is likely to decrease (Guerra, 2015). The risk that an increase in private transport demand would hinder public transport is highlighted in a report commissioned by DG Internal Policies (Frisoni et al., 2016) and by the think tank RAND (Anderson et al, 2014). As stated in Frisoni et al. (2016) "Another potential negative impact is that driverless vehicle technology can distract from investment and capacity building of public transport" (Frisoni et al., 2016). As AVs become increasingly convenient and popular and their cost decreases, an increasing amount of public transport users might switch to AV use and use AVs as an alternative to public transport. As stated by LeVine and Polak from Imperial College: "there is a risk that it [public transport] finds it increasingly difficult to compete with private car use." (LeVine & Polak, 2014). Similarly, a number of authors highlight the fact that active travel, such as walking or cycling, might be negatively impacted by the uptake of AVs.

The **potential negative impact AV uptake** might have on **rail** in particular is highlighted by a number of authors (Enoch, 2015; Brown, 2016; Ticoll, 2015; Wolmar, 2016). As mentioned by LeVine and Polak: "Some experts argue, for instance, that the case for high-speed rail will be substantially weakened by future improvements in automated-car technologies" (LeVine & Polak, 2014). Consultancy company KPMG argue that the potential for decreased congestion linked to AV " could also bring the end to battles over the need for (and cost of) high-speed trains." (KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012). In a study investigating public opinions of AVs, ScicenceWise concludes that members of the public worry that the uptake of AVs will have a detrimental effect on public transport (such as HS2) and will lead to a waste of public resources (ScienceWise, 2014).

The 'Shared mobility' or 'Collective efficiency' Scenario

On the other hand, a number of authors mention that AVs could be deployed following a different scenario, based on **'shared mobility'** and emerging mobility models, which would lead to 'collective efficiency', a decline in car ownership and optimisation of public transport. But some warn that this model might still lead to an increase in car use.

This scenario, called by Clark et al. (2016a) 'collective efficiency', 'On-Demand Leads' by Ticoll (2015) and 'transformation scenario' by Fraedrich et al (2015), would lead to a new mobility paradigm. This scenario would focus on the 'last mile' problem and would integrate AVs with existing collective mobility systems, including mass transit, to offer 'automated mobility on-demand' and 'door-to-door' service. These shared "automated universal taxi system or dial-a-pod" (Enoch, 2015), called by some automated personal rapid transit (one client per vehicle), could also be used in the context of ride-sharing (several clients sharing the vehicle at the same time). This development is likely to be driven by start-ups such as UBER, who would operate as 'automated taxis' or potentially by public authorities to complement public transport systems. The design and the shape of the AVs would vary depending on the needs and context, it could be small pods for instance or larger collective vehicles.

The majority of references state that **new mobility and ownership models are emerging** and that AVs should be thought about and designed to accommodate these models. The models discussed are primarily car-sharing, car-pooling or 'E-Hailing' (Uber model) that are emerging to provide alternatives to car ownership. Several authors argue that trends indicate that shared mobility is on the rise (Enoch, 2015; Fagnant et al, 2015; De Almeida Correia & Van Arem, 2016), and that the uptake of fully automated and connected vehicles could lead to new mobility systems in areas that are sufficiently dense for these systems to be economically viable. In its report on AVs, the International Transport Forum highlights that AVs have the potential to 'reshape individual travel' (International Transport Forum, 2015). In the context of the project CityMobil2, a team of academics from the Sapienza University of Rome, highlight that the benefits derived from AVs will be generated through shared mobility. As stated by the team "The aim [of CityMobil] is to develop a revolutionary vision based on automated collective public transport, automated vehicles for urban freight distribution, and a shift of paradigm, consisting in the decline of car ownership and the rise of purchase of mobility services." (Alessandrini et al., 2015).

According to a number of authors, **automated Personal Rapid Transit** (PRT) could become very popular, in particular for the 'last mile' of the journey (Choromanski et al., 2013; Chebbi et al., 2014; Lowson, 2011; Cepolina et al., 2011). Automated PRT described as providing "ondemand, private transit directly from origin to destination" (De Graaf, 2011) is often called an "automated taxi network (ATN)" (Brownell et al., 2014) and presented as a good alternative to privately owned cars in cities. Yap and colleagues, investigated the potential of automated personal rapid transit and concluded that passengers who usually travel first class would be likely to use personal rapid transit for the last mile of their journey (Yap et al., 2015).

Many references highlight the fact that mobility on demand combined with AVs is likely to change ownership models and lead to a decrease in privately owned cars (Frisoni et al., 2016; Ticoll, 2015; LeVine & Polak, 2014). In one of its reports, Atkins mentions that "Many people are re-thinking their relationship with vehicles, with a move towards access over ownership - particularly among young urbanites." (McCarthy et al., 2015). Fox, from Georgetown University mentions that shared AVs could "help to break the tie between identity and personal automobile ownership" (Fox, 2016). This vision is also shared by the Transport System Catapult which states that: "When travellers can rely on shared automated transport to provide their end-to-end mobility needs, there will be a declining demand for private vehicle ownership" (Wockatz & Schartau; 2015). Professor Begg also mentions that "The great promise of automated cars is not that we could each own one[...] but that no one would need to own one at all" (Begg, 2014). Consultancy company KPMG estimates that car ownership in the USA could be halved with the rise of shared mobility (KPMG, 2013). Fagnant and colleagues, from the University of Texas, undertook a sophisticated modelling of the use of shared automated vehicles (SAV) under various conditions and scenarios (Fagnant et al., 2014 & 2015). The results of their study indicate that shared automated vehicles: "may save 10 times the number of cars needed for self-owned personal-vehicle travel.", and that each SAV could potentially replace 9 manually driven vehicles (Fagnant et al., 2014). Similarly, a team based at MIT investigated shared mobility in Singapore and their modelling work suggest that: "a

shared-vehicle mobility solution can meet the personal mobility needs of the entire population with a fleet whose size is approximately 1/3 of the total number of passenger vehicles currently in operation." (Spieser et al., 2014). Schoettle and Sivak from the University of Michigan come up to similar results (Schoettle & Sivak, 2015). Finally professor Begg, stresses that "if mobility and accessibility are to be maintained" it is essential to maintain the 'modal shift away from car' (Begg, 2014).

The potential shared automated vehicles have in **optimising transport networks** is highlighted by several authors (Enoch, 2015; Pendleton et al., 2014; Fatnassi et al., 2014). In the context of the CityMobil2 project, Alessandrini and colleagues modelled the use of SAV and suggest that shared AV systems have the potential to optimise the transport system, in particular if it is run by public authorities to ensure integration with public transport (Alessandrini et al., 2014 & 2015). The positive impact AVs could have on the network performance was also highlighted by Lam and colleagues from Hong Kong University: "Our results show that ride sharing can effectively lower the operational cost and an increase of the vehicular capacity can further enhance the system performance" (Lam et al., 2014). In their modelling study Zhang and colleagues from Stanford University estimate that the demand for taxis in Manhattan, New York "can be met with about 8,000 robotic vehicles (roughly 70% of the size of the current taxi fleet), while the case study of Singapore suggests that an AMoD [Automated Mobility on Demand] system can meet the personal mobility need of the entire population of Singapore with a number of robotic vehicles that is less than 40% of the current number of passenger vehicles." (Zhang et al., 2016).

By decreasing car ownership and optimising the transport system shared AVs could bring about a range of **positive outcomes** (Anderson et al, 2014a; Alessandrini et al., 2015; De Almeida Correia & Van Arem, 2016). This could lead to reduced congestion and, providing AVs are electric or low emissions vehicles, this scenario could also lead to a decrease in emissions. Clark and colleagues also highlight that under this scenario: "Significant areas of city centres and residential areas are freed from parking land uses and pedestrianisation spreads to reduce the operating complexity of AV systems and encourage physical activity and to balance the reduction of pedestrian freedom in some other streets used by AVs" Clark et al (2016a). The American Institute of Architects, highlights the potential SAV have in improving walkability (McDonald, 2011). Therefore, an SAV system as described by Fagnant et al. (2014; 2015) could have beneficial environmental impacts if it reduces the number of vehicles in use. Howard and Dai from Berkeley University state: "Shared driverless cars or self-driving taxis have the greatest potential environmental benefits and their adoption should be particularly targeted" (Howard and Dai, 2013).

According to a number of authors, this second scenario is **more desirable than the first scenario**, in particular at the local level, and will lead to less unwanted consequences, such as urban sprawl (Bansal et al, 2016). Ticoll (2015) strongly recommends the city of Toronto to actively plan for this scenario. As stated by Thomopoulos and Givoni: "A change where public and sharing will be seen as superior to private and individual transport, could make the automated car a blessing" and provide an opportunity to 'de-privatise car use' (Thomopoulos and Givoni, 2015). Discussing the outcomes of the European project CityMobil2, Alessandrini

et al. (2015) conclude that: "The expected positive impacts derive from the development of car sharing" (Alessandrini et al., 2015). Therefore, many authors recommend supporting the development of shared mobility as it is expected to generate positive outcomes and could discourage the use of privately owned vehicles.

The potential of automation used for public transport and the potential shared AVs have in complementing public transport, was mentioned by a number of authors (Benmimou et al., 2009; Aoki, 2004; Clerget et al., 2001; Alessandrini et al., 2015). In his 2014 report on London, Professor Begg highlights the potential full automation and connectivity have in improving the bus network by optimising it and how it could ultimately make the bus systems cheaper to operate and to use (Begg, 2014). A number of authors highlight the potential automated shared mobility have in complementing existing public/collective transport systems, in particular for the last mile of the journey. For instance, SAVs could provide efficient and flexible services in between rush hours (where large buses might not be needed/as efficient for instance) (Alessandrini et al, 2014). Professor Begg also highlights the potential on-demand pods have to fill the gaps left by certain public transport systems (such as lack of frequency or reliability) (Begg, 2014). In their 2015 paper Owczarzak et al (2015), from Poznan University, discuss the possible uses of AVs for public transport, potentially in the context of public transport on demand. Based on their modelling exercise for the city of Poznan in Poland (1 million inhabitants), they conclude that a combination of traditional public transport (such as buses) and public AVs could be extremely efficient in particular regarding travel time and cost of travel (Owczarzak et al., 2015). Lam et al. (2014) also argue that if automated ride sharing is used as a mode of public transport it could 'enhance the system performance'. AVs could also present an opportunity to improve paratransit systems, used to provide mobility service to persons who are less able to drive such as disabled or elderly (Anderson et al., 2014a). Therefore, a number of authors have mentioned that shared AV systems could complement public transport, in particular in urban areas.

Even though the 'Shared mobility' scenario is more desirable than the first scenario described, a number of authors warn that even in the best case scenario it is possible that shared AVs might become more popular than conventional public transport or rail and could lead to a decline of those services. In his paper, Enoch describes a possible scenario where shared automated taxis, 'dial a pod' and other AVs start to replace 'traditional modes' such as buses, cars and conventional taxis, as these new modes are "better able to meet user needs" (Enoch, 2015). Fagnant and colleagues (2015) mention the possibility that the rail freight sector might be impacted by the rise in road freight linked to AV (Fagnant et al, 2015). As highlighted in a report commissioned by DG Internal Policies (Frisoni et al., 2016): "Users that would typically take transit may switch to shared automated vehicles if they are significantly more convenient at a comparable price. This may cause transit to be starved of ridership, resulting in lower cost recovery of transit infrastructure, and eventually reduction of services or increases in fares, both of which will perpetuate loss of users to AVs" (Frisoni et al., 2016). Finally, a number of authors highlight that it is of course possible that these different scenarios could complement each other or exist in parallel, but the impact each scenario is likely to differ radically (Fraedrich et al., 2015; Ticoll, 2015).

The realisation of the **different scenarios described above depend on many factors**. The most important variables are the regulatory and policy environment and market uptake based on customer preferences (Wadud et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2016a). Howard and Dai, from Berkeley University, conclude that AV's will enter the market and: "How we choose to implement this technology will make the difference, and that largely depends on the views of political and market actors" (Howard and Dai, 2013). As further discussed in this literature review the impact AVs are likely to have on our societies largely depends on which scenarios are being implemented and supported (Wadud et al., 2016). Public policies and regulation implemented at different levels will have a significant impact on the development of future scenarios (Wadud et al., 2016; Fox, 2016)

"Whether the AV locks us further in or out of the 'car based society' depends on the choices we make as a society, not solely on a specific technological development." Thomopoulos and Givoni (2015)

Further research:

The potential impact different uptake scenarios might have on modal share, in particular on the use of public transport and walking, needs to be further understood and researched, in particular through modelling work. Furthermore, additional questions remain regarding the practicality of establishing shared AV systems, including forecasts of market penetration, system design, implementation and operation. Finally, it is important to further understand to what extent public authorities should invest/support automated mobility on demand systems.

2. Freight

Introduction

The impact of automation on road freight operations is reviewed in this section. It is a topic that does not appear to have been widely discussed in the literature.

Delivery Optimisation

Several authors state that **CAVs have the potential to optimise goods delivery**. As described by Le Vine and Polak, from Imperial College, "Groceries ordered online, for instance, could be picked up by a 'personal service vehicle' and delivered to one's home when most convenient for the customer, rather than when a delivery van and driver happen to be available" (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Cho and colleagues envision a more advanced shift, consisting of "an unmanned delivery service using a cooperative heterogeneous unmanned system consisting of a self-driving car and an unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV)" (Cho et al., 2014). Thus, connected AVs, potentially in combination with other modes of transport, could improve the delivery of goods.

Freight Optimisation

Many authors agreed that **AVs have the potential to revolutionize the freight and logistics industries**. The European-funded CityMobil project investigated the use of CAVs for **urban freight** and highlighted its potential to optimize that system (Alessandrini et al., 2015). Automated **trucks** were the focus of a Carnegie Mellon University study, finding that the "logistics industry will be positively impacted, as by then, automated trucks could work 24/7 and achieve maximized efficiency." (DiClemente et al., 2014). Hospodka et al (2015) also highlighted the potential economic benefits derived from using road AVs for freight. Chatti (2011) specifically names **seaport operations** as being fertile ground for optimization, with automated trucks allowing for greater efficiencies in distribution. This **integrated, connected operation throughout the value chain would create opportunities to optimize complex logistics systems**.

Further research:

Further research should be done in this field to understand the shape that an integrated automated freight and delivery system could take. Automated factories, trucks, and aerial vehicles could all play a part in the supply chain of the future.

3. Driver's interaction with AVs

Introduction

The literature discussing drivers' interaction with AVs, a topic often referred to as 'humanmachine cooperation' or 'human factors', describes the interaction between human and semiautomated vehicles (usually level 3 or 4 automation). In this section we present a summary of the literature discussing various aspects of human-machine interface, in particular driver reengagement issues in partially automated AVs and in-car driving skills and experience.

Hand-over/Human Driver reengagement issues

Hand-over or human driver reengagement issues are frequently mentioned in the literature on AVs and have been relatively well studied. Even though AVs have the potential to improve drivers' performance (Funke et al, 2008) hand-over issues might pose serious safety risks. Hand-over or driver reengagement situations occur when highly automated vehicles suddenly require the driver to resume driving. These situations are most likely to happen in level 3 or 4 automation where the driver would still be required behind the wheel in cases of emergency but would not have to attend to the roadway. Several authors have investigated driver's levels of awareness and capacity to regain control of the vehicle and perform driving tasks in case of semi-automated vehicles. The general consensus is that the more a driver is engaged in non-driving tasks (e.g. reading a book), the less aware and ready to resume manual control of the vehicle the driver becomes (Merat et al., 2012a & 2012b; De Winter et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2014a; Harbluk et al., 2014; Shen et al., 2014; Begg, 2014; Wolmar, 2016). The challenge this may pose is summarised by think tank RAND: "To experience the greatest benefits of the technology, human drivers will need to be able to engage in other tasks while the vehicle is driving automatedly. For safety, however, they will need to quickly reengage (in a matter of seconds or less) at the vehicle's request. Cognitive science research on distracted driving suggests this may be a significant safety challenge. Similarly, developing the appropriate mental models for human-machine collaboration may be a challenge for a technology widely available to the public." (Anderson et al., 2014a). Merat and colleagues, from University of Leeds, have undertaken extensive work on this issue and conclude that the risks arise when the driver's attention is "diverted to the distracting secondary task", such as watching a movie (Merat et al., 2012a & 2012b). This may pose substantial safety risks if automation fails and the driver needs to suddenly regain control of the vehicle. Some indicate that this risk is **judged as unacceptable by potential users** (Harbluk et al., 2014). Therefore, even though engaging in non-driving tasks is one of AV's main selling points, substantial safety risks remain unresolved linked to a driver's reengagement.

The need to further understand and prevent safety risks linked to drivers' reengagement with their AVs was highlighted by several authors (Wagner et al, 2014; Merat et al., 2012a & 2012b). As summarised by Merat and colleagues: "Designers, policy makers, and researchers must give careful consideration to what role the person should have in highly automated vehicles and how to support the driver if the driver is to be responsible for vehicle control" (Merat et al., 2012a). The importance of designing solutions to maintain driver's engagement and awareness, and to inform AV drivers of their duty to resume control was highlighted by several authors (Neubauer et al., 2012; Merat et al., 2012a & 2012b; Merat et al., 2014a & 2014b). A report produced by think tank RAND, stresses common OEM executives' concerns: "about how to alert a driver that he or she needs to take control back of an AV, perhaps in a matter of seconds. " (Anderson et al., 2014a). Example of solutions to prevent these issues are briefly mentioned, in particular driver training, such as 'intelligent tutoring systems', and the need for public agencies to adapt driving tests (Brown, 2016; Beggiato et al., 2015). However, solutions to address driver reengagement issues remain underresearched and should be further addressed in order to prevent safety risks.

> In-car driving skills and experience

A number of authors have highlighted that **improved convenience and comfort are expected for AV users and drivers**, in particular in cases of fully automated vehicles (LeVine and Polak, 2014; Bierstedt, 2014; Wagner et al, 2014). Frequently mentioned benefits of using or driving AVs, range from the ability to engage in non-driving tasks, such as working or being entertained, to reduced stress whilst driving. However, these assumptions have been questioned by several authors who argue that these claims need to be taken with caution.

A claim frequently mentioned in support of AVs is the fact that they are likely to **improve productivity** as AV users would be able to work whilst travelling. However, several studies have **questioned this assumption**. In their paper, Clark and colleagues (2016b), from the University of the West of England, report contrasting findings related to in car behaviour 'expectations'. On the one hand, they refer to the Howard and Dai (2014) study that surveyed potential users and found that multi-tasking is one of the most attractive aspect of AVs, on the

other, they report that in their survey, Schoettle and Sivak (2014) found that over 40% of people surveyed expected to continue staring at the road. Schoettle and Sivak's findings are shared by Cyganski and colleagues, who surveyed¹⁰ 1000 participants to examine their views on timeuse whilst travelling in AVs. Based on the results of their survey, the authors conclude that "Perceived benefits with respect to time use were mainly **window gazing and relaxing**" and "the underlying assumption of people wanting to spend their time 'productively' while traveling, if only they could, has to be regarded with caution." (Cyganski et al., 2014). Therefore, survey results contradict assumptions that AV users will automatically desire to multi-task, including working, whilst using AVs and this might not lead to an increase in productivity.

One element that might prevent AV users from engaging with certain activities whilst driving, is **potential motion sickness**. Diels and colleagues, from Coventry University, are amongst the few authors who have undertaken rigorous research regarding this issue. They conclude that "all envisaged scenarios are predicted to increase the risk of motion sickness" linked to AV use (Diels, 2014). As stressed by the authors, motion sickness issues could negatively affect public perception and consequently market uptake (Diels at al., 2015). They stress the need for AV design to address and prevent potential motion sickness issues and conclude that "basic perceptual mechanisms need to be considered in the design process whereby self-driving cars cannot simply be thought of as living rooms, offices, or entertainment venues on wheels" (Diels et al., 2016). Motion sickness issues related to AVs seem to be under-researched, yet their implication on AV use could be significant.

The potential for **reduced travel stress** is often mentioned as one of the main elements for improved convenience and comfort of using AVs (DiClemente et al., 2014; Cottrell & Barton, 2013) however, no evidence is provided to back up those claims. Cottrell and Barton, from University of Idaho, state that "Evidence indicates that automation is likely to decrease mental workload and stress, therefore producing a more positive set of emotional responses." (Cottrell & Barton, 2013). However, another piece of research suggests that **platooning could increase drivers' stress** levels. Zheng and colleagues, from University of Tokyo, assessed driver's stress levels in the context of platooning and reported that mental stress increased as the distance between the driver's vehicle and the vehicle in front decreased. In the context of their studies, the authors found that platooning "corresponded to significantly higher ride discomfort according to subjective reports." (Zheng et al., 2015). Thus, even though AVs have the potential to decrease stress associated with driving, platooning might increase stress levels.

Another topic frequently discussed linked to the driver's interaction with AVs, is the **driver's attachment to manual driving** and the risk this could pose to AV adoption. Based on the results of their online survey¹¹, Kyriakidis and colleagues, conclude that "respondents, on average, found **manual driving the most enjoyable mode of driving**" (Kyriakidis et al, 2015). Several studies and authors highlighted that members of the public who enjoy driving could be reluctant to using an AV (ScienceWise, 2015; Brown, 2016; Morris et al., 2015). In their study

¹⁰ Participants were interviewed through an online survey

¹¹ The online survey was sent to 5000 persons from 109 countries

on public perception, Howard and Dai (2013) report that car owners who enjoy driving are more likely to want to retain control over their vehicle. This finding is also highlighted by Begg who states that one of the key challenges posed by AVs is the "Resistance of individuals to forfeit control of their cars" (Begg, 2014). This reluctance could also be caused by a 'perceived loss of freedom' associated with the use of AVs (Enoch, 2015). Therefore, drivers' attachment to manual driving and potential reluctance to drive an AV could affect market uptake of those vehicles.

The **vehicle design** has also been discussed linked to the driver's interaction with AVs. Most authors highlight the fact that the vehicle design is likely to change to reflect the vehicle's new functions and role, set to be increasingly removed from the experience of driving a car (KPMG, 2013). In one of its articles, the Economist emphasises the potential change in customers' behaviour and expectation, highlighting the fact that future AV consumers "might be more interested in the software services the car has to offer than the hardware aspect of the car" and that this is likely to alter the design of vehicles (The economist, 2016). An interesting body of research has looked at the potential anthropomorphism features have in improving the driver's trust in AV. For instance, giving the AV human characteristics, such as a human voice, or enabling AVs to 'express emotions', following human models, could increase trust levels in those vehicles (Riaz et al., 2015; Fraedrich et al, 2015). Thus, new vehicle design, including anthropomorphism features, is likely to emerge to reflect the new purpose of the vehicle.

Further Research:

Some of the key research questions related to drivers' reengagement issues are: Under what conditions to allow AV users to engage in non-driving tasks in cases of semi-automation? What solutions, such as training, should be implemented to keep the driver engaged and maintain/adapt driving skills?

Further research is needed to better understand drivers' behaviour whilst in AVs. Questions such as to what extent will drivers be able to/want to work whilst in AVs? Could motion sickness issues prevent most drivers from engaging in non-driving tasks? To what extent will AVs reduce drivers' stress? Finally, additional research is needed to understand whether driver's attachment to driving can affect AV adoption.

4. AVs' interaction with other road users

Introduction:

This section summarises the literature on interactions between AVs and other road users. It starts by describing issues related to interactions between AVs and conventional car drivers in the context of mixed-traffic. It then discusses interactions between AVs and other road users in urban areas, in particular with cyclists and pedestrians.
Interactions between AVs and car drivers

Several authors have pointed out the fact that a range of **uncertainties remain about how AVs will interact with manually driven vehicles and vice-versa, in "mixed-traffic" situations** (Brown, 2016; Fagnant et al, 2015; Fraedrich et al, 2015). Le Vine and Polak, from Imperial College, describe the "Challenges of a dual-operation road network (some vehicles in automated operation, some under control of human drivers)" as a potential safety problem linked to the introduction of AVs (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). The potential difficulty in managing mixed driving scenarios where AVs and non AVs share the road was highlighted by several authors.

One of the safety issues most frequently mentioned is the fact that human drivers could be influenced by AVs platooning and this might induce an unsafe change of behaviours. Gouy and colleagues investigated the impact AV platooning could have on non AV drivers. Their study indicates that non AV drivers might be negatively influenced by platooning. Their findings indicate that non AV drivers may be more likely to reduce the safety distance between their vehicle and the vehicle in front and conclude that "The results of this study point out the importance of examining possibly negative behavioural effects of mixed traffic on [...] car drivers" (Gouy et al., 2014). Similar concerns were raised by expert participants during a workshop held by the Institution of Engineering and Technology in 2016 (Brown, 2016). Thus the introduction of AVs in mixed traffic situations could negatively influence the driving behaviour of human drivers, leading to potential road safety issues.

AVs' interaction with cyclists and pedestrians

Similarly, technical and behavioural questions regarding the interactions between AVs and other road users in urban areas, in particular pedestrian and cyclists, were discussed by several authors (Parkin et al., 2016; Le Vine & Polak, 2014). In a literature review written in the context of the UK project Venturer, Parkin and colleagues list key technical issues related to AV's interactions with pedestrians and cyclists, including: "the ability to detect and avoid cyclists taking paths through a junction which conflict with the automated vehicle's path, and the ability of automated vehicles to sense and respond to human gestures" (Parkin et al, 2016). The authors also mention that issues related to interactions with other road users will depend on the type of 'use scenario' in place, for instance whether AVs operate in a fully segregated network or whether they are used in a shared space. Writing for London Essays, John Adams, Emeritus Professor of Geography at UCL, highlights the fact that road users' behaviour is likely to change once AVs become widespread and wonders to what extent will AVs be able to share the road with other users such as pedestrians or cyclists (Adams, 2015). Parkin and colleagues also mention that the literature related to this topic remains limited (Parkin et al, 2016). Yet, should AVs share the road with other users, in particular in urban areas, it will be key to further understand the potential changes this will generate.

Several authors have mentioned that improved road safety linked to the introduction of AVs could **boost pedestrians' and cyclists' confidence and could encourage people to walk or cycle**. In the context of the CityMobil 2 project, Alessandrini and colleagues argue that thanks

to the use of AVs "pedestrians and cyclists would be more confident that the cars were being driven correctly" (Alessandrini et al., 2015). Likewise, in a report focusing on London, Prof Begg emphasises the potential AVs have to make cycling and walking safer and to further encourage these modes of transport (Begg, 2014). However, Parkin and colleagues state that pedestrians and cyclists' perception of increased safety around AVs will depend on how AV are programmed vis-a-vis the gap between a vehicle and a cyclist (i.e. if the gap programmed is too close, pedestrians or cyclists might not feel safe). Thus, AVs have the potential to improve pedestrians' and cyclists' experience on the road providing they are adequately programmed.

However, pedestrians and cyclists' behaviour change linked to the introduction of AVs could end up negatively affecting traffic flow in urban areas. UCL's Emeritus Professor John Adams posits that at best pedestrians and cyclists are likely to reclaim the roads or at worst take advantage of the new system, expecting that AVs will automatically stop or slow down in the interest of safety (Adams, 2015). Adams stresses that the shift of power dynamics between cyclists, pedestrians, and automated vehicles (compared to conventional vehicles) could slow or potentially disturb traffic flow. As stated by Adams: "Pedestrians would no longer cower at the roadside trying to judge whether gaps in the traffic could see them safely to the other side. They would be liberated to stride confidently into the road, knowing that traffic would stop for them" (Adams, 2015). Addressing this potential issue, Le Vine and Polak, from Imperial College, mention that "Driving in cities would be unacceptably slow if automatedly-operating cars were required to assume that every pedestrian might jump into traffic as fast as humanly possible", implying that AVs will have to be programmed to anticipate these issues and make some compromises on safety (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Therefore, some potentially complex behavioural changes might be generated by the introduction of AVs, and require to be addressed to anticipate potential safety and/or traffic flow issues.

Further Research:

Further research, in particular modelling work, is needed to examine how AVs will interact with other road users, in particular car drivers, pedestrians and cyclists, under different 'use scenarios', including in urban areas. Could these interactions lead to unsafe situations? Could it negatively affect traffic? A long list of detailed research questions has been developed by Parkin et al (2016) in the context of the UK project Venturer.

5. Market Uptake

Introduction:

Even though in the majority of the references reviewed authors were confident that AVs will be developed and adopted, a number of authors have warned that there are barriers to AV

market uptake. This section focuses on the opportunities and challenges related to market uptake & penetration in Western countries and in the Global South.

AVs market uptake & potential market failure in Western countries

An overwhelming majority of references reviewed regard the successfully development of AV technology as not a question of "if" but simply "when". A large online public opinion survey undertaken by Kyriakidis and colleagues, from Delft University of Technology, concludes that"69% of respondents estimated that fully automated driving will reach a 50% market share between now and 2050" (Kyriakidis et al, 2015). Growing investments in research and development by technology companies and more recently by major car manufacturers indicate that interest in AVs is increasing. Furthermore, recent changes in regulations are likely to accelerate the development and potential market uptake of AVs. In the USA, a growing number of states are following the footsteps of Nevada (the first state to authorise the operation of AVs in 2011), allowing the testing and operation of AVs on their roads. In 2016 several EU countries have successfully lobbied the United Nations¹² to amend the 1968 Vienna Convention on Road Traffic to allow a vehicle to drive automatedly providing a person is able to take back control of the driving at any time. This has been interpreted by some as a sign that European automobile manufacturers are ready to penetrate the market¹³. Thus, little doubt remains that the technology will be developed and introduced in Western countries.

However, several authors note that a number of obstacles could prevent AV market uptake. The barriers most frequently mentioned are the initial high cost of AVs, liability issues, lack of business plan, and (lack of) consumer demand (Fagnant et al., 2015; Clark et al., 2016b). As stated by Masoud and colleagues, from Cranfield University, "The high price and the consequent low demand may translate to less motivation for the automobile industry to move toward mass production, and it could take decades for the market to reach equilibrium." (Masoud et al., 2016). Think tank RAND also mention that "Absent sufficient demand, economies of scale and network effects will not reduce the marginal cost and the technology might wither" (Anderson et al., 2014a). Regarding liability issues, Le Vine and Polak¹⁴, draw a parallel between vehicle manufacturers reluctance to invest in AV Research and Development in the event of frequent lawsuits following a car accident, to pharmaceutical companies unwillingness to invest in a vaccination before the Vaccine Damage Payment Scheme¹⁵ was established in the late 1970s (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Think tank RAND emphasises the risk of market failure linked to the uncertainty of AVs business model and the fact that AV systems might be too expensive for wide adoption (Anderson et al., 2014a). The difficulty of predicting consumer demand for AVs could also present a risk for wide AV uptake, as stated by consultancy company KPMG : "Ultimately, the shape of the automotive

¹² More precisely the <u>Working Party on Road Traffic Safety</u>

¹³ References: Reuters, Cars could drive themselves sooner than expected after European push, May 2014. URL: http://www.reuters.com/article/us-daimler-autonomous-driving-idUSKBN0DZ0UV20140519

¹⁴ From Imperial College

¹⁵ Introduced in 1979 by the UK government the scheme allows people who have been "severely disabled as a result of a vaccination against certain diseases, [...] get a one-off tax-free payment of £120,000." URL: https://www.gov.uk/vaccine-damage-payment/overview

future will depend on customers - their needs, preferences, fears and their pocketbooks" (KPMG, 2013).

Potential **solutions to ensure wide market penetration** were discussed. Certain authors, such as think tank RAND stress the potential **shared AVs** have in overcoming some of these obstacles, in particular affordability concerns (Anderson et al., 2014a). In their report, Clark and colleagues highlight the "importance of government leadership, support from powerful professional bodies and positive public perceptions as necessary (but not sufficient) conditions for new innovations to achieve significant market share" (Clark et al, 2016a). Therefore, shared AVs and the support of public authorities and key stakeholders could encourage AV market uptake.

Mass market penetration and socioeconomic impact

The potential socioeconomic impact of mass AV market penetration was debated in the literature. The general consensus is that for the AV industry to thrive, mass adoption is desirable, however, it is unclear what socioeconomic impact this may have. On the one hand certain authors, such as Fagnant and colleagues, from the University of Texas, argue that **the higher the market penetration is, the more positive the socioeconomic outcomes are likely to be** (Fagnant et al, 2015), such as cost of travel. On the other hand, Clark and colleagues **question whether a "commercially-viable market model for the production and adoption of AVs" would also be "socioeconomically desirable" if it leads to unwanted side effects such as, unemployment, congestion or increased car use. Le Vine and Polak conclude by stating that: "Policy will need to balance supporting private sector innovation and protecting the public welfare" (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Thus, it is unclear whether mass AV market penetration will automatically lead to desirable socioeconomic impacts.**

Market uptake in non-Western countries

Some authors questioned whether AVs could be successfully commercialised outside of Western countries. On the one hand, certain authors argue that AVs are unlikely to be popular and suited to other parts of the world, in particular across the Global South. Le Vine and Polak quote Professor Urry¹⁶ who suggested that: "automated cars may end up as a 'First World solution...not likely to be widespread throughout most of the world'", primarily due to their high cost (Le Vine and Polak, 2014). Furthermore, cultural and regional factors, such as dense mixed traffic conditions, might not be conducive to AV use (Brombacher, 2014; Young et al., 2014).

On the other hand, think tank RAND argues that **AV technology could allow countries in the Global South to accelerate transport technology uptake**: "Countries with limited existing vehicle infrastructure could "leapfrog" to AV technology. Just as mobile phones allowed developing countries to skip the development of expensive landline infrastructure, AV technology might permit countries to skip some aspects of conventional, human-driver centered travel infrastructure" (Anderson et al., 2014a). Therefore, though AVs may present an

¹⁶ John Urry was a Professor at Lancaster University

opportunity for these countries, doubts remain regarding the affordability and the suitability of the technology.

Further research:

Further research is necessary to examine whether mass AV market penetration will lead to desirable socioeconomic outcomes or not. Similarly, it is important to understand to what extent negative externalities linked to the use of AVs could lead to a market failure. Further understanding the opportunities and challenges of introducing AVs in non-Western countries is needed.

iii. Consequences/Wider impacts

1. Traffic Flow

Introduction

The potential impact AVs might have on congestion has been frequently discussed in the literature. A number of references, particularly consultancy reports, stress AVs' potential in reducing congestion as one of the main advantages of AVs' uptake. However, this assumption is partially refuted by a number of authors and institutions. The potential impact AVs might have on traffic flow is not straightforward and depends on a number of variables. Further understanding the potential impact AVs might have on congestion is key, as it is one of the main selling point for the uptake of AVs and could determine consumer and public acceptance.

Potential increase in Travel Demand and in VKT

The majority of the references who discussed congestion and AVs – in particular academic studies - highlight the fact that **mass AV uptake could lead to increased travel demand and consequently a rise in Vehicle Kilometres Travelled** (Brown, 2016; Fox, 2016; Guerra, 2015; Bierstedt et al., 2014; LeVine & Polak, 2014; Fagnant et al., 2013). This scenario could in turn lead to increased congestion (Wadud et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2016a & 2016b, Anderson et al., 2014a; Brown, 2016; Smith, 2012; Begg, 2014). This hypothesis is based on several assumptions.

The first assumption is that under highly automated scenarios (level 4 or 5) **'non-drivers' would want to use AVs for their travel**. The 'non-drivers' group describes part of the population that does not have a driving license or does not drive, such as under-age persons, persons with disability, or persons who do not feel confident enough to drive (such as elder persons). Professor Smith from Stanford University estimates that this section of the population represents more than 30% of USA citizens (Smith, 2012).

The second assumption that could explain an increase in travel demand linked to AVs is the potential **rise in popularity and convenience of AVs**. In his report investigating AVs in London, Professor Begg highlights the fact that the introduction of AVs could increase car use because AVs have the potential to become very attractive and a growing percentage of the population might rely on their use for travel (Begg, 2014). In their report, RAND, a USA think tank, highlight the fact that the decreased cost of driving in the case of a shared economy scenario mixed with the increase in AV popularity due to convenience, is likely to increase travel demand and VKT (Anderson et al., 2014a). LeVine and Polak from Imperial college London state: "it may reasonably be surmised that technology that makes it easier to move about by car will serve to stimulate its use" (LeVine & Polak, 2014).

Certain academic authors such as Guerra (2015), who reports on modelling work undertaken by various local authorities in the USA, have estimated that the increase in VKT could range from 5% to 20% in the USA (Bierstedt et al., 2014; Guerra, 2015). As summarised by consultancy company Fehr & Peers:

"improved driver experience and the availability of robo-chauffering for those who would otherwise not be permitted to drive may increase VKT per capita as much as 35%, off-setting much of the efficiency gain" (Bierstedt et al., 2014)

Even though increased VKT does not necessarily lead to increased congestion, a number of authors mention that **it could well generate more congestion and associated negative impacts** (Wadud et al., 2016; Clark et al, 2016a; Anderson et al, 2014a; Smith, 2012; Begg, 2014). As highlighted by Smith and Fagnant and colleagues, for AVs to improve traffic flow, demand management strategies will have to be implemented at an early stage (Smith, 2012; Fagnant, 2015).

Potential to increase Highway Capacity

On the other hand, the **potential for AVs to increase highway capacity under certain scenarios** was highlighted by a number of authors and institutions. There is a general consensus amongst authors that AVs could optimise road transport networks, in particular providing the majority of the vehicles on the roads follow the following scenarios:

- 1. Full automation is reached
- 2. Vehicle to Vehicle and Vehicle to Infrastructure communications technology is widespread
- 3. Shared mobility is mainstream

Full automation and connectedness of the vehicles (V2V and V2I communication network) are key to optimise traffic flow as highlighted by a number of authors (Fagnant et al., 2015; Ticoll, 2015; LeVine & Polak, 2014; Smith, 2012; Wagner et al., 2014; Begg, 2014). As LeVine and Polak highlight: "coordination between automated vehicles could enable more sophisticated driving styles and greatly reduced traffic congestion" (LeVine & Polak, 2014). The potential to increase highway capacity, would be partly enabled thanks to vehicles' capacity in traveling closer to each other and in using 'traffic-smoothing algorithms' (Fagnant et al., 2015). Fagnant and colleagues from Texas University, also highlight that for optimum

results, the system would have to be fully connected and: "implementation of cloud-based systems and city or region-wide coordinated vehicle-routing paradigms and protocols" will need to be in place (Fagnant et al., 2015).

However, a number of authors point out that these benefits only apply providing the **AV penetration rate is high**, and the majority of the vehicles on the road are fully automated and connected AVs. Indeed, as mentioned by some, a 'mixed mode' scenario where fully automated vehicles share the road with manually driven vehicles might not lead to substantial optimisation of the traffic flow (Fagnant et al., 2015).

The widespread use of fully automated vehicles has the potential to considerably reduce road accidents, which affect congestion. As stated by DiClemente and colleagues from Carnegie Mellon University: "delays and congestion as a result of crashes will possibly be eliminated due to low crash rate" (DiClemente et al., 2014). Consultancy company Fehr and Peers estimates that these benefits would only materialise post 2035 once those vehicles have been widely adopted (Bierstedt et al., 2014). In one of its reports KPMG mention that the potential for highway optimisation related to AVs is particularly high in the case of dedicated highway lanes (KPMG, 2013).

The potential for automated vehicles use in the context of **shared mobility systems** (ride sharing and car sharing) to optimise traffic flow was highlighted by many authors (McCarthy et al.,2015; De Almeida Correia & Van Arem, 2016; McKinsey, 2015; Bansal et al, 2016). The potential for improved traffic flow in the context of automated public transport, such as buses, was highlighted by several authors such as LeVine and Polak who state: "automation may be able to deliver increased passenger throughput far beyond the people-moving capacity of private cars, even automated cars" (LeVine & Polak, 2014).

However, as stressed by some academics such as Çolak and colleagues from MIT and De Almeida Correia and Van Arem from Delft, optimising the network does not automatically lead to a decrease in congestion. Çolak and colleagues warn that even though highly automated and connected AVs could improve congestion, even "in the best case scenario, time savings would be imperceptible for the majority of the drivers" (Çolak et al., 2016). In their study, De Almeida Correia and Van Arem (2016) model a shared AV network in Delft, the Netherland to assess the impact on congestion. They conclude that shared AVs have the potential to optimise the network, but could increase congestion slightly if car use increases.

Further research

Further modelling work is needed to ascertain the net impact AVs could have on traffic depending on different scenarios. Furthermore, limited research has been undertaken to assess the potential impact AVs could have in cities, where the roads will be shared with a range of other users. Could it improve traffic flow or could it slow it down?

2. Economy and Employment

Introduction

The use of automated vehicles has the potential to impact the economy and employment levels. In this section we review the written material which has discussed these topics and highlight the need for further research in this field.

Impact of AVs on the economy and employment

The potential positive economic impact AVs, in particular CAVs, could generate has been mentioned by several authors. Consultancy companies such as KPMG or Atkins highlight the economic gains CAVs could produce; as stated by Atkins the uptake of CAVs could: "generate £51bn benefit per year by 2030" in the USA (McCarthy et al., 2015). However, these assumptions do not appear to be supported by detailed evidence. Fagnant and colleagues from the University of Texas, estimate that in the USA each AV could save circa 2000 dollars if "crash savings, travel time reduction, fuel efficiency and parking benefits" are taken into account. However, their calculations assume that travel time and fuel efficiency is improved which, as discussed in this report, is by no means certain. Furthermore, their study does not take into account a number of potential additional side-effects - for instance negative impact on employment or on health – as discussed in this section below. In a report published by the city of Toronto, Ticoll, a research fellow, estimates that in the context of shared mobility scenarios: "were AVs to be at a 90% adoption rate in Toronto today, the result would be annual savings of \$6 billion, or 4% of the City's \$150 billion gross domestic product" (Ticoll, 2015). However, Ticoll only takes into account the positive impact AVs might have (such as reducing road accidents) but does not include potential negativities, such as increased VTM, job loss, urban sprawl, or health issues linked to inactivity. Therefore, even though several authors have highlighted the positive impact AVs might have on the economy, in particular linked to safety improvements, insufficient detailed data and comprehensive analysis make current estimates unreliable.

A few authors have mentioned the potential for AV industry and AVs use to generate employment. Atkins states that "CAVs could create 320,000 additional jobs in the UK by 2030" (McCarthy et al., 2015) but insufficient details and evidence is provided to back up this data. A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies highlights the potential CAVs have for creating jobs "in the automotive, technology, telecommunication and freight transport industry" (Frisoni et al., 2016). Enoch (2015) from Loughborough University also mentions notes that "electronics manufacturer employee" might benefit from the deployment of AVs. Therefore, even though CAVs could create new employment opportunities, limited data is provided to assess the levels of employment CAVs could generate.

On the other hand, many authors have stressed the **negative impact vehicle automation could have on employment**. In cases of self-driving vehicles (level 4 or 5 automation) professional drivers could become unnecessary. As stated by think tank RAND "it is likely that AV technology will eventually lead to the loss of commercial transportation sector jobs at

considerable human cost. Ultimately, the lost jobs might be replaced by others, perhaps related to the AV industry, but there may be considerable economic disruption" (Anderson et al., 2014a). EU data suggests that close to 2.4 million employees work for the road freight sector¹⁷, their employment could be affected should the presence of a professional driver become unnecessary (Frisoni et al., 2016). A team of researchers from Carnegie Mellon University acknowledge that AVs might replace millions of professional drivers; they estimate that in the USA, professional taxi, truck and water transportation drivers represent over 2 million people (DiClemente et al., 2014). Furthermore, a number of authors mentioned the risks trade union resistance would pose to the deployment of the technology and the importance of anticipating and addressing these issues (Enoch, 2015; Fagnant, 2015; DiClemente et al., 2014).

In addition to professional drivers, a range of economic sectors might be negatively affected by the uptake of AVs. The insurance industry is likely to experience significant disruption as highlighted by several authors. Think tank RAND report that "American consumers spend approximately \$157 billion in automobile insurance premiums every year" (Anderson et al., 2014a), and if premiums become unnecessary as AVs become safer, the insurance sector could be profoundly affected. Consultancy company KMPG estimates that "within 25 years [...] the personal auto insurance could shrink to 40 percent of current size" (KPMG, 2015). Other economic and employment sectors that depend "on the current auto-mobility system", as described by Le Vine and Polak from Imperial College (2014), are likely to be disrupted too. This could include automobile repair centers/garages, the retail industry, jobs in the health sector previously associated with automobile accidents, such as specialised health practitioners, but also lawyers, and the parking industry (DiClemente et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2014a; LeVine & Polak, 2014; Begg 2014). Public sector revenues could also be impacted in cities, should parking become unnecessary and 'traffic violations' decrease (Ticoll, 2015). Thus, a range of economic sectors, in the private and in the public sphere, might be negatively impacted by the uptake of AVs.

A number of authors have also highlighted the **risk automated vehicle uptake might pose to traditional vehicle manufacturers** (Ticoll, 2015). The development of automated vehicles, in parallel with the rise in shared mobility, challenge the conventional vehicle manufacturers' business model. As summarised by the Economist: "Incumbent manufacturers are recognising the double threat posed by technology, as car-sharing takes off and driverless vehicles come closer" (Economist, 2016). The business model might change from a system based on customers interested in buying a car as a "status symbol and expression of personal style" to clients who are more interested in software and in-car entertainments (Ibid). The risk highlighted by several authors, is that technology firms such as Google will dominate the market. However, an increasing number of OEMs, such as Ford, are investing in these new market opportunities and are already teaming up with technology firms. One question remains, as put by the Economist: "Will the sign on the dashboard say Ford (powered by Google) or Google (powered by Ford)" (Ibid).

¹⁷ "in the 23 member states for which data are available" (Frisoni et al., 2016)

The need to **adapt and anticipate likely changes in employment generated by AVs** was mentioned by several authors. Fox, from Georgetown University argues that shared AVs should be encouraged provided all side effects are prevented or anticipated, such as loss of employment, she states: "Planning for the possible loss of employment for hundreds of people will be a crucial step toward adoption of driverless cars for any city" (Fox, 2016). The need for the education system to adapt to these new changes was mentioned. As stated by Docksai in the Futurist: "[people's] employability will depend on education systems becoming as adaptable as possible to incorporate vital new skills and deemphasize ones that no longer hold much relevance" (Docksai, 2013). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies also stresses that: "education and training will have a crucial role either to train professional drivers and to prepare the new generations to work in a more technological society where new professions might replace ones that might no longer be needed" (Frisoni et al., 2016). Thus, anticipating and adapting to potential impact on employment, through training and education, might be necessary.

The need to **further assess the impact AVs might have on the economy** has been highlighted by several authors and institutions. **Comprehensive and thorough cost-benefit analysis** and other appraisal methods are needed to understand the potential economic impacts different 'AV uptake' scenarios might have. It is particularly important as the public could be sensitive to unemployment and inequality issues generated by AVs (Sciencewise, 2015). DiClemente and colleagues from Carnegie Mellon University, stress the importance of undertaking a costbenefit analysis of AV introduction: " before making any attempts to take regulatory decision" (DiClemente et al., 2014). Wagner and colleagues, from Texas University, highlight that the 'economic case for AVs' is unclear and call for a 'robust and comprehensive cost-benefit analysis' (Wagner et al, 2014). The need to further understand the potential impact AVs will have on the economy was also highlighted in a report written by the OECD stating: "Economic impacts too will be important and it will be necessary to gauge these impacts in a common cost-benefit framework with other transport investments when assessing public expenditure on supporting infrastructure or services." (International Transport Forum, 2015). Further research is necessary to assess the potential economic implications of automated vehicles.

Further Research:

Further research is necessary to assess the potential impact vehicle automation could have on employment, in particular since it could be a public concern. Questions such as "How many jobs directly and indirectly related to AVs, across sectors, could be at risk? Comprehensive and thorough cost-benefit analysis, including all potential side-effects and impact, is also urgently needed.

3. Land Use

Introduction

Authors writing on AVs see two major shifts in land use patterns arising from AVs. First, most authors predict a drastic reduction in land used for parking, particularly under a scenario where the use of shared vehicles is high. This would come about as vehicles would serve many customers, and would not need to park for a large amount of the day. Second, most authors expect that AVs will result in an increase in urban sprawl. As road systems become more efficient, and travel time becomes more comfortable and less demanding, people might be encouraged to travel farther distances on a regular basis.

Parking in Urban Areas

Many sources highlighted the idea that the **uptake of AVs is likely to reduce the need for parking in cities** (Frisoni et al., 2016; Fagnant et al., 2015; Anderson et al., 2014a). These authors all explored AVs' potential to reduce parking needs in the context of shared AVs. The academic team leading the CityMobil2 European project observe that once a journey is completed, shared AVs would move on to serve another passenger without the need to park (Alessandrini et al., 2015). They argue that this reduced requirement for parking space would "free public space, which can be used to improve livability of urban environments with requalification of public spaces for pedestrians, bicycles " (Alessandrini et al., 2015). A team from Carnegie Mellon University also agreed that AVs would reduce the need for urban parking space, allowing for an increase in public space (DiClemente et al., 2014). Zhang et al. (2015) attempted to quantify these space savings; they used an agent-based simulation model to determine the effects of different shared AV schemes. They found that for a minimum market penetration of 2%, shared AVs could "eliminate up to 90% of parking demand for clients who adopt the system" (Zhang et al., 2015). They also note that extent and spatial distribution of the parking reduction will depend on the operation strategies and client preferences.

This **optimistic viewpoint**, **wherein freed-up parking space is used to create more vibrant**, **livable cities**, **is challenged** by Professor Begg (2014), who questions whether this newfound space will "be used to accommodate more vehicles or will it free movement space to create more "living" or people space?". This question is both a policy question – what will planners decide to do with redundant parking space – and a question of the effect of AVs on travel demand. As discussed in the Ownership and Modal Share section, the increased efficiency of AV-dominated roads may cause such an increase in travel demand that the space and capacity that they free up are reabsorbed to accommodate this demand.

Increased Sprawl

Several authors (Frisoni et al., 2016; Anderson et al., 2014a; Bansal et al, 2016) discuss the **potential impact AV might have on land use, highlighting the risk of increased urban sprawl.** As summarised by RAND "Just as the rise of the automobile led to the emergence of suburbs and exurbs, so the introduction of AVs could lead to more dispersed and low-density patterns of land use surrounding metropolitan regions." (Anderson et al., 2014a). Fox (2016) warns that if AVs encourage greater urban sprawl, a number of negative consequences could result, including worsening environmental issues associated with increased energy use, and the loss of recent gains for smart growth urbanism. This view of a renewed flight from cities was

echoed by participants of a workshop organized by the Institution of Engineering and Technology in 2016, who predicted a "return to the country-side" (Brown, 2016). Thomopoulos and Givoni (2015) take a less deterministic view of AV technology, noting that it "can have an important role in either sprawled or compact development, but building up on current use and experience with the private car, they will more likely contribute to sprawl and its effect on, for example, increasing per capita energy consumption by private passenger transport" (Thomopoulos and Givoni, 2015). Concerns about the potential for sprawl seem to be present in the public as well: in their study investigating public perception of AVs, ScienceWise conclude that members of the public have concerns that the use of AVs will generate increased urban sprawl (ScienceWise, 2015).

"Just as the rise of the automobile led to the emergence of suburbs and exurbs, so the introduction of AVs could lead to more dispersed and lowdensity patterns of land use surrounding metropolitan regions." Automated vehicle technology: How to best realize its social benefits (Anderson et al., 2014a)

Shaping Future Land Use

Several authors also note the role of regulation or the law to curtail the negative effects of AVs on land use patterns. Smith (2012) cautions against AVs' potential to increase urban sprawl, and calls for the law to prevent this. Measures proposed by Smith include road pricing to better internalize the cost of travel, and limiting suburban growth through land use measures. Fox (2016) calls for congestion pricing to deter long commutes, and for investment in mass transit to promote dense urban developments.

"My conclusion is that automated vehicles have great potential. But we must not allow them to shape our cities in the way the internal combustion engine was allowed to in the last century. In the 19th century, rail led to a concentration of population in city areas. In the 20th, the effect of the internal combustion engine was the opposite: high car ownership led to dispersal, seen at its most extreme in US cities. It will not be good for the economy or the environment if automated vehicles lead to lower density cities or higher car use." A 2050 vision for London: what are the implications of driverless transport? (Begg, 2014)

Further research:

To what extent could shared mobility scenarios save parking spaces in cities? How will the freed space be used?

To what extent could AV use increase urban sprawl? How to might one prevent this development?

4. Ethics

Introduction:

Results of this investigation suggest that ethical issues related to AVs have not been thoroughly addressed in the literature, yet AVs are being programmed to make ethical choices which could soon have real consequences. Ethical implications linked to AV use could have a significant impact on the way those vehicles are perceived by the public. This section summarises some of the key ethical debates mentioned in the literature.

Ethical considerations with AV programming

Authors who have discussed ethics linked to AVs acknowledge that **programming those** vehicles to make ethical choices in case of unavoidable accidents is complex, yet unavoidable (Coeckelbergh, 2014; Goodall, 2014). An example frequently given is: should the vehicle be confronted by two options 1) hitting a child who has run into the road or 2) veering to the side to avoid the child but hitting and elderly person instead, what should the vehicle be programmed to do? As stated by Bonnefon and colleagues: " Defining the algorithms that will help AVs make these moral decisions is a formidable challenge." (Bonnefon et al., 2016).

Protecting the drivers at all costs?

Some of the most problematic ethical issues that need to be urgently addressed is to what extent should/could AVs prioritise the safety of their occupants to the cost of other individual's safety and should AV owners be permitted to choose? (Fagnant et al., 2015). In a study based in the USA, Bonnefon and colleagues interviewed a range of participants to address these issues. Their findings indicate contradictory results. On the one hand results suggest that most participants "approved of utilitarian AVs (that sacrifice their passengers for the greater good)", on the other hand participants stated that they would themselves prefer to buy a vehicle that protects them 'at all costs'. Participants did not think that utilitarian AVs should be mandatory. Sandberg and Heather suggest a controversial proposal "To avoid the unacceptable removal of moral choices from human users of these technologies, we could program the vehicles to act in accordance with different moral theories and allow their owners to select their preferred behaviour" (Sandberg & Bradshaw-Martin, 2015). Thus, complex programming decisions in cases of accidents have serious ethical implications.

Call for an ethical debate

The seriousness of these issues and the potential impact it could have on public perception has led several authors to **call for an ethical debate to take place** (Frisoni et al., 2016; Bonnefon et al., 2016). As stated by Bonnefon and colleagues: "Manufacturers and regulators will need to accomplish three potentially incompatible objectives: being consistent, not causing public outrage, and not discouraging buyers" a combination which could cause 'moral inconsistencies' (Bonnefon et al., 2016). Bonnefon and colleagues argue that regulators have a role to play to

ensure that the 'greater good' is prioritised in the programming of the vehicle but acknowledge that this might affect buyer's attitudes. Consequently, several authors highlight the need for an ethical debate to address these difficult issues.

Further research:

Further research and debate is necessary to identity and discuss the various ethical dilemmas arising with AV programming and to establish moral codes or guidance to programme these vehicles.

Two of the most important research questions are summarised by Fagnant and colleagues: " to what degree should AVs prioritize minimizing injuries to their occupants, versus other crash-involved parties? And should owners be allowed to adjust such settings?" (Fagnant et al, 2015).

5. Energy and Environment

Introduction:

This section discusses the potential energy and environmental impact AVs could have under different scenarios. This topic has been relatively well addressed in the literature but as described below, findings differ.

CAVs have the potential to decrease energy consumption and pollution generated by road transport

The potential AVs, and it particular CAVs, have to decrease energy consumption and pollution, was mentioned by several authors. A range of possible improvements which could enable "optimal energy utilisation and minimal emissions" (Begg, 2014) were frequently mentioned. As summarised by Wadud and colleagues, who have written one of the most comprehensive studies on these issues: "automated vehicles may enable the adoption of energy-saving driving practices, and facilitate changes in the design of individual vehicles or the transportation system as a whole that enable reductions in energy intensity" (Wadud et al., 2016). AVs could be programmed to drive in an energy or eco-friendly way leading to less energy consumption and emissions production (McCarthy et al., 2015). Changes in vehicle design could include using lighter, less energy demanding materials for building the vehicles, since vehicles are less likely to crash; this would allow energy saving gains (KPMG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012). But Prof Begg notes that this change would only occur under high AV penetration scenarios, once all manually driven vehicles have been phased out of the highway (Begg, 2014). In the context of connected AVs, all vehicles could be programmed to platoon. According to Zhao and colleagues this could lead to up to 10% reduction in fuel consumption (Zhao et al., 2013). CAVs, through synchronised driving and optimised routing, could also lead to "smoother traffic flows, greatly reducing stop-and-start conditions and hence reducing noise and emissions on a per vehicle-mile basis", as stated by Le Vine and Polak

(2014). CAVs also have the potential to reduce considerable time and energy spent driving around looking for parking spaces (Fagnant et al., 2015). Under high penetration scenarios, AVs could eliminate the need for street lighting at night reducing energy use (KMPG & Center for Automotive Research, 2012). Thus, a range of energy and emission saving improvements could be facilitated thanks to AVs, in particular through CAVs and under high AV penetration rates.

Potential energy and emission saving improvements through CAVs & high AV penetration rates	Potential outputs
Energy-saving driving practices (i.e. eco- driving)	Energy efficient driving
Changes in the design of vehicles, such as lighter vehicles	Energy efficient vehicles
Optimisation of the transportation system, in particular platooning, synchronised driving and optimised routing	Smoother Traffic flow
Reduced need to search for parking space	Reduced energy consumption
Reduced need for street lighting at night	Energy efficient Infrastructures

Table Annex 2 Potential Energy and Emission Savings thanks to CAVs

The impact on energy consumption and pollution will depend on AV adoption and use 'scenarios'

However, as highlighted by several authors, **potential energy and environmental improvements are likely to depend on AV adoption and use 'scenarios'** (Anderson et al., 2014a, International Transport Forum 2015). The various scenarios are further described in the section on ownership and modal share.

As stressed by several authors, the 'Business as usual scenario' might outweigh the potential environmental and energy benefits of AVs. In Wadud and colleague's study (2016 modelling techniques were used to analyse the potential impact AVs could have on energy consumption and emission reduction under different scenarios. Their findings suggest that under the 'business as usual' scenario (see section on ownership and modal share), the potential energy and environmental benefits of AV use might be limited. As stressed by the authors, if AV use becomes extremely popular, travel demand by car could increase (potentially affecting rail and mass transit use) and "These travel demand and energy intensity related changes would have large total energy and carbon implications" (Wadud et al., 2016). In their study, Fagnant and colleagues, from the University of Texas, acknowledge that AV systems might contribute to increased VKT which might lead to other problems "such as increased emissions, greater gasoline consumption and oil dependence" (Fagnant et al., 2015). Other variables will determine energy and emission savings, such as vehicle speed; if AVs allow vehicles to drive

faster as driving becomes safer, fuel consumption might increase. Thus, the gains road automation could bring could be outweighed if travel demand, speed and VKT increase (Wadud et al., 2016; Brown et al., 2014; Clark et al, 2016a).

On the other hand, a number of authors note that **CAVs used under 'shared mobility scenarios' could generate energy and environmental benefits**. Based on their modelling study, Fagnant and colleagues (2014) conclude that an automated shared collective taxi system could reduce the number of vehicles in use and therefore fuel consumption and emissions. Greenblatt and colleagues (2015) investigate the potential of automated shared electric taxis in reducing Green House Gas (GHG) emissions and conclude that despite increased VKT, automated shared electric taxis have the potential to significantly reduce GHG emissions. The authors also highlight that further emissions reductions could be achieved if taxis were used in the context of ride-sharing (more than one passenger sharing a vehicle). Thomopoulos and Givoni also acknowledge that "Using AVs to boost car sharing has the potential to reduce environmental impacts" (Thomopoulos and Givoni, 2015). Therefore, under the 'collective mobility scenario' where shared mobility has become mainstream, and all vehicles are CAVs, AVs could lead to a reduction in energy consumption and in emissions.

However, Wadud and colleagues warn that even in the best scenario there is a **risk that energy consumption and emissions could increase as a result of increased travel demand and VKT, possibly leading to a decrease in mass transit and rail use** (Smith, 2012). The authors highlight that there is a need to: "Identify opportunities **to support and guide an environmentally beneficial transition toward vehicle automation**" (Wadud et al., 2016).

Furthermore, the energy and environmental impacts AVs are likely to generate will depend on whether AVs are low or zero emission vehicles or not (Owczarzak et al., 2015). There are uncertainties in the literature regarding the source of energy AVs will use (ScienceWise, 2014). A team of academics from Carnegie Mellon University argue that the use of AVs could increase the uptake of electric vehicles since AVs could recharge 'themselves by driving to energy stations whilst not in use'. As stated by the authors: "A lighter and efficient automated car that potentially drives itself to refuelling areas would permit a viable system of electric and other alternative fuels with fewer refuelling stations than would otherwise be required" (DiClemente et al., 2014). This argument is also shared by the team of scientists leading the CityMobil project in Europe (Alessandrini et al., 2015). However, the assumption that AVs will be automatically low emission vehicles (Brown, 2015) has been debated in the literature. In their report, Clark and colleagues (2016) mention under the 'business as usual' scenario, if AVs replace conventional privately owned cars, vehicles owners are likely to choose non electric vehicles to ensure that potential long distance trips can be done. This argument is also shared by researcher Ticoll (2015) who wrote a report commissioned by the city of Toronto. Thus, the fuel choices for the use of AVs are likely to depend on the various AV adoption scenarios described above.

Further research:

The impact AV use is likely to have on energy and emission consumption is unclear. Further research is needed to ascertain – and better quantify - the various assumptions and hypotheses mentioned in this section, in particular:

- To what extent could AVs contribute to energy and emission reduction under which use scenario?
- Similarly, under which scenario could AV use lead to an increase in vehicle emission and energy consumption?
- To what extent AVs have the potential to be low emission vehicles?

6. Road safety

Introduction

Road safety was the most mentioned topic in the literature review. The vast majority of authors discussing road safety highlighted AVs' potential to greatly decrease the number of accidents, and consider improved road safety to be among the chief benefits of AVs. The main controversy stems not from AVs' ability to improve road safety, but the extent of the improvement. While many studies predict a near-complete reduction on road accidents, other studies take a more moderate view. Understanding AVs' effect on road safety is a key issue; it is one of the major predicted benefits of automation, and is also an important factor in the public acceptability of AVs.

Reducing Human Error

In relation to road safety a great number of authors refer to one statistic: 'Over 90% of all accidents are caused by human error' (Smiley & Brookhuis, 1987). Fox highlights the importance of AVs' road safety benefits, stating that they will be 'lifesaving' (Fox, 2016). These articles seem to imply that 90% of road accidents could be eliminated, if human error could be eliminated. However, the OECD point out that improvements to road safety remain "untested at a large scale and may not be immediate or linear" (International Transport Forum, 2015), indicating that substantial safety improvements may only be achieved with widespread deployment of stage 4 or 5 AVs.

A number of authors question this common perception of extremely effective accident reduction, highlighting the fact that further research is needed to assess the safety of AVs (Bierstedt et al., 2014). Wagner and colleagues from Texas University (2014) also moderate the widespread road safety optimism, highlighting the fact that AVs will fail in preventing some accidents, and will have some system failure, but that they will generally be much safer than manually driven vehicles.

The academic leaders of the CityMobil2 project discussed road safety, believing that the widespread estimates of 90% reduction in accidents are likely to be too optimistic, estimating

the real figures to be closer to 40% (Alessandrini et al., 2014). DG Internal Policies point out in their report that "the effective safety performance of automated systems has yet to be demonstrated and several technical challenges still need to be addressed, and little evidence is available on the potential emergence of new risky situations", and recommends a "thorough assessment" of AV deployment's effect on road safety (Frisoni et al., 2016).

Fagnant and colleagues (2015) describe one of the main hurdles in improving road safety: recognizing objects on the road is currently better performed by a human being than by a machine. This remains one of the most complex safety issues to solve for AV systems, along with sensors not being able to cope with poor weather conditions. Wolmar (2016) also highlights the technological challenges associated with deploying AVs in mixed traffic, presenting skepticism of the widely accepted benchmark of AV deployment in the next four years.

Public Acceptability and Road Safety

Public perceptions also highlight the importance of AVs' ability to make the road safer. Ipsos Mori found in a study in the UK that the majority of participants indicated safety improvements were an important issue (Ipsos MORI, 2014). In their study, ScienceWise (2014) conclude that the public has safety concerns, especially concerns over mixed automated driving where drivers might have to take back control. One risk of the widespread, extreme optimism of AV safety is that it may create unrealistic expectations. The need for the public to accept that there will be accidents with automated vehicles was mentioned as a key element of public acceptability by some participants of a workshop held by the Institution of Engineering and Technology in 2016 (Brown, 2016). Proving AVs' ability to make the roads safer, is an important component to paving the way for public acceptability.

"Therefore we believe that a thorough assessment of safety implications of automated systems – including pilot tests and implementations – should be conducted in order to estimate their likely effects on traffic accidents' frequency and severity, and identify potential risks from improper human behaviour." (Frisoni et al., 2016)

Further research:

In relation to safety, the most pressing need is to ensure that there is enough research undertaken in relation to the driver's reengagement with the vehicle, as this is likely to be the most problematic issue related to safety. To what extent are manufacturers addressing this issue? To what extent should the government further support Research and Development in this field?

7. Physical Activity

Introduction

The potential effect of AVs on physical activity, and by extension public health, is not widely addressed in the literature. The few authors who have addressed this topic, such as McCarthy et al. (2015) highlight that the impact AVs might have on physical activity are not sufficiently understood.

The popularity of AVs could negatively affect people's health

Most publications were concerned that **AVs would cause people to spend more time in their vehicles and consequently less time being physically active**. Clark and colleagues, from the University of the West of England, state that: "Greater physical inactivity would be a potentially growing problem for public health" (Clark et al., 2016a). AVs might lead to an increase in vehicle-miles travelled, which might in turn lead to lack of physical activity and increased obesity rates (Fagnant et al., 2015). They additionally point out that these health issues are not easily mitigated. Thomopoulos and Givoni concur, speculating that AVs may become more popular than public transport and active travel. This decreased level of physical activity increases the risk of adverse health impacts (Thomopoulos & Givoni, 2015).

Furthermore, consultancy company Fehrs and Peers highlight **additional health risks** associated with long amounts of time spent in AVs, stating: "Just sitting in the driving position for long periods of time can cause muscle cramps, back pain and lead to long - term spinal disc degradation" (Bierstedt et al., 2014).

Further research:

Changes in physical activity due to AVs is an under-researched area with wide-ranging public health impacts. Further research on this issue is related to AVs' effect on mode share: will the mass use of AVs reduce the share of walking, cycling, and public transportation use?

8. Accessibility and Equity

Introduction:

Accessibility and equity issues linked to AVs have not been widely addressed in the literature. Yet it is likely that the introduction of AVs could have an impact on both of these aspects. This section summarises the discussions found in the literature regarding these topics.

Accessibility

A number of authors have stressed the **potential AVs have to improve accessibility for a range of people.** Many authors report that the use of AVs could enable **elder persons, disabled and non-drivers,** such as underage children, to become more mobile (Fagnant et al., 2015; Ticoll, 2015). AVs could offer people with restricted mobility increased flexibility and **independence** (Bohm, 2015; Begg, 2014). As stated by consultancy company Atkins, the use of CAVs could "increase mobility options and travel horizons for large sections of the population, resulting in increased economic, social and wellbeing opportunities" (McCarthy et al., 2015). Furthermore, Alessandrini and colleagues (2015), argue that shared AVs have the potential to improve accessibility for people living in areas that are not well connected to collective transport. As stated by the authors, shared AVs "are considered useful in the transport mix as they can supply good transport service (individual or collective) **in areas of low or dispersed demand, complementing the main public transport network**" (Alessandrini et al., 2015). Thus, AVs, and in particular shared AVs, have the potential to better connect people who live in areas that are not well connected to collective transport networks.

However, several authors have pointed out that these assumptions need to be examined with caution. First, limited research has studied the level of social acceptance, desire and capability to use AVs amongst these potential users. OEM executives interviewed in the context of a study conducted by RAND highlight their concerns "about how a 'senior' driver was going to interact with complicated new technology" (Anderson et al., 2014a). Second, Wagner and colleagues stress the fact that elder persons, disabled and non-drivers might be the last persons to benefit from AVs. Indeed, the technology will have to be completely safe and fully automated before these users can benefit from it which is unlikely to happen in the short and medium term. Thus, there is insufficient evidence to prove that these potential users will be able to, and will want to, use AVs and it is unlikely that they will benefit from this technology in the short term.

Potential impact of AVs on Accessibility and Equity			
Opportunities	Limitations		
CAVs could improve accessibility and independence for elder persons, disabled and non-drivers, in particular children, and	Social acceptance, desire and capability to use AVs amongst these users is under- researched and uncertain		
people who live in areas that are not well connected to collective transport	These users might be the last one to benefit from AVs because of safety standards requirements		
Shared mobility could be affordable for many users	The initial high cost of AVs will restrict this vehicle to the wealthier and this could increase inequity issues		

Table Annex 3 Potential impact of AVs on Accessibility and Equity

Equity issues

Moreover, some question the extent to which groups of the population with accessibility restriction will be able to afford the use of AVs and whether the introduction of AVs could

affect equity. On the one hand, a number of authors, such as Enoch (2015), mention that certain groups of the population, including the elderly, mobility impaired, young, poor and ethnic minorities, are usually the last group to benefit from the introduction of a new technology, often for financial reasons. Consultancy company Fehr and Peers highlight the fact that since the cost of AV will be initially high **their use might be restricted to wealthy users** (Bierstedt et al., 2014). Likewise, a report commissioned by DG Internal Policies note that: "With the initial introduction of automated vehicles, it is anticipated that the wealthy will be able to afford this technology before lower socio-economic segments of the population" (Frisoni et al., 2016). Thus, social inequity issues could be generated by the introduction of AVs, separating those who can afford to used AVs and those who cannot (Thomopoulos & Givoni, 2015). On the other hand, some argue that **shared mobility could allow a large number of people to have access to the technology** (McCarthy et al., 2015) and could end up reducing costs of using community transport (para-transit) (Beggs, 2014).

Further research:

Further research is needed to investigate the likely interactions between certain groups of the population, such as older people, and AVs. Similarly, potential social acceptance issues amongst these potential users need to be further studied. Will **elder persons, disabled and non-drivers,** such as underage children, have the capacity to use these vehicles? Will they want to/feel comfortable in using a vehicle without a driver? To what extent do AVs have the potential to improve the life of non-drivers, in particular the elderly and the disabled? Begg (2014) also wonders: "If automated cars come to supplement bus services, should public transport authorities get into the business of operating them?"

Further research is also needed to better understand the potential social inequity issues the uptake of AVs might generate. Will the uptake of AVs widen inequity? Or, on the contrary, will it improve accessibility for all through shared mobility?

iv. Stakeholders' awareness & attitudes

Introduction:

Public acceptability and public opinion has been widely discussed in the literature on AVs. It is clear that it has the potential to impact the technological development and the roll-out of AVs. Therefore, it is crucial to assess public perceptions regarding this new technological development. A number of institutions have undertaken surveys to assess public opinion. This section summarises the main findings and highlights gaps in the literature and limitations of the methods used.

Key results:

• Interest levels in AV technology

The different surveys that have attempted to assess the public's interest and perception of AVs offer contradictory results. On the one hand, a number of surveys find that **the majority of the population surveyed show limited interest and enthusiasm for AVs and would be reluctant to use an AV**. In one survey undertaken in the UK by Ipsos Mori, results indicate that "Only 18 per cent of Britons believe driverless cars to be an important development for the car industry to focus on" (Ipsos MORI, 2014). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies refer to the results of a Eurobarometer survey undertaken in 2015 that suggests that over 60% of respondents stated that they would not feel comfortable traveling in an automated car (Frisoni et al., 2016). In a survey undertaken in the USA by Schoettle and Sivak, from Michigan University, results indicate that the majority of the 500 drivers interviewed showed high concerns about driving in a driverless vehicle (Schoettle & Sivak, 2015). Similarly, in an online survey undertaken by McKinsey in 2015 - assessing 3,184 car owners' reactions to AVs in the USA, China and Germany - only 61% of the respondents favour legalising vehicles with automated functions (McKinsey, 2015).

On other hand, **some surveys suggest that a large percentage of the population would be willing to use AVs**. In the context of the CityMobil European project, an AV shuttle was trialled in la Rochelle where over 250 users where interviewed. Alessandrini and colleagues report that 'responses where very positive' and level of acceptance was high (Alessandrini et al., 2011). These results are significant as this is one of the few studies that have investigated 'real users' perception and not just 'potential users'. An online survey undertaken by Insurance.com in 2014 in the USA asked 2000 vehicle users whether they would consider buying a 'car with automated capabilities'. The majority of the participants showed interest and said they would consider buying such a vehicle, in particular when told that insurance prices would be reduced. Therefore, further research is necessary to assess and monitor the public's interest in AV technology.

One of the findings consistent across different surveys is that **men are more likely to be interested in AVs** compared to women, in particular men who live urban areas (Kyriakidis et al., 2015; Ipsos MORI, 2014; Schoettle & Sivak, 2014). In one survey undertaken in the UK, Ipsos Mori indicate that "23% of men see it [AVs] as important compared to only 13% of women" (Ipsos MORI, 2014). In the context of the European project CityMobil, Alessandrini and colleagues highlight that overall males showed a relatively higher interest in automated systems (Alessandrini et al., 2014). Similarly, results of a survey undertaken in Austin, USA, by Bansal and colleagues, from the University of Texas, indicate that males living in dense urban areas, in particular tech-savy and high income earners, showed a higher interest in AVs and were more likely to use shared AVs (Bansal et al., 2016). However, none of the studies highlighting these differences of perception between males and females have investigated the reasons.

Similarly, certain survey results indicate that **elder people are less likely to show an interest in AV** technology compared to younger individuals (Kyriakidis et al., 2015). In their study in the UK, Ipsos MORI conclude that: "Older people (aged 55+) are less likely to embrace it than

the youngest group (aged 16 - 24) – half (50%) of those aged 55 plus think it is unimportant compared to under a third of youngsters (30%)" (Ipsos MORI, 2014). Bansal and colleagues (University of Texas) suggest that older drivers might be less willing to use AVs as they might be concerned about how to use the technology and more reluctant to give up driving (Bansal et al, 2016). Therefore, as indicated by a number of surveys, younger males between the age of 20 and 40 are more likely to enjoy AV technology compared to those aged 55 plus.

Certain survey results seem to suggest **that public perception of AVs varies from one geographical area to another**. One study undertaken by KPMG found that "Californians were significantly more open to self-driving from the start" compared to inhabitants from Chicago (KPMG, 2013). This statement was shared by Kyriakidis and colleagues from Delft University who also mention that Californians seem to be more likely to use AVs compare to inhabitants of other USA states and that similar differences were observed between different countries; for instance, the authors highlight that some results suggest that Chinese and Germans could be more willing to adopt the technology compared to Japanese (Kyriakidis et al., 2015). These results suggest that public opinion varies from one geographical location to another depending on cultural and other contextual factors.

The **attachment to car driving** has been mentioned by some as a potential explanation for the reluctance to embrace AVs. Based on their survey results, Ipsos Mori suggest that individuals who enjoy driving are less likely to embrace AVs compared to those who are 'not driving enthusiasts' (Ipsos MORI, 2014). In a survey focusing on drivers in the USA, Schoettle and Sivak from the University of Michigan, find that most respondents prefer to retain manual control of their vehicle whenever they wish and express high concerns about driving in a driverless vehicle (Schoettle & Sivak, 2015). This contradicts results found by consultancy company KPMG who undertook a focus group in the USA and whose results indicate that even drivers attached to driving would be willing to use self-driving cars (KPMG, 2013). However, KPMG's focus group targeted a limited sample of the USA population. Therefore, the most reliable studies that have investigated drivers' attachment to driving suggest that those who are enthusiastic about driving are less likely to be interested in AV technology.

Participants' interest in using/buying AVs	More likely to be interested in AVs
Gender	Men
Age	Young people
Inhabitat	Urban dwellers
Geographical location	California
Attachment to driving	People who enjoy driving
Personality	Technology enthusiast

Table Annex 4 Assessing participants' interest in using/buying AVs – What survey results suggest

• Importance of safety, security and trust

The majority of studies indicate that the potential for **safety** improvements with AV technology is **one of the main 'selling points' or benefits** according to potential users or buyers. In a survey undertaken by Ipsos Mori in the UK, the majority of the participants indicated that safety improvements linked to AVs were more important compared to 'freeing up driver time' or 'infotainment' for instance (Ipsos MORI, 2014). Likewise, in a study conducted by Schoettle and Sivak from Michigan university, 1596 participants were surveyed in the UK, USA and Australia, over 80% of participants stated safety as the highest benefit from the use of AV (Schoettle and Sivak, 2014). Results from Howard and Dai's survey (from Berkeley University) confirm these findings. In their survey Howard and Dai interviewed 107 'likely adopters' of AV to assess public perception of AVs in Berkeley. Their results indicate that participants are most attracted by the technology for the "potential safety benefits" (Howard and Dai, 2013). Thus, the safety benefits of AVs represent one of the most important advantages of AVs.

On the other hand, results across many surveys suggest that **safety concerns** related to AVs are high amongst participants. In the context of the CityMobil trial in la Rochelle, Alessandrini and colleagues undertook a survey investigating users' opinion based on their experience of using an AV shuttle. Results suggest that many users were still concerned about safety, even after having used an AV vehicle (Alessandrini et al., 2011). In a survey undertaken by students in Worcester Polytechnic Institute, Massachusetts, out of 467 interviewees the study reports that over 80% respondents indicated that safety would be the most important factor affecting their decision to buy AVs and that participants were most concerned with potential safety issues (Casley et al., 2013). A number of authors (Enoch, 2015; LeVine & Polak, 2014; Frisoni et al., 2016) mention that safety issues and perception of safety linked to AVs are likely to influence public acceptability and determine market uptake. Le Vine and Polak from Imperial College,

highlight the importance of a safe deployment of the technology as a priority above a rapid deployment to ensure that the public does not reject the technology. As summarised by Le Vine and Polak: "The worst possible outcome would be a major incident (or series of incidents) that discredits vehicle automation and stops commercialisation, leaving the efficiency and safety gains as merely prospective for many years to come. Preventing such a turn of events is far more important than the pace of deployment" (Le Vine & Polak, 2014). Thus, one of the main concerns related to AVs is the link to potential lack of safety of these vehicles.

The safety issues referred to by participants seem to be mostly related to **potential software malfunction** whilst the vehicle is in motion (KPMG, 2013; Kyriakidis et al., 2015; Schoettle & Sivak, 2014). In their internet-based survey undertaken in Austin, Bansal and colleagues, from University of Texas, indicate that out of 347 participants surveyed 50% were concerned with AVs 'equipment or system failure' (Bansal et al, 2016). Similar results were found by Howard and Dai (2013), from Berkeley University, in their survey targeting Berkeley's residents. A study undertaken by the Motor Vehicle Safety in Canada conducted safety pilot tests with participants in cases of level 3 or 4 automation and conclude that the public needs to be further involved when **testing safety aspects of AVs** to assess reactions and expectations, as stated in the report: "Results highlight the importance of including real users in safety assessments to gain a more accurate understanding of the consequences of vehicle system failures." (Harbluk et al., 2014). Therefore, potential software failure seems to be the most concerning issue related to AV's safety.

Several surveys indicate that another cause for concern amongst participants are potential **cybersecurity** issues related to AVs (Frisoni et al., 2016; McKinsey, 2015; Kyriakidis et al., 2015). Kyriakidis and colleagues, from Delft University, report on the results of an internetbased survey sent to 5000 participants across more than 100 countries. The authors highlight that survey respondents, in particular in Western Countries, are concerned with "software hacking and misuse' (Kyriakidis et al., 2015). Likewise, consultancy company McKinsey highlight that 'cyber security of connected cars' is one of the issues most frequently mentioned by interviewees (McKinsey, 2015). Thus, certain surveys report that a high percentage of participants worry about potential cybersecurity issues related to AVs.

The importance of **trust in AVs** was highlighted by a number of authors (Verberne et al., 2012; Choi et al., 2015) as it is likely to be a determining factor in the use of AVs (Choi et al., 2015). Results of an online survey undertaken by Insurance.com in the USA indicate that out of 2000 vehicle users surveyed, 70% of the respondents said 'they would not trust a driverless car to take their children to school' (Insurance.com, 2014). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies stress the importance of address the public's main concerns – in particular safety – in order to gain public trust (Frisoni et al., 2016). Certain studies highlight the fact that "anthropomorphic features such as name, gender, and voice" embedded in a driverless vehicle has the potential to increase trust in AVs (Waytz et al., 2014; Verberne et al., 2015). Therefore, addressing public trust in AVs is key to ensure AV uptake.

• The importance of perceived benefits of AVs

Many studies and surveys have found that the perceived usefulness of AVs has an impact on public perception and trust in AVs. Choi and colleagues from Yonsei University in South Korea surveyed over 500 drivers and conclude that **perceived usefulness** is a major 'determinant of intention to use automated vehicles' (Choi et al., 2015). In their report on AVs, Clark and colleagues from University of the West of England imply that public acceptability is likely to stem from "perceptions of the usefulness and ease of use of AVs" and that the public is likely to expect certain benefits from the use of AVs (Clark et al, 2016). A report commissioned by DG Internal Policies stresses the need for public authorities and private stakeholders to prove "the environmental, economic, social and safety benefits of driving automation in order to gain public trust and set the ground for the diffusion of automated driving." (Frisoni et al., 2016). Decreased travel time was found to be one of the key benefits expected by potential AV users ((KPMG, 2013; Clark et al, 2016). Based on surveys undertaken in the context of the CityMobil project, key conclusions indicate that: "automation is, on average, not necessarily perceived as valuable, if the travel time [...] is the same [...] of a conventional bus" (Alessandrini et al, 2014). In addition to travel time, reduced fuel consumption, and environmental improvement were frequently mentioned as expected benefits by potential users (KPMG, 2013; Clark et al, 2016). Therefore, the potential wider benefits AVs might bring to future users are likely to have an impact on how the public perceive and adopt AVs.

• Cost

A number of surveys report that participants were either **concerned about affordability or unwilling to pay more money** to buy or use an AV. Bansal and colleagues from the University of Texas report that out of 347 online respondents, circa 40% were concerned about affordability (Bansal et al, 2016). Participants' concern about AV costs was reported in several surveys undertaken in the USA (Howard and Dai, 2013; Casley et al, 2013). Their survey also indicate that participants were unwilling to pay more than the price current E-hailing companies (i.e. UBER) charge for shared AVs (Ibid). Similar results were found by Schoettle and Sivak, from Michigan University, whose survey results suggest that out of 1596 participants surveyed in the UK, USA and Australia, over 55% respondents stated that they would not pay more to add automation in their vehicle (Schoettle & Sivak, 2014). On the other hand, Bansal and colleagues' study based in Austin suggests that the participants: "[...]average willingness to pay (WTP) for adding full (Level 4) automation (\$7253) appears to be much higher than that for adding partial (Level 3) automation (\$3300) to their current vehicles" (Bansal et al, 2016). Thus survey results suggest that overall participants are concerns about high costs of AVs and do not seem prepared to pay more to use the technology.

Methods used to survey participants

• Limitation in surveys' representativeness

The majority of the surveys assessing public perception and acceptability of AVs were undertaken in the USA (Bansal et al, 2016; Kyriakidis, 2015; Schoettle and Sivak, 2014; Casley et al, 2013; Howard and Dai, 2013; Insurance.com, 2014). However, one of the most

reliable and robust survey was undertaken in the UK surveying a sample of 1000 British citizens (Ipsos MORI, 2014); and one of the few surveys assessing participants' reaction in the context of a real life pilot project was conducted in France in the context of the European project CityMobil (Alessandrini et al., 2014).

Another limiting factor in the way surveys have been conducted is the fact that many surveys have focused on **assessing drivers' opinions only, such as the survey undertaken by Insurance.com** (Kyriakidis et al., 2015; McKinsey, 2015). Bansal and colleagues from the University of Texas recognised that their internet-based survey sample "over-represented [...] middle-aged persons (25–44 year-old)" (Bansal et al., 2016) therefore not representing the views of younger or elder persons. However, one of the arguments often mentioned in favour of automated vehicles use is the potential benefit it could have for non-drivers, such as disabled citizens, young or elder persons. Furthermore, the majority of the survey have been conducted online which might mean that the results are not necessarily representative of citizens who tend to be less well connected to the internet (such as elder people). To date no surveys have focused on public perception of non-drivers.

• Rigor and Bias

The rigor of the methods used to conduct public opinion's survey seem to vary significantly from one study to another. It is difficult to assess the quality of the methods used by many non-academic institutions, in particular consultancy companies, who have not published sufficient details about methods used. However, a number of surveys targeting large samples have used rigorous methods as illustrated in the table below.

Authors	Kyriakidis and colleagues	Schoettle and Sivak	Cyganski and colleagues	Ipsos Mori
Institution	Delft University of Technology	Michigan University	German Aerospace Center, Humboldt -University Berlin	Ipsos Mori
Date	2015	2014	2014	2014
Country	109 different countries	USA, UK and Australia	Germany	UK
Туре	Crowd-sourcing Online survey via Crowdflower	Crowd-sourcing Online survey via Survey Monkey	Crowd-sourcing Online survey	
Respondents	5000	1533	1000	1001

Table Annex 5 Relevant Surveys targeting large samples

• Relying on people's imagination

One of the limitations common across most surveys is the fact that public opinion on AVs is assessed relying on respondents' imagination (Nordhoff et al., 2016; Kyriakidis et al., 2015; Alessandrini et al., 2014). Indeed, due to the limited number of pilot projects in public spaces, only a small number of studies have assessed participants 'real' experience and reactions to AVs. In their comprehensive review of public perception of Electric vehicles (EVs), Rezvani and colleagues from Umeå University, Sweden, highlight the importance of interviewing participants who have had an experience with EVs otherwise they might be "psychologically distant from EVs" and as a consequence survey results are likely to be biased (Rezvani et al., 2015). It is therefore important for public opinion to be assessed in the context of real life pilot projects.

Further Research:

Further research should be undertaken to determine under what conditions and scenarios would the public be most likely to use and accept AVs. Public' opinion on AVs should be **assessed specifying conditions of use** (Clark et al, 2016b; Cyganski et al., 2014). In other words, specific scenarios should be presented when surveying participants' opinion. As stated by ScienceWise¹⁸: "Further study on the specific situations in which the public would or wouldn't find vehicles acceptable and whether they would be willing to drive alongside automated or driverless cars would add to understanding of public attitudes" (ScienceWise, 2014).

As AV technology develops, public opinion needs to be **regularly assessed and monitored**. As stated by ScienceWise: ""it would be valuable to track public attitudes to the technology as it becomes more of a reality, to see how this affects positive or negative perceptions of the technology" (Science

Wise, 2014). Clark and colleagues from the University of the West of England stress the key role social science should play in examining the population's expectations and reaction to the development of AVs (Clark et al., 2016b).

Finally, further research is needed to assess **non-drivers**' perception and expectations of AVs. Likewise, it is necessary to further understand older people's perception of AVs and their potential reluctance to use the technology. It is also important to further understand why a large percentage of females seem less interested in AVs compared to men.

^{18 &}quot;the UK's national centre for public dialogue in policy making involving science and technology issues"

v. Public Sector's Role

Introduction:

In this section we review the literature that has discussed the role, influence and responsibility of public authorities in relation to AVs. The first part discusses regulatory and legal issues related to AVs deployment and adoption, in particular at the national level. The second part raises issues regarding urban planning in relation to AVs.

Regulatory and legal issues related to AVs

The lack of regulations on AVs and the importance of legally enabling AV development, in particular in the context of shared mobility, was mentioned by several authors from different countries. As highlighted by the International Transport Forum, even though regulatory frameworks exist in many countries to enable the testing of those vehicles: "We could not find evidence of anticipatory regulatory action addressing the potential use cases that could result from large-scale deployment of highly automated vehicles, such as the provision of quasipublic transport or taxi-like operations" (International Transport Forum, 2015). The legal barriers preventing the establishment of shared or 'collective' AV systems was also highlighted by Alessandrini and colleagues in the context of the CityMobil project (Alessandrini et al, 2014). Furthermore, the lack of cooperation between different jurisdictions within the USA and between different countries who are developing AVs was mentioned as a potential issue that could prevent the uptake of the technology (International Transport Forum, 2015). However, in Europe, a significant step towards the regulation of AV use was taken in April 2016 with the Declaration of Amsterdam, that saw the 28 EU member states agreeing to support AV technology and to collaborate to develop regulations and rules to allow AVs on EU roads and ensure interoperability and compatibility between countries (The Netherlands EU Presidency, 2016). In their study Wagner and colleagues, from Texas University, concluded that public authorities should be developing 'standards, regulations and definitions' which should be set at an international level as well (Wagner et al, 2014). These regulations and standards should be gradually developed in close collaboration with private-sector organisations, such as insurers and manufacturers, and with consumer groups (Wagner et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2014a). The need to establish a common regulatory framework across countries to harmonise the deployment of AVs was mentioned by several authors (Brown, 2016).

The role public authorities should play in shaping the deployment and in particular the 'adoption path' of AVs was highlighted by several authors. Enoch, from Loughborough University, stresses the fact that AVs are likely to have a profound impact on transport systems and that any public policies interventions could have 'significant implications' (Enoch, 2015). Therefore, as highlighted by Enoch, policy intervention and legislation needs to be carefully thought through, and in particular potential side-effects need to be thoroughly understood and assessed. The importance of "government leadership" in relation to AVs, in particular linked

to the different roll-out scenarios, was highlighted by Clark and colleagues¹⁹, as stated by the authors: "governments, highway authorities and the automotive industry have an important role to play in shaping how AVs ultimately emerge, in avoiding some of the potentially unintended consequences illustrated by the 'business-as-usual' scenario" (Clark et al., 2016a). Thomopoulos and Givoni²⁰ echo Clark and colleagues' message and argue that government has a key role to play in regulating and incentivising the right deployment model for AV roll out, to make sure it is aligned with key objectives, such as emission reduction (Thomopoulos & Givoni, 2015). Therefore, the importance of public policy intervention in shaping AVs' adoption path to ensure optimum societal outcomes, was highlighted by a number of authors.

The need to further understand the potential impact AVs could have on transportation systems and society before legislating on highly automated vehicles was highlighted by a number of authors (Bohm, 2015; Anderson et al., 2014a; Fagnant et al., 2015). Fox, from Georgetown University, argues that regulators in the USA should assess the 'cumulative impact' of AV use before legislating as a number of negative side effects linked to AV uptake might need to be anticipated (Fox, 2016). As stated by Bohm, from Uppsala University, before commercialising highly automated vehicles (level 4), it is important to undertake further research to better understand "What influences the AVs will have " (Bohm, 2015). The need to actively regulate the use of AVs and not just to cater for AV use was highlighted by several authors, such as Professor Begg (2014). This message is also emphasised by the think tank RAND, who state: "Relying strictly on the free market may not maximize social welfare and could even lead to market failure" (Anderson et al., 2014b). One of RAND's key messages is to: "avoid moving too quickly to regulate this technology without better information about its benefits and costs" and to support further research (Anderson et al., 2014b). Thus, the need for further research to better understand the impacts AVs are likely to have is needed to better inform policy-making.

One of the biggest legal concerns in relation to AVs is the legal responsibility in an accident. Indeed, the question 'who is responsible in the case of an accident' is a much debated issue. As explained by Le Vine and Polak, AVs "may be under the combined control of a number of entities, such as the manufacturer of the sensors, the designer of the algorithms that make real-time driving decisions, the designer of the digital map the control software is using, the public agency responsible for the roadway, the human in the driver seat, etc." (Le Vine & Polak, 2014). Most authors who discussed legal responsibility argue that manufacturers are likely to bear most of the responsibility. Wagner and colleagues, from University of Texas, interviewed a range of OEM²¹ in the context of their study on AVs. The majority of the interviewees stated that liability was the biggest concern facing the industry and that it would likely to "dictate how automated vehicle development proceeds." (Wagner et al, 2014). The significant legal costs vehicle manufacturers could be facing in cases of accidents were mentioned by several authors as a possible threat to the development of the industry (Begg, 2014; Fagnant et al., 2015; DiClemente et al., 2014). DiClemente and colleagues from Carnegie

¹⁹ from the University of the West of England

²⁰ From London School of Economics and Tel-Aviv University

²¹ Original Equipment Manufacturer

Mellon University, argue that if 'massive damage costs' threaten the adoption of AVS: "the federal government is expected to intervene with subsidies and tax incentives, to lower the price and facilitate consumption" (DiClemente et al., 2014). Fagnant and colleagues, from the University of Texas, stress the importance of better clarifying liability issues to prevent potential market deployment problems (Fagnant et al., 2015).

> In relation to urban Planning

The review of the AV literature indicates that **few authors have discussed AVs in the context of urban planning and that there is a general lack of conversation and planning regarding AVs in urban areas**. Guerra, from University of Pennsylvania, examined urban transport plans in 25 metropolitan areas in the USA and concludes that almost none of the transport plans reviewed mention AVs (Guerra, 2016). To further understand why AVs are not acknowledged in local transport plans, Guerra went on to interview local policy-makers. Conclusions from his analysis suggest that even though policy-makers are aware of AVs, the uncertainties surrounding the deployment and use of the vehicles explain why it has been kept out of urban plans. As summarised by Guerra: "There is a great deal of uncertainty about what technologies will prevail, how much and when they will penetrate the market, whether regulation will hinder or support deployment, what the direct impacts will be on capacity or safety, and how consumers will respond" (Guerra, 2016). Therefore, despite the potential disruptive impact AVs could have at the local level, it has not been widely addressed in the literature and in local planning.

The need for local authorities to be involved in conversations and policy-making processes regarding AVs and to consider integrating AVs into their planning was mentioned by several authors (Alessandrini et al., 2015; McCarthy et al., 2015). In a report commissioned by and for the city of Toronto, Canada, research fellow Ticoll argues that local authorities should be involved in regulating AVs and in hosting pilot projects (Ticoll, 2015). One of Ticoll's key recommendations to the city of Toronto is to: "Develop an overarching vision and point of view on the impact and role of AVs for the City of Toronto." (Ticoll, 2015). In one of their reports, the International Transport Forum stresses the importance for local authorities to regulate and adapt to ensure the "deployment of the urban mobility pathway for automated vehicles" (Ticoll, 2015). Thus, local authorities should be involved in national and international conversation processes regarding AVs.

AVs have the potential to improve urban transport systems, but their development and use in urban areas need to be carefully managed by public authorities. The potential role AVs could play in urban areas was highlighted by Alessandrini and colleagues in the context of the European project CityMobil 2. The authors designed a vision or 'matrix' for using and integrating AVs in urban areas. They distinguish different urban contexts and locations - city centre, Inner suburb, outer suburb, suburban centre - and highlight the potential use of AVs depending on the context in combination with other modes of transport. One of their main conclusions is that car-sharing is the most effective use scenario in the context of urban areas (Alessandrini et al., 2015). Despite the potential AVs have, a number of authors stress the importance of carefully managing their development in urban areas. In a detailed report

investigating automated vehicles in the city of London, Professor David Begg stresses the importance of not allowing them to: "to shape our cities in the way the internal combustion engine was allowed to in the last century"(Begg, 2014), highlighting potential risks such as increased urban sprawl and higher car use. Fox, from Georgetown University, warns that urban efforts to increase density and promote smart cities and sustainable mobility might be disrupted by the arrival of AVs (Fox, 2016). She recommends integrating AV planning in master plans to prevent unwanted side effects, in particular urban sprawl (Fox, 2016). Therefore, further urban planning is necessary to anticipate the arrival of AVs, integrate them in the most effective way, and prevent potential negative side effects.

Further Research:

Further research is urgently needed to investigate the role of AVs in urban areas, from an urban planning perspective. Potential research questions include: What role should AVs play in cities? How can AVs contribute to urban areas and improve urban mobility systems?

Annex D – List Codes

Below is the list of codes used to categorise references in EPPI-Reviewer 4

• Academic Source

- 1. Peer Reviewed Articles Academic articles published in a journal
- 2. Books Academic book or book chapter
- 3. Other *E.g. Peer reviewed expert report*

• Grey Literature

- 1. Official Report Published by Public Authorities or Public Agency either at the supranational, national or sub-national level
- 2. Consultant/Industry Report Reports published by consultancy companies or the industry
- 3. Serious Broadsheet or Magazine A serious newspaper or magazine such as the Times or the New Scientist
- 4. Light Tabloids or Magazine Newspaper or magazine popular in style and dominated by sensational stories, e.g. Daily Mail, the Sun
- 5. Marketing Material *Such as leaflets*
- 6. Audio Material Such as TED talk videos
- 7. Visual Presentation
- 8. Other *Such as Blogs*

• Reference Country

1. No specific Country

- 2. UK
- 3. USA
- 4. Singapore
- 5. China
- 6. Netherland
- 7. France
- 8. Sweden
- 9. Finland
- 10. Sweden
- 11. Germany
- 12. Spain

• Relevant Topics

1. Behavioural

Discusses Behavioural impact related to AVs, e.g. relating to behaviours, the response of an individual, group to its environment. How does/will AVs affect people's behaviours? How do/will people react to AVs? Will it change their behaviour? Here all behavioural issues are included except in-car behaviour Search "behav*"

2. Psychological

Discusses psychological impact or issues related to AVs linked to the mental and emotional state of a person

- 3. Public Acceptability/Perceptions/Expectations Discusses public acceptability, perceptions and expectations of AVs
- 4. Health/Well-being Discusses issues related to people's mental and physical health and their wellbeing i.e. state of being comfortable, healthy or happy
- 5. Physical activity Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on people's level/type of physical activity Search Phy* and activ*
- 6. Mobility for older people Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on older people's mobility

7. Mobility for disabled

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on disabled people's mobility Search "disabl" "physical limitat*"

- 8. Mobility for children Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on mobility for children
- 9. Accessibility

Discusses the links between AVs and transportation accessibility e.i. the ease of reaching goods, services, activities and destinations, which together are called opportunities

Search access*

10. Ethics

Discusses moral principles related to AVs search "ethi*" "moral" "principles"

11. Jobs/Employment

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on job and employment, industrial structure etc.

Search "employ*" "Job*" "Unemploy*"

12. Wider Economy

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on the economy and industry

13. Cost of travel

Discusses the likely impact the intake of AVs will have on the cost of travel and mobility, including the cost of the vehicles

14. Modal Share

Discussest the potential impact AVs may have on modal share, i.e. percentage of travellers using a particular type of transportation or number of trips using said type

Search "mode*" Search "modal" "More traffic" or "Less traffic"

15. Travel Demand

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on travel demand Search "demand" "VMT" Vehicle miles travelled

16. Impact on Congestion/Network capacity

Discusses the potential impact AVs will have on congestion and how it will affect network capacity

17. Transport Systems

Discusses AVs from a systems perspective, for instance discussing mobility as a service and impact of AV, ITS, how AVs will fit in an urban transport system/network, or communication system such as internet of things Systems Engineering Systems thinking

 Mobility As A Service Discusses MAAS in relation to AVs Synonym "door-to-door mobility" "MAAS" "Mobility as a service" "Mobility on demand"

- 19. Ownership models Discusses ownership models related to AVs Search "Shared" " Private"
- 20. Support Shared Mobility

The reference clearly favours shared mobility in cities

21. Road Infrastructure

Discusses highway engineering i.e. the planning, design, construction, operation, and maintenance of roads, bridges, and tunnels to ensure safe and effective transportation of people and goods "Infrastructure"

22. Urban Planning

Discusses AVs from an urban planning perspective; what the authorities decide/constrain/demand, discusses the urban environment and how it will be affected by AVs "Urban mobility planning" "planning" "Urban"

23. Land Use

Discusses AVs effect on the land use system, settlements patterns, or dispersal, what individual actors may do, e.g. build new homes in the country) Keyword: "Space""Country-side" "Sprawl"

24. Freight & Delivery

Discusses the impact AVs will have on Freight and Delivery "Deliv*" "Truck*" "Van*" "Goods" "Merchandise*" "Logistics"

25. Design

Discusses the design of AVs and infrastructures that will cater to AVs

- 26. Interaction with Pedestrians Discusses the potential impact and interactions between AVs and Pedestrians
- 27. Interaction with cyclists Discusses the potential impact and interactions between AVs and Cyclists Search "bike*" "Cycl*"
- 28. Interaction with other road users

Discusses the potential impact and interaction between AVs and other road users such as public or private vehicles, motorbikes, etc. Search "driver*" "conventional" (car, vehicle, automobile)

- 29. Global Environmental issues Discusses Global Environmental issues related to AVs, such as climate change Search words such as emiss*, Pollu*, "carbon"
- 30. Local Environmental Issues Discusses local environmental issues related to AVs, such as air quality or noise Search words such as emiss*, Pollu*,
31. Energy Impact

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on energy, such as energy consumption, energy efficiency, etc.

Seach words such as fuel and efficiency

32. Road Safety

Discusses the likely impact AVs will have on energy, such as energy consumption, energy efficiency, etc

33. Drivers Interaction with AV

Discusses how drivers will interact with the car, their skills, usually in partial automation cases. E.g. integrating automated systems into the workflow of driving and implication for stress, fatigue and safety "workflow" "stress" "attention"

34. Driving experience and In-car behaviour

Discusses the potential convenience and confort AVs could bring to users such as stress free driving, being able to do something else whilst driving Discusses Convenience/Confort inside the vehicle, free time, etc. Discusses Driving experience, including drivers who enjoy driving and might not

like AVs

35. Cybersecurity/Data Security/Privacy

Discusses issues related to cybersecurity, i.e. criminal or unauthorised used of electronic data or data security, i.e. digital privacy measures that are applied to prevent unauthorised access to computers, databases, control systems, and websites, e.g. concerns over privacy of personal data discusses driving experience Search all key words in title + "Hack*"

36. Data Ownership

Discusses data ownership in relation to AVs. Who will own data? How will data be shared? Is there a need for Data Ownership?

Seach "data own*" and "data" "V2V"

Usual questions are who owns the data?

37. Personal security

Discusses issues such as physical crime, illegal activity or anti-social behaviour related to AVs

Search crim*

38. Legal & Regulatory Issues

Discusses legal issues, in particular liability, i.e. who is legally responsible in case of a problem? Discusses regulations

39. Insurance

Discusses insurance issues related to AVs

40. Pathways to automation

Discusses How will we get there? Gradual automation...

41. Legacy early generation AVs Discusses the effect of early generation AVs on later generations "legacy" "generation"

- 42. Potential Market Failure Highlight the fact that the technology might not take up
- 43. Gaps in the literature Highlights gaps in the literature that need to be addressed. Search "Research"
- 44. Other social/societal issues Relating to society and its organisation

• Quality

1. Thorough

```
An accurate, meticulous document/study/report, well-written and argued
```

- 2. Questionable quality The quality of the document is questionable and lacks rigours in the methods or conceptualisation
- 3. Unsure/Unclear *The quality of the document is unclear*
- 4. Neither Rigorous not questionable

• Content

1. Conceptual

Concerned with the definitions or relations of the concepts of some field of enquiry rather than with the facts

- 2. Includes Evidence Includes facts and information
- 3. Primary Evidence Based Research Reference discusses primary research results, such as survey results or modelling
- 4. Includes primary research *The document includes primary research. E.g. Modelling, surveys...*
- 5. Comprehensive Includes/covers many elements or aspects of AV
- 6. Specific/Narrow Focuses on a specific topics related to AV

• Outlook on CAV

Is the article positive, negative or neutral on the prospects of AVs?

- 1. Positive and Enthusiastic Optimistic on the future of AVs and its impact
- 2. Positive but cautious Describes potential positive outputs and outcomes linked to AVs but highlights potential negative side-effects
- 3. Negative and Worried *Critical or sceptical of the effects of AVs on their prospects of being implemented*
- 4. Mixed or Neutral Describes positive elements and negative elements, does not support either side of the debate
- 5. Unclear

• Type of AVs

- 1. Fully automated *The vehicle handles the driving task in its entirety*
- 2. Partially automated "Transitional" issue of routinely having to do some of the driving in a car that can't handle all highway environments
- 3. Highly Automated *The vehicle makes decisions entirely for itself*
- 4. Highly connected *the vehicle is dictated to by a central control system*
- 5. Private Privately owned by individuals
- 6. Collective/Shared *Shared economy either public or private*
- 7. Personal travel The AV is used by an human being to move
- 8. Freight The AV is used to transport goods
- 9. All types The sources discusses all types and scenarios of AVs

• Extremely Relevant

Reference that is comprehensive, rigorous (conceptual or fact based), have a unique angle.

• Contains NOTES Notes/Comments have been added

Annex E- References

Adams, J. (2015) *Self-Driving Cars and the Child-Ball Problem: Why Autonomous Vehicles Are Not the Answer*. London Essays. Available at: <u>http://essays.centreforlondon.org/issues/technology/self-driving-cars-and-the-child-ball-problem-why-autonomous-vehicles-are-not-the-answer/ [Accessed 19th August 2016].</u>

Alessandrini, A.; Alfonsi, R.; Delle Site, P. & Stam, D. (2014) Users' preferences towards automated road public transport: Results from european surveys. *Transportation Research Procedia*. 3, pp. 139-144. Available at: <u>http://ac.els-cdn.com/S2352146514002622/1-s2.0-S2352146514002622-main.pdf?_tid=ee8d6576-a0d3-11e6-b4aa-00000aab0f26&acdnat=1478074458_f28c73f9772cd395f5184295fc96501d</u> [Accessed 1st November 2016].

Alessandrini, A.; Campagna, A.; Site, P. D.; Filippi, F. & Persia, L. (2015) Automated vehicles and the rethinking of mobility and cities. In: *Transportation Research Procedia*. 5, pp.145-160.

Alessandrini, A.; Holguin, C. & Parent, M. (2011) Advanced transport systems showcased in La Rochelle. In: *Proceedings of the 14th IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Conference, Washington DC, USA, 7-11 October 2011.*

Anderson, J. M.; Kalra, N.; Stanley, K. D.; Sorensen, P.; Samaras, C. & Oluwatola, O. A. (2014a) *Autonomous Vehicle Technology. A Guide for Policymakers*. RAND Corporation. Available at: <u>http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR400/RR443-2/RAND_RR443-2.pdf</u> [Accessed 1st November 2016].

Anderson, J. M.; Kalra, N.; Stanley, K. D.; Sorensen, P.; Samaras, C. & Oluwatola, O. A. (2014b). *Autonomous vehicle technology: How to best realize its social benefits*. RAND Corporation. Available at:

http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_briefs/RB9700/RB9755/RAND_RB97 55.pdf [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Aoki, K. (2004) The development of intelligent multimode transit system based on automated buses. In: *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Automated People Movers, San Francisco, CA, USA, 8-11 July 2001*. Available at:

https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-74949110547&partnerID=40&md5=2db875be12519df322c69f5e1912932e [Accessed 5th November 2016].

Bansal, P.; Kockelman, K. M. & Singh, A. (2016) Assessing public opinions of and interest in new vehicle technologies: An Austin perspective. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies.* 67, pp. 1-14.

Begg, D. (2014) *A 2050 vision for London: what are the implications of driverless transport?* Clear Channel.

Beggiato, M.; Pereira, M.; Petzoldt, T. & Krems, J. (2015) Learning and development of trust, acceptance and the mental model of ACC. A longitudinal on-road study. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*. 35, pp. 75-84.

Benmimou, A.; Lowson, M.; Marques, A.; Giustiniani, G. & Parent, M. (2009) Demonstration of advanced transport applications in CityMobil project. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. 2110, pp. 9-17.

Bertoncello, M. & Wee, D. (2015) *Ten ways autonomous driving could redefine the automotive world*. McKinsey. Available at: <u>http://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/ten-ways-autonomous-driving-could-redefine-the-automotive-world</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Bierstedt, J.; Gooze, A.; Gray, C.; Peterman, J.; Raykin, L. & Walters, J. (2014) *Effects of Next-Generation Vehicles on Travel Demand and Highway Capacity*. Fehr & Peers. Available at: <u>http://orfe.princeton.edu/~alaink/Papers/FP_NextGenVehicleWhitePaper012414.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Bohm, F. & Häger, K. (2015) *Introduction of Autonomous Vehicles in the Swedish Traffic System. Effects and Changes Due to the New Self-Driving Car Technology*. Uppsala Universitet. Available at: <u>https://uu.diva-</u> portal.org/smash/get/diva2:816899/FULLTEXT01.pdf [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Bonnefon J.-F.; Shariff, A. & Rahwan I. (2016) The social dilemma of autonomous vehicles. *Science*. 352(6293), pp. 1573-1574.

Brombacher, A. (2014) (Re)liability of self-driving cars. An interesting challenge! *Quality* and Reliability Engineering International. 30(5), pp. 613-614.

Brown M, Avery P, and Sturgeon P. (2014). Enhanced work zone safety through cooperative autonomous vehicle systems. *3rd International Conference on Connected Vehicles and Expo, ICCVE 2014*. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., pp.966-967.

Brown, P.-M. (2016) *Autonomous Vehicles : A thought leadership review of how the UK can achieve a fully autonomous future*. The Institution of Engineering and Technology. Available at: <u>http://www.theiet.org/sectors/transport/documents/av-tst-report-file.cfm?type=pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Brownell, C. & Kornhauser, A. (2014) A Driverless Alternative: Fleet Size and Cost Requirements for a Statewide Autonomous Taxi Network in New Jersey. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. 2416, pp. 73-81.Casley, S. V.; Jardim, A. S. & Quartulli, A. M. (2013) *A Study of Public Acceptance of Autonomous Cars.* Worcester Polytechnic Institute. Available at: <u>https://web.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-</u> project/Available/E-project-043013-

<u>155601/unrestricted/A_Study_of_Public_Acceptance_of_Autonomous_Cars.pdf</u>[Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Cepolina, E. M.; Farina, A. & Holloway, C. (2011) A car sharing system for urban areas with fully automated personal vehicles. In: *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Harbour, Maritime & Multimodal Logistics Modelling and Simulation, Rome, Italy, 12-14 September 2011.* Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Catherine_Holloway/publication/236008417_Modelling of urban pedestrian environments for simulation of the motion of small_vehicles/links /5535e6700cf218056e92abb0.pdf [Accessed 5th November 2016]. Chatti, N.; Khalil, W.; Gehin, A.-L.; Ould Bouamama, B. & Merzouki, R. (2011) Intelligent Supervision of Autonomous Heavy Vehicles: Application to Maritime Area. In: *Proceedings* of the 13th International Conference on Harbor, Maritime & Multimodal Logistic Modelling and Simulation, Rome, Italy, 12-14 September 2011.

Chebbi, O. & Chaouachi, J. (2014) An elitist multi-objective genetic algorithm for minimizing vehicle numbers and energy consumption in the context of Personal Rapid Transit. In: 2014 International Conference on Advanced Logistics and Transport, Hammamet, Tunisia, 1-3 May 2014.

Cho, S.; Lee, D.; Jung, Y.; Lee, U. & Shim, D. H. (2014) Development of a cooperative heterogeneous unmanned system for delivery services. *Journal of Institute of Control, Robotics and Systems*. 20(12), pp. 1181-1188.

Choi, J. K. & Ji, Y. G. (2015) Investigating the Importance of Trust on Adopting an Autonomous Vehicle. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*. 31(10), pp. 692-702.

Choromanski, W.; Grabarek, I.; Kowara, J. & Kaminski, B. (2013) Personal rapid transit -Computer simulation results and general design principles. In: Leder, W. H. & Sproule, W. J. (ed.) (2013) Automated People Movers and Transit Systems 2013: Half a Century of Automated Transit - Past, Present, and Future. Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Automated People Movers and Automated Transit Systems, Phoenix, AZ, USA, 21-23 April 2013. ASCE. pp. 276-295.

Clark, B.; Parkhurst, G. & Ricci, M. (2016a) The potential impact of autonomous vehicles on transport systems and society: A review and future prospects. In: *48th Universities' Transport Studies Group Conference, Bristol, UK, 6-8 January 2016.*

Clark, B.; Parkhurst, G. & Ricci, M. (2016b) Understanding the socioeconomic adoption scenarios for autonomous vehicles: A literature review. University of the West of England, Bristol. Available at: <u>http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/29134/1/Venturer-LitReview-5-1-Report-Final.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Claudel, M. & Ratti, C. (2015) *Full speed ahead: How the driverless car could transform cities*. McKinsey. Available at: <u>http://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability-and-resource-productivity/our-insights/full-speed-ahead-how-the-driverless-car-could-transform-cities</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Clerget, V.; Hafez, N.; Parent, M. & Zvirin, Y. (2001) Low cost, trackless PRT. In: Griebenow, R. R. & Tadi, R. R. (ed.) (2001) Automated People Movers: Moving Through the Millenium. Proceedings of the Eight International Conference on Automated People Movers, San Francisco, CA, USA, 8-11 July 2001. ASCE. pp. 1-11.

Coeckelbergh, M. (2014). Responsibility, robots, and humans: A preliminary reflection on the phenomenology of self-driving cars. In: *Sociable Robots and the Future of Social Relations. Proceedings of Robo-Philosophy 2014*. pp. 265-269. Available at: https://coeckelbergh.files.wordpress.com/2015/05/99.pdf [Accessed 5th November 2016].

Çolak, S.; Lima, A. & González M. C. (2016) Understanding congested travel in urban areas. *Nature communications*. 7. Available at: <u>http://www.nature.com/articles/ncomms10793</u> [Accessed 5th November 2016].

Colwell, R. (2015) Our computer systems are not good enough. In: *Proceedings of the 4th Berkeley Symposium on Energy Efficient Electronic Systems, Berkeley, CA, USA, 1-2 October 2015.*

Commons Select Committee (2016) *Evidence Check: "Driverless cars"*. Available at: <u>https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/science-technology/evidence-tests/Driverless-cars.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Cottrell, N. D. & Barton, B. K. (2013) The role of automation in reducing stress and negative affect while driving. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*. 14(1), pp. 53-68.

Cyganski, R.; Fraedrich, E. & Lenz, B. (2014) Travel Time Valuation for automated driving: a use-case-driven study. In: *Proceedings of the 94th Annual Meeting of the TRB, Washington DC, USA, 11-15 January 2015*. Available at: <u>http://elib.dlr.de/95260/1/TRB2015_CYGANSKI_FRAEDRICH_LENZ_15-4259.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

De Almeida Correia, G. H. & van Arem, B. (2016) Solving the User Optimum Privately Owned Automated Vehicles Assignment Problem (UO-POAVAP): A model to explore the impacts of self-driving vehicles on urban mobility. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological.* 87, pp. 64-88.

De Graaf, M. (2011) PRT Vehicle Architecture and Control in Masdar City. In: Leder, W. H. & Sproule, W. J. (ed.) (2011) Automated People Movers and Transit Systems 2011: From People Movers to Fully Automated Urban Mass Transit. Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Automated People Movers and Transit Systems, Paris, France, 22-25 May 2011. ASCE. pp. 339-348.

De Winter, J. C. F.; Happee, R.; Martens, M. H. & Stanton, N. A. (2014) Effects of adaptive cruise control and highly automated driving on workload and situation awareness: A review of the empirical evidence. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour.* 27(B), pp. 196-217.

Department for Transport. (2015) *The Pathway to Driverless Cars Summary report and action plan*. DfT Publications. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/401562/pathw ay-driverless-cars-summary.pdf [Accessed 6th November 2016]

DiClemente, J.; Mogos, S. & Wang, R. (2014) *Autonomous Car Policy Report*. Carnegie Mellon University. Available at: <u>https://www.cmu.edu/epp/people/faculty/course-reports/Autonomous%20Car%20Final%20Report.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Diels, C. & Bos, J. E. (2015) User interface considerations to prevent self-driving carsickness. In: *Adjunct Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications, AutomotiveUI '15*. New York, ACM. pp. 14-19.

Diels, C. & Bos, J. E. (2016) Self-driving carsickness. *Applied Ergonomics*. 53(B), pp. 374-382.

Diels, C. (2014) Will autonomous vehicles make us sick? In: Sharples, S. & Shorrock, S. (ed.) (2014) *Contemporary Ergonomics and Human Factors 2014*. Taylor and Francis. pp. 301-307.

Docksai, R. (2013) Futurists Explore the Next Horizon. The Futurist, 47(6), pp. 47-52.

Dresner, K. & Stone, P. (2007) Sharing the Road : Autonomous Vehicles Meet Human Drivers. In: *The Twentieth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, Hyderabad, India, 6-12 January 2007.* Available at: <u>http://www.aaai.org/Papers/IJCAI/2007/IJCAI07-204.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Enoch, M. P. (2013) Conceptualising the transport Interchange. *Traffic Engineering and Control*. 54(5), pp. 173-175.

Enoch, M. P. (2015) How a rapid modal convergence into a universal automated taxi service could be the future for local passenger transport. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*. 27(8), pp. 910-924.

Fagnant, D. J. & Kockelman, K. (2013). *Preparing a nation for autonomous vehicles*. *Opportunities, Barriers and Policy Recommendations*. Eno Center for Transportation. Available at:

https://www.caee.utexas.edu/prof/kockelman/public_html/ENOReport_BCAofAVs.pdf [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Fagnant, D. J. & Kockelman, K. (2014). The travel and environmental implications of shared autonomous vehicles, using agent-based model scenarios. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*. 40, pp. 1-13.

Fagnant, D. J. & Kockelman, K. (2015) Preparing a nation for autonomous vehicles: opportunities, barriers and policy recommendations. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*. 77, pp. 167-181.

Fatnassi, E. & Siala, J. C. (2014) A lower bound for minimizing the total energy consumption in a statically routed Personal Rapid Transit system. In: 2014 International Conference on Advanced Logistics and Transport, Hammamet, Tunisia, 1-3 May 2014.

Felix, R.; Economou, J. & Knowles, K. (2015) Driverless Vehicles and LIDAR: Evaluation of Possible Security Threats on the Open Road. *SAE Technical Papers*, 2015-01-0219.

Feng, J.; Li, X.; Pasiliao, E. L., Jr. & Shea, J. M. (2014) Jammer placement to partition wireless network. In: 2014 IEEE Globecom Workshops, Austin, TX, USA, 8-12 December 2014.

Fox, S. J. (2016) *Planning for Density in a Driverless World*. Georgetown Law Library. Available at:

http://scholarship.law.georgetown.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1000&context=ipr_papers [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Fraedrich, E.; Beiker, S. & Lenz, B. (2015) Transition pathways to fully automated driving and its implications for the sociotechnical system of automobility. *European Journal of Futures Research*. 3(11). Available at: <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40309-015-0067-8</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Frisoni, R.; Dall'Oglio, A.; Nelson, C.; Long, J.; Vollath, C.; Ranghetti, D. & McMinimy, S. (2016) *Self-Piloted Cars: the future of road transport?* Steer Davies Gleave & European Parliament, Committee on Transport and Tourism. Available at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434 http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/573434/IPOL_STU(2016)573434

Funke, G. J. (2008) *The effects of automation and workload on driver performance, subjective workload, and mood.* PhD Dissertation, University of Cincinnati. Available at: <u>https://etd.ohiolink.edu/!etd.send_file?accession=ucin1193000603&disposition=inline</u> [Accessed 5th November 2016].

Goodall, N. (2014) Ethical Decision Making During Automated Vehicle Crashes. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*. 2424, pp. 58-65.

Gouy, M.; Wiedemann, K.; Stevens, A.; Brunett, G. & Reed, N. (2014) Driving next to automated vehicle platoons: How do short time headways influence non-platoon drivers' longitudinal control? *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*. 27(B), pp. 264-273.

Greenblatt, J. B. & Saxena, S. (2015) Autonomous taxis could greatly reduce greenhouse-gas emissions of US light-duty vehicles. *Nature Climate Change*. 5, pp. 860-863.

Grover, C. (2016) *Autonomous Vehicles : Research Needs for Insurers*. IMPART: Intelligent Mobility Partnership. Available at: <u>http://impart-upp.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/5.-Colin-</u> <u>Grover-Research-needs-for-insurers.pdf</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

Guériau, M.; Billot, R.; El Faouzi, N. E.; Monteil, J.; Armetta, F. & Hassas, S. (2016) How to assess the benefits of connected vehicles? A simulation framework for the design of cooperative traffic management strategies. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*. 67, pp. 266-279.

Guerra, E. (2015) Planning for Cars That Drive Themselves. Metropolitan Planning Organizations, Regional Transportation Plans, and Autonomous Vehicles. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*. 36(2), pp. 210-224.

Guerra, E. (2016) Planning for Cars That Drive Themselves: Metropolitan Planning Organizations, Regional Transportation Plans, and Autonomous Vehicles. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 36(2), pp.210-224.

Harbluk, J. L.; Burns, P. C.; Malone, D. & Hamilton, J. (2014) Power steering assist failures: Driver behavior, safety impacts, and implications for automated vehicles. In: *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 58th Annual Meeting, Los Angeles, CA, USA, 26-30 October 2015*. Available at: <u>http://pro.sagepub.com/content/58/1/2073.full.pdf</u> [Accessed 5th November 2016]. Hospodka, J.; Szabo, S. & Novák, K. (2015) Influence of Autonomous Vehicles on Logistics. *International Review of Aerospace Engineering*. 8(5), pp. 179-184.

Howard, D. & Dai, D. (2013) Public perceptions of self-driving cars: the case of Berkeley, California. In: 93rd Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, Washington DC, USA, 12-16 January 2014. Available at:

https://www.ocf.berkeley.edu/~djhoward/reports/Report%20-%20Public%20Perceptions%20of%20Self%20Driving%20Cars.pdf [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Insurance com. (2014) *Autonomous cars: Bring 'em on, drivers say in Insurance.com survey*. Available at: <u>http://www.insurance.com/about-us/news-and-events/2014/07/autonomous-cars-bring-em-on-drivers-say-in-insurance.com-survey.html</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

International Transport Forum. (2015) *Automated and Autonomous Driving. Regulation under uncertainty*. OECD. Available at: <u>http://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/15cpb_autonomousdriving.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Ipsos MORI. (2014) Only 18 per cent of Britons believe driverless cars to be an important development for the car industry to focus on. Ipsos MORI Loyalty Automotive Survey. Ipsos MORI. Available at: <u>https://www.ipsos-</u>

mori.com/researchpublications/researcharchive/3427/Only-18-per-cent-of-Britons-believedriverless-cars-to-be-an-important-development-for-the-car-industry-to-focus-on.aspx [Accessed 6th November 2016].

Khan, A. M.; Bacchus, A. & Erwin, S. (2012) Policy challenges of increasing automation in driving. *IATSS Research*. 35(2), pp. 79-89.

KPMG & Center for Automotive Research. (2012) *Self-driving cars: The next revolution*. KPMG. Available at:

https://www.kpmg.com/US/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/selfdriving-cars-next-revolution.pdf [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

KPMG. (2013) *Self-Driving Cars: Are We Ready?* KPMG. Available at: <u>https://www.kpmg.com/US/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/self-driving-cars-are-we-ready.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

KPMG. (2015) Automobile insurance in the era of autonomous vehicles. KPMG. Available at:

https://www.kpmg.com/US/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/automobil e-insurance-in-the-era-of-autonomous-vehicles-survey-results-june-2015.pdf [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Kyriakidis, M.; Happee, R. & De Winter, J. C. F. (2015) Public opinion on automated driving: Results of an international questionnaire among 5000 respondents. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour.* 32, pp. 127-140.

Lam, A. Y. S.; Leung, Y. W. & Chu, X. (2014) Autonomous vehicle public transportation system. In: *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Connected Vehicles and Expo, Austria, Vienna, 3-7 November 2014.*

Le Vine, S. & Polak, J. (2014) *Automated Cars: A smooth ride ahead?* Independent Transport Commission. Available at: <u>http://www.theitc.org.uk/docs/114.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Lowson, M. V. (2011). Sustainable personal transportation. In: *Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE* Forum on Integrated and Sustainable Transportation Systems, Vienna, Austria, 29 June-1 July 2011.

Mamouei, M. (2016). Optimisation of the Longitudinal Control of Vehicles with respect to the efficiency of traffic flow. In: *48th Annual Universities' Transport Study Group Conference, Bristol, UK, 6-8 January 2016.*

Marchau, V. A.W. J. & Van Der Heijden, R. E. C. M. (2003) Innovative methodologies for exploring the future of automated vehicle guidance. *Journal of Forecasting*. 22(2), pp. 257-276.

Masoud, N & Jayakrishnan R. (2016). Formulations for Optimal Shared Ownership and Use of Autonomous or Driverless Vehicles. *Transportation Research Board 95th Annual Meeting*. Available at: <u>https://trid.trb.org/view/1393683</u>

McCarthy, J.; Bradburn, J.; Williams, D.; Pieckocki, R. & Hermans, K. (2015) *Connected & Autonomous Vehicles. Introducing the Future of Mobility.* Atkins. Available at: http://www.atkinsglobal.com/~/media/Files/A/Atkins-Corporate/uk-and-europe/uk-thought-leadership/reports/CAV_A4_080216.pdf [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

McDonald, S. S. (2011) Creating fully sustainable walkable communities with PRT (Personal Rapid Transit). In: Al-Qadi, I. & Murrell, S. (ed.) (2011) *T&DI Congress 2011: Integrated Transportation and Development for a Better Tomorrow. Proceedings of the 1st Congress of the Transportation and Development Institute of ASCE, Chicago, IL, USA, 13-16 March 2011.* ASCE. pp. 1056-1065.

McKinsey. (2015) Competing for the connected customer – perspectives on the opportunities created by car connectivity and automation. McKinsey&Company. Available at: http://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/industries/automotive%20and%20assembly/ou r%20insights/how%20carmakers%20can%20compete%20for%20the%20connected%20cons umer/competing_for_the_connected_customer.ashx. [Accessed 1st November 2016].Merat, N. & Lee, J. D. (2012a) Preface to the special section on human factors and automation in vehicles: Designing highly automated vehicles with the driver in mind. *Human Factors*. 54(5), pp. 681-686.

Merat, N.; Jamson, A. H.; Lai F. C. & Carsten, O. (2012b) Highly automated driving, secondary task performance, and driver state. *Human Factors*. 54(5), pp. 762-771.

Merat, N. & de Waard, D. (2014a) Human factors implications of vehicle automation: Current understanding and future directions. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour.* 27(B), pp. 193-195.

Merat, N.; Jamson, A. H.; Lai, F. C. H.; Daly M. & Carsten, O. M. J. (2014b) Transition to manual: Driver behaviour when resuming control from a highly automated vehicle. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*. 27(B), pp. 274-282.

Morris, E. A. & Guerra, E. (2015) Mood and mode: does how we travel affect how we feel? *Transportation*. 42(25), pp. 25-43.

Neubauer, C.; Matthews, G.; Langheim, L. & Saxby D. (2012) Fatigue and voluntary utilization of automation in simulated driving. *Human Factors*. 54(5), pp. 734-746.

Nordhoff, S.; van Arem, B. & Happee, R. (2016) A Conceptual Model to Explain, Predict, and Improve User Acceptance of Driverless Vehicles. In: *Transportation Research Board* 95th Annual Meeting Compendium of Papers, Washington DC, USA, 10-14 January 2016. Available at http://docs.trb.org/prp/16-5526.pdf [Accessed 6th November 2016].

Owczarzak, Ł. & Zak, J. (2015) Design of passenger public transportation solutions based on autonomous vehicles and their multiple criteria comparison with traditional forms of passenger transportation. *Transportation Research Procedia*. 10, pp. 472-482. Available at: http://ac.els-cdn.com/S235214651500188X/1-s2.0-S235214651500188X-main.pdf?_tid=d96e272e-a1a1-11e6-9ed1-00000aab0f01&acdnat=1478162899_a869661c5968ea07312b1f49e4d8a846 [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Parkin, J.; Clark, B.; Clayton, W.; Ricci, M. & Parkhurst, G. (2016) Understanding interactions between autonomous vehicles and other road users: A Literature Review. University of the West of England, Bristol. Available at: http://eprints.uwe.ac.uk/29153/1/UWE%20autonomous%20vehicle%20interactions%20litera ture%20review%20June%202016.pdf [Accessed 5th November 2016].

Pendleton, S.; Chong, Z. J.; Qin, B.; Liu, W.; Uthaicharoenpong, T.; Shen, X.; Fu, G. M. J.; Scarnecchia, M.; Kim, S. W.; Ang, M. H., Jr. & Frazzoli, E. (2014) Multi-class driverless vehicle cooperation for mobility-on-demand. In: *21st World Congress on Intelligent Transport Systems - Reinventing Transportation in Our Connected World, Detroit, MI, USA, 7-11 September 2014*.

Rezvani, Z.; Jannson, J. & Bodin, J. (2015) Advances in consumer electric vehicle adoption research: A review and research agenda. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment.* 34, pp. 122-136.

Riaz, F.; Asif, R.; Sajid, H. & Niazi, M. A. (2015) Augmenting Autonomous Vehicular Communication Using the Appreciation Emotion: A Mamdani Fuzzy Inference System Model. In: *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Frontiers of Information Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan, 14-16 December 2015.*

Riener A. (2014). Who cares about trust, grade of traveling & quality of user experience in a world of autonomous cars?. In: *AutomotiveUI '14 Adjunct Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications, Seattle, WA, USA, 17-19 September 2014.*

Rigby, C.; Harkness, V. & Marshall, B. (2015) *Connected Drivers. A public attitude survey*. RAC Foundation. Available at: <u>http://www.racfoundation.org/assets/rac_foundation/content/downloadables/Ipsos_MORI_Connected_Drivers_attitude_survey_final.pdf</u>[Accessed 3rd November 2016]. Sandberg, A. & Bradshaw-Martin, H. (2015) Autonomous cars and their moral implications. *Multitudes*. 58, pp. 62-68.

Sanders McDonald, S. (2010) Three new forms of movement that encourage walkable urban designs. In: *51st Annual Transportation Research Forum Conference Proceedings, Arlington, VA, USA, 11-13 March 2010*. Available at: http://www.trforum.org/forum/downloads/2010_187_Walkable_Urban_Designs.pdf [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Schoettle, B. & Sivak, M. (2014) *A Survey of Public Opinion about Autonomous and Self-Driving Vehicles in the U.S., the U.K., and Australia.* University of Michigan, Transportation Research Institute. Available at: <u>https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/108384/103024.pdf?sequence=1&is</u> <u>Allowed=y [Accessed 3rd November 2016].</u>

Schoettle, B. & Sivak, M. (2015) *Potential Impact of self-driving vehicles on household vehicle demand and usage*. University of Michigan, Transportation Research Institute. Available at: <u>https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/110789/103157.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Schoettle, B. & Sivak, M. (2016) *Motorists' Preferences for Different Levels of Vehicle Automation*. University of Michigan, Transportation Research Institute. Available at: <u>https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/114386/103217.pdf?sequence=1&is</u> <u>Allowed=y</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Schwanen, T. (2016) Rethinking resilience as capacity to endure: Automobility and the city. *City*. 20(1), pp. 152-160.

ScienceWise. (2015) *Automated vehicles: what the public thinks*. Sciencewise. Available at: <u>http://www.sciencewise-erc.org.uk/cms/assets/Uploads/Automated-vehicles-what-the-public-thinksNov-15.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Shen, S. & Neyens, D. M. (2014) Assessing drivers' performance when automated driver support systems fail with different levels of automation. In: *Proceedings of the 58th International Annual Meeting of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, Chicago, IL, USA, 27-31 October 2014.*

Smiley, A. & Brookhuis, K. A. (1987) Alcohol, drugs, and traffic safety. In Rothengatter, J. A. & de Bruin, R. A. (ed.) (1987) *Road Users and Traffic Safety*. Assen, Van Gorcum. pp. 83-105.

Smith, B. W. (2012) Managing Autonomous Transportation Demand. *Santa Clara Law Review*. 52(4), pp. 1401-1422. Available at: <u>http://digitalcommons.law.scu.edu/cgi/masouviewcontent.cgi?article=2733&context=lawrevi</u> <u>ew</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Spieser, K.; Treleaven, K.; Zhang, R.; Frazzoli, E.; Morton, D.; Pavone, M. (2014) Toward a Systematic Approach to the Design and Evaluation of Automated Mobility-on-Demand Systems: A Case Study in Singapore. In: Meyer, G. & Beiker, S. (ed.) (2014) *Road Vehicle Automation*. Springer International Publishing. pp. 229-245. Available at: https://dspace.mit.edu/openaccess-disseminate/1721.1/82904 [Accessed 5th November 2016]. The Economist. (2016) The driverless, car-sharing road ahead. *The Economist*. January 9th, 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.economist.com/news/business/21685459-carmakers-increasingly-fret-their-industry-brink-huge-disruption</u> [Accessed 2nd November 2016].

The Netherlands EU Presidency. (2016) *Declaration of Amsterdam. Cooperation in the field of connected and automated vehicles.* Available at: <u>https://english.eu2016.nl/binaries/eu2016-en/documents/publications/2016/04/14/declaration-of-amsterdam/2016-04-08-declaration-of-amsterdam-final-format-3.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Thomopoulos, N. & Givoni, M. (2015) The autonomous car--a blessing or a curse for the future of low carbon mobility? An exploration of likely vs. desirable outcomes. *European Journal of Futures Research*. 3(14). Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40309-015-0071-z [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Ticoll, D. (2015) *Driving Changes: Automated Vehicles in Toronto. Discussion Paper*. University of Toronto Transportation Research Institute. Available at: <u>http://uttri.utoronto.ca/files/2016/04/Driving-Changes-Automated-Vehicles-in-Toronto.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Verberne, F. M. F.; Ham, J. & Midden, C. J. H. (2012) Trust in smart systems: Sharing driving goals and giving information to increase trustworthiness and acceptability of smart systems in cars. *Human Factors*. 54(5), pp. 799-810.

Verberne, F. M. F.; Ham, J. & Midden, C. J. H. (2015) Trusting a virtual driver that looks, acts, and thinks like you. *Human Factors*. 57(5), pp. 895-909.

Wadud, Z.; MacKenzie, D. & Leiby, P. (2016) Help or hindrance? The travel, energy and carbon impact of highly automated vehicles. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*. 86, pp. 1-18.

Wagner, J.; Baker, T.; Goodin, G. & Maddox, J. (2014) *Automated vehicles: policy implications scoping study*. Texas A&M Transportation Institute. Available at: <u>http://static.tti.tamu.edu/swutc.tamu.edu/publications/technicalreports/600451-00029-1.pdf</u> [Accessed 3rd November 2016].

Waytz, A.; Heafner, J. & Epley, N. (2014) The mind in the machine: anthropomorphism increases trust in an autonomous vehicle. *Journal of experimental social psychology*. 52, pp. 113-117.

Wells, P. & Xenias, D. (2015) From 'freedom of the open road' to 'cocooning': Understanding resistance to change in personal private automobility. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*. 16, pp. 106-119.

Wockatz, P. & Schartau, P. (2015) *Traveller needs and UK capability study*. Transport Systems Catapult. Available at: <u>https://ts.catapult.org.uk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2016/04/Traveller-Needs-Study.pdf [Accessed 6th November 2016].

Wolmar, C. (2016) Transport's favourite myth: Why we will never own driverless cars. *New Statesman*. April 10th, 2016. Available at:

http://www.newstatesman.com/culture/observations/2016/04/transports-favourite-myth-whywe-will-never-own-driverless-cars [Accessed 3rd November 2016]. Yap, M. D.; Correia, G. & van Arem, B. (2015) Valuation of travel attributes for using automated vehicles as egress transport of multimodal train trips. *Transportation Research Procedia*. 10, pp. 462-471.

Young, K. L. & Rudin-Brown, C. M. (2014) Designing automotive technology for crosscultural acceptance. In: Regan, M. A.; Horberry, T. & Stevens, A. (ed.) (2014) *Driver Acceptance of New Technology: Theory, Measurement and Optimisation*. CRC Press, Routledge. pp. 317-331.

Zhang, R. & Pavone, M. (2016) Control of robotic mobility-on-demand systems: A queueing-theoretical perspective. *International Journal of Robotics Research*. 35(1-3), pp. 186-203.

Zhang, W.; Guhathakurta, S.; Fang, J. & Zhang, G. (2015) Exploring the impact of shared autonomous vehicles on urban parking demand: An agent-based simulation approach. *Sustainable Cities and Society*. 19, pp. 34-45.

Zhao, J.; Zhao, R.; Wang, G. & Zhang, X. (2013) Analysis of fuel economy of autonomous vehicle platoon. In: Peng, Q. & Wang, K. C. P. (ed.) (2013) *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Transportation Engineering, Chengdu, China, 19-20 October* 2016. ASCE. pp. 980-986.

Zheng, R.; Yamabe, S.; Nakano, K. & Suda, Y. (2015) Biosignal analysis to assess mental stress in automatic driving of trucks: Palmar perspiration and masseter electromyography. *Sensors*. 15(3), pp. 5136-5150. Available at <u>http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/15/3/5136/htm</u> [Accessed 6th November 2016].

Annex F - Glossary

Glossary

ADAS: Advanced Driver Assistance Systems

ADAS are technological systems within vehicles that support the driver in the driving task. ADAS aim to improve safety and driving experience. For instance, automated braking can help the driver to avoid or reduce the severity of a collision.

Human factors

Human factors in automation relate to understanding the interaction(s) of humans with all aspects of an automated road transport system (according to the International Transport Forum).

'Liveable city'

In the context of this literature review the term 'liveable city' refers to the liveability index developed by the Economist. Reference can be found following this link:

http://www.eiu.com/public/thankyou_download.aspx?activity=download&campaignid=Liveability2016 OEMs: Automotive Original Equipment Manufacturers

In this report the acronym OEM mainly refers to large car manufacturers.

Platooning

In the context of this literature review the term 'platooning' refers to AVs following one another closely on the road.

PRT: Personal Rapid Transit

In this report the acronym PRT refers to existing or future public or privately owned small automated vehicles providing on-demand transport, such as the Heathrow pods, serving one client/user at a time.

SAVs: Shared Automated Vehicles

In this report the term shared automated vehicles refers to automated vehicles (of all forms and shapes) shared by multiple users either simultaneously or at different times.

VKT: Vehicle Kilometer Travelled

VKT is a measure of the distance travelled in kilometres by (motorised) vehicles

VMT: Vehicle Miles Travelled

VMT is a measure of the distance travelled in miles by (motorised) vehicles

V2V: Vehicle to Vehicle communication

V2V refers to wireless systems within automobiles that allow vehicles to communicate with each other

V2I: Vehicle to roadside infrastructure communication

V2I refers to wireless systems within automobiles and fixed infrastructure that allow vehicles to communicate with other infrastructure, such as highway infrastructure.